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The ongoing Heartland 2050 planning initiative reflects
a three-fold strategy for a regional vision: (1) human
capital, (2) natural capital and (3) built capital.

Critical considerations in the planning process
necessarily include human capital considerations such as
supporting quality education, workforce development,
economic diversity and effective governance.

The Heartland 2050 process will result in regional
strategies that support and enhance existing
neighborhoods. It also will focus future efforts on
support of a more efficient development pattern that
more closely integrates growth with the most cost-
effective deployment of existing and new public services
and infrastructure over time.

Competing for jobs and talent

Natural capital considerations (
include protecting natural resources
and ensuring appropriate access to
these resources as an enhancement
to regional quality of life.

Ensuring multi-modal
mobility is a critical element successful of which offer significant
to regional success and also quality of life amenities — requires
can contribute significantly

to quality of life.

with other regions — the most

the proactive and comprehensive
planning that will result from
) Heartland Connections and

When considering built capital, -
strategies for planned growth and
responsible development patterns are paramount.
Successful planning for the future will necessitate

close coordination of land use, transportation and
infrastructure policies. Ensuring multi-modal mobility
is a critical element to regional success and also can
contribute significantly to quality of life through
“placemaking” - the attention to urban design of

the public realm. Public investment decisions have

a significant impact on resulting urban form and can

be utilized to support efficient development patterns
(contiguous, infill-oriented and multi-modal) or
inefficient development patterns (scattered, greenfield-
oriented and auto-dependent).

Several factors are contributing to a new emphasis on
planning for future public transit investment in the
Omaha region. Both nationally and regionally, the
need to focus resources and to improve transportation
choices is becoming more widely recognized.

Nationally: The “Interagency Partnership for
Sustainable Communities” was announced on June

16, 2009 by the U.S. Departments of Transportation
(DOT), Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and the
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). This newly
formed partnership utilizes six (6) “livability principles”

2 - http://www.dot.gov/affairs/2009/dot8009.htm
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Heartland 2050 initiatives. Today’s
sought-after “knowledge” industries and workers
desire a high quality of life, which includes mobility
options in addition to housing options, a vibrant and
attractive public environment and access to cultural and
recreational resources.

Heartland Connections has developed viable strategies
related to public transportation, seeking to extend the
reach of the “pedestrian mode” by making mobility
without an automobile a viable option in key locations.
Along priority corridors, it fosters a truly multi-modal
environment that provides mobility via transit, bicycles
and walking.

as the agencies seek to coordinate federal investments
in transportation, environmental protection and
housing.

The most relevant of these livability principles to
transportation planning efforts in the Omaha region
is the first. The Partnership seeks to “develop safe,

reliable and economical transportation choices to The Steering Committee included a wide range of city,
decrease household transportation costs, reduce our county, and state officials as well as members of the
nation’s dependence on foreign oil, improve air quality, business and nonprofit communities, including the
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and promote public following:
health.”? Federal funding priorities are anticipated ® MAPA;
® Metro;
] I 3

to shift to modes of transportation that not only
promote mobility, but do so in a manner that leverages
transportation investment to fulfill broader and multi-
faceted goals. Public transit is expected to become a
vital component of any future federal transportation
strategy.

Regionally: The increasing daily aggravation of peak
hour traffic congestion negatively impacts residents’
quality of life and could affect business location and
expansion decisions. Offering viable alternatives to
commuting by car is considered to be important to
attracting and retaining jobs and workers in the Omaha
region, especially as it relates to “new economy” or
“knowledge” jobs and workers that are geographically
flexible. Investment in public transit will benefit both
those who use it for their work trips and those who
must still travel the region’s roadways to access their
jobs.

The participation of local stakeholders from the Omaha
region have and will provide invaluable insight during
the Heartland Connections process, establishing
priorities and assessing potential implementation
strategies as future transit service scenarios are
developed and analyzed. Stakeholders representing the
five counties and municipalities in MAPA's service area
have provided feedback on the following key questions,
ensuring that proposed solutions are as responsive as
possible to local concerns and priorities:

1.3.1 Steering Commiittee

A steering committee has been selected for dedicated
involvement through the Heartland Connections
process, based on a proven record of community
involvement, transit interest and the ability to deploy
the members and communication networks of the
organizations they represent on behalf of transit.
Following is a summary of the Steering Committee
meetings held throughout the study process.

An aging population in the Omaha region, as in most
other areas of the country, suggests a long-term need
to provide viable mobility options not only for standard
work trips, but also for non-work trips and during non-
peak periods. Offering public transit to and between
medical facilities, commercial areas and other key
destinations will support both the quality of life of

the senior population and the increasing needs of the
transit-dependent.

Locally: The structure of the Omaha area lends

itself well to the creation of a transit network, due to
downtown’s role as an employment center and the
confluence of significant regional destinations arrayed
along the Dodge Street corridor and other corridors
extending from downtown. These physical features of
the study area will be discussed and analyzed in more
detail in later sections of this report.

® What s your vision for transportation in the Omaha
metro region?

® What is the appropriate role of transit in the region,
from both a regional and local perspective?

How should the regional transit vision be funded?

How should a regional transit system be managed
and administered?

® Planning officials from Sarpy County and from the
cities of Bellevue, La Vista, Omaha and Papillion;

® Engineers and public works officials from Sarpy
County and from the cities of Council Bluffs and
Omaha;

® District engineer from the Nebraska Department of
Roads;

The Douglas County Health Department;
The Greater Omaha Chamber;

American Medical Response/Access2Care;

Omaha Downtown Improvement District
Association; and

® The Empowerment Network

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



Feedback generated in each meeting, both from
committee members and related to the group through
the outreach process, was used to further refine and
direct the study approach.

® Kickoff Meeting (September 2012): The purpose
of this introductory meeting was to introduce the
project team, the anticipated project time line and
fundamental project strategies such as: branding;
outreach; goals and objectives; peer regions to be
considered; funding options to be considered; and
data collection approach. Approximately 25 people
attended this meeting, including MAPA, Metro,
various municipalities and counties, and other key
stakeholders.

® Progress Meeting #1A (October 2012): This
meeting began with a review of the status
of early project tasks, including input from
the Steering Committee. The majority of the
meeting was devoted to the service analysis
and recommendations to be developed by
Transportation Management & Design, Inc.
(TMD). A comprehensive Strengths, Weaknesses
Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) analysis was
conducted with input from the committee. Topics
included the current standing of the Metro system,
opportunities for improvements and desired goals,
objectives and project outcomes.

® Progress Meeting #1 (February 2013): Early
study milestones were presented at this meeting,
including: peer region review; community outreach;
legislative framework review; land use assessment;
Metro operations analysis; service planning and

1.3.2 Community Leadership

Elected officials and other community leaders have
served as “ambassadors” for the transit vision to the
broader community as the Heartland Connections
process progresses. During the process, the team
provided community leaders with study information
so that they could respond to plan-related constituent
guestions or concerns and plan progress. These
leaders have been engaged in both formal and informal
opportunities to provide personal or constituent input
about the plan and specific issues. They also have
assisted in creating a fact-based foundation from
which to make decisions affecting future regional
improvement funding and timely implementation.

______________________________________________________________________________________|
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financial assumptions. Candidate projects to be
included in future service planning scenarios were
then defined.

® Progress Meeting #2 (June 2013): This all-day
meeting contained an extensive and detailed
discussion of the findings to date, including the
completed operations analysis presented by
TMD; legislative review; land use assessment;
and community outreach. Following that, the
team presented the entire scenario development
process, including the financial model, funding
options, candidate projects, financial assumptions
and the six Preliminary Transit Investment
Scenarios evaluated. Steering Committee members
participated in breakout sessions, discussing the
scenarios and providing feedback. That feedback
was used in developing the Refined Scenarios.

® Progress Meeting #3 (July 2013): The primary
purpose of this meeting was to present the three
Refined Transit Investment Scenarios, as well as a
discussion of governance options for any proposed
new regional transit authority.

® Progress Meeting #4 (August 2013): The primary
purpose of this meeting was to review the
preliminary findings of the Central Omaha Transit
Alternatives Analysis, to present the two Transit
Vision Scenarios, and to discuss comments on
the draft report. The recommended governance
structure was presented, along with a series of
implementation steps to realizing the regional
transit vision.

Community leaders engaged in the study included the
following:

® Mayors of the cities of Omaha, Council Bluffs and
Bellevue;

® Elected County Board Members representing
Douglas, Mills, Sarpy and Pottawattamie counties;

® Planning officials from the cities of Omaha, Council
Bluffs and Douglas County;

® Public works officials from the cities of Bellevue,
Council Bluffs and Omaha;

Administrators from Douglas and Sarpy counties;

District Engineer, Nebraska Department of Roads;

® The Greater Omaha Chamber and the Council Bluffs

Chamber; and

Encourage younger residents to settle and raise
families in the Omaha region with transit systems
that respond to changing regional

® The Empowerment Network. ~

Initial individual and small group
meetings with community leaders
were held in November 2012. These
meetings provided the opportunity
for community leaders to share early
insights with the consulting team.
Topics of these informal discussions
included general and transportation |

Community leaders have
assisted in creating a
fact-based foundation
from which to make
decisions affecting future °
regional funding and
implementation.

demographics and activity centers.

® Ensure mobility options for an
increasing senior population and
provide mobility choices.

Educate decision makers,
potential funders and the general
public about the broader wellness
) and quality of life benefits

issues, market and development

trends, funding options and financial strategies. Policy
recommendations were provided related to system
design, building community support, governance and
finance. Recurring themes that emerged from the
discussions included:

System Design

® Focus on incremental system growth, with a
combination of “leading” demand in the core area
inside 1-680 (encouraging and supporting density)
and “following” demand in outlying areas (focusing
on key existing and emerging “nodes” of higher
density).

® C(Create “early wins” (readily implementable short-
term projects), which are needed to make transit
more visible and demonstrate its benefits to a
broader potential passenger market (“choice”
riders).

® Develop a tiered transit system with a hierarchy of
vehicle and service types, with higher frequency
services on key corridors inside 1-680.

® Encourage “choice” riders with passenger
conveniences and service reliability.

® Broaden the constituency of support for transit and
maximize its positive impact by linking transit to
non-motorized mobility improvements such as trail
development.

Community Outreach / Governance

® Provide the personal freedom to choose a
neighborhood and lifestyle that best suits each
individual, while boosting overall transportation
system efficiency with transit improvements.

of providing transit (those
beyond congestion relief and
environmental benefits).

Financial

Establish at least a three-county “vision” with
the potential for initial phases serving a smaller
geographic footprint.

Tie transit system enhancement to infill
development, allowing for more cost-efficient
provision of public services over time.

Seek innovative methods of funding, including
seeking philanthropic support for capital needs
where feasible.

Minimize new spending and taxation in the initial
phase and be able to clearly demonstrate the cost
efficiency improvements for both existing and
expanded transit spending.

Match taxes and/or fees incurred to services being
offered, ensuring an equitable distribution of cost
relative to benefits experienced geographically (by
riders and non-riders alike).

Create a “mobility authority” that plans, funds
and/or operates transit and other mobility
improvements (roadways, trails) in a coordinated
manner.
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1.4 Planning Process and Plan Elements

Guided by the Steering Committee, the Heartland Connections planning process serves as a precursor to the broader
Heartland 2050 regional planning initiative. The process is broadly comprised of the following (as documented in

subsequent chapters):

® A detailed description of the existing public
transportation network, supplemented by analyses
of fixed-route operations, paratransit operations and
Title VI impacts.

® Asummary of recent and ongoing plans throughout
the region as they relate to transit planning
efforts and a summary of potentially applicable
implementation strategies and best practices.

® A compendium of transit-supportive land use policies
in use or being considered by local municipalities and
recommendations for improving the linkage between
land use planning and transit planning efforts.

® Aninventory of current practices in selected peer
regions that represent a range of approaches to
transit implementation and governance, to inform

recommendations regarding funding, operations and
administration.

A consensus-based transit “vision,” supplemented
with guiding goals and objectives.

Documentation of candidate projects, assessment
and prioritization of these projects and several transit
“scenarios” that combine the projects in differing
ways to achieve the vision.

Assessment and refinement of the transit scenarios
utilizing a customized and integrated service planning
financial model, resulting in a preferred transit vision
scenario for implementation.

A detailed discussion of implementation, including
key initiatives and supporting policies, funding
sources, governance strategies and procedures for
ongoing refinement.

The study area for Heartland Connections Regional Transit Vision as depicted in Figure 1.1, encompasses the following
eight counties, including both incorporated and unincorporated areas in each county:

® Nebraska counties: Cass, Douglas, Sarpy, Saunders and Washington

® |owa counties: Harrison, Mills and Pottawattamie

® The study area is also coterminous with the boundaries of the Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area, as defined
by the Office of Management and Budget and the U.S. Census Bureau.

Figure 1.1: Study Area Map

www.heartland2050.org/connections

The analysis and evaluation of the existing transit
system (known as “Metro”) described in this section
sets the stage for identifying opportunities for near-
term efficiency and long-term service improvements as
part of the transit vision scenarios to follow. Additional
elements that will inform the scenarios, as also

described in this section, include: an understanding

of recent and ongoing planning efforts in the region;
industry-wide best practices; transit-supportive land
use opportunities; and an assessment of transit system
performance and governance approaches in peer
regions across the country.

2.1 The Existing Public Transit Network

A detailed evaluation of existing Metro services has
been prepared by Transportation Management &
Design, Inc. (TMD), including a description of existing
services and trends and is available in its entirety in
Appendix D.3 An overview summary of Metro’s current
network and recent initiatives, follows.

Metro is the largest transit agency in the state of
Nebraska, with a service area covering three counties
(Sarpy and Douglas, Nebraska and Pottawattamie,
lowa). According to the 2011 National Transit Database,

Figure 2.1: Metro System Map

Source: Metro

the Metro service area includes approximately 580,000
people. Metro directly operates service within the
Omaha city limits and provides service to Bellevue,
Council Bluffs and the Tri-cities area of Ralston, Papillion
and La Vista through a private contract with each city.
Metro’s fixed route fleet utilizes a maximum of 122
buses. In 2012, Metro operated about 285,000 annual
vehicle revenue hours and over 3,900,000 annual
vehicle revenue miles. As depicted in Figure 2.1, bus
service is operated on 34 routes: 25 local routes, two
downtown circulators and seven express routes. In
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2012, Metro’s fixed route service recorded 4,225,034
boardings, a six percent increase from the prior year.

The Metro transit network still largely follows the
historic routes that date from when more compact
urban development was prevalent, with dispersed
routing later expanding to serve more auto-centric,
suburban communities. In 2005, the City of Omaha
annexed the City of Elkhorn, where increased suburban

Table 2.1: Existing Metro Services

expansion has taken place. It is challenging to provide
efficient transit service in areas with low population
densities and few pedestrian amenities, as the
operations analysis to follow will discuss.

Metro operates local bus services seven days a week
and express service weekdays. Table 2.1 provides an
overview of Metro’s existing services. Weekday service
is provided from 4 a.m. to 12 a.m. Metro weekday

www.heartland2050.org/connections

service frequencies range from 15 minutes to 90
minutes. During the peak period, two routes (Route 2
and Route 18) operate every 15 minutes, with the other
routes operating every 30, 45, or 60 minutes. In the
off-peak, most routes operate every 30 or 60 minutes.
Weekend service provided from 6 a.m. to 10 p.m.

The highest frequency routes are Route 2 serving
the Dodge Street corridor and Route 18 connecting

Table 2.1: Existing Metro Services

Saturday

northern Omaha to downtown and Crossroads mall
along Ames Avenue, Florence/20th Street and 72nd
Street.

Metro’s overall daily ridership in October 2012
averaged:*

® Weekdays — 16,193 boardings;
® Saturdays — 5,832 boardings; and
® Sundays — 2,631 boardings.

Frequency Frequency Frequency | Interlined
0 0 Span Peak/Off Peak Interlined Route Name Span AllDay | Interlined Span All Day
2 | Dodge 5:05 AM 11:47 PM 15/20 2 | Dodge 5:58 AM | 10:14 PM 30 6:58 AM | 7:02 PM 30
3 | North 40th / South 42nd 4:57 AM 10:45 PM 30/60 25 3 | North 40th / South 42nd 6:18AM [ 9:52 PM 60 25 8:04AM [ 6:52PM 60 25
4 | Maple / Fort 2:40 AM 10:26 PM 30/60 14,22 4 | Maple / Fort 6:24 AM | 10:19 PM 75 22 6:08 AM | 6:04 PM 90
5 | North 90th / South 96th 5:08 AM 7:01 PM 30/60 5 [ North 90th / South 96th | 5:52AM | 8:04PM 90
7 | south 16th / 24th 4:40 AM 11:46 PM 30/30 7 | South 16th / 24th 6:23 AM | 10:15 PM 45 6:53AM | 7:01PM 45
8 | North 60th / West Blondo 505 AM 10:38 PM 30/60 8 | North 60th / West Blondo | 5:56 AM | 10:39 PM 60 6:56 AM [ 7:09 PM 60
9 | south 20th / Vet’s Loop 5:09 AM 6:15 PM 60/60 9 | South 20th / Vet’s Loop 7:07AM | 6:33PM 120 32 8:15AM | 5:13PM 120 32
14 | N eavenmeri 515 AM 11:05 PM 30/30 11 | Leavenworth | 7:19AM | 10:07 PM 45 6:47 AM | 6:40 PM 90
13 | Beltway South 4:57 AM 11:42 PM 30/30 18 13 | Beltway South 6:39 AM | 10:13 PM 60 18 7:10 AM 5:48 PM 90
14 | Maple / Fort 4:01 AM 11:42 PM 30/60 4 14 | Maple / Fort |
15 | West Center / Q Street 5:15 AM 11:38 PM 60/60 30 15 | West Center / Q Street 5:58 AM | 10:46 PM 30 30 6:58 AM 7:01 PM 60 30
16 | East Omaha / North 16th 5:38 AM 6:50 PM 45/NS 16 | East Omaha / North 16th |
18 | Beltway North 4:22 AM 11:37 PM 15/30 13 18 | Beltway North 6:39 AM | 10:19 PM 60 13 6:23 AM 6:31 PM 60
22 | West Dodge Circulator 5:35 AM 6:32 PM 30/60 4 22 | West Dodge Circulator | 715am | 5:57pMm 75 4
24 | 24th Street 4:38 AM 10:39 PM 30/30 35 24 | 24th Street 6:28 AM 9:08 PM 60 35 6:58 AM 5:29 PM 60 35
25 | Bedford / Hartman Loop 5.08 AM 11:19 PM 60/60 3,24, 35 25 | Bedford / Hartman Loop | 6:29AM | 9:48PM 120 3,24,35 9:45AM | 6:19 PM 120 3
26 | North Omaha Circulator 5:08 AM 11:20 PM 60/60 24, 35 26 | North Omaha Circulator 6:28 AM 9:51 PM 90 24,35 5:58 AM 6:07 PM 90
30 | Florence 4:26 AM 11:23 PM 30/30 15, 55 30 | Florence | 5:57 AM | 10:00 PM 30 15, 55 6:58 AM | 6:05PM 60 15
32 | Gover / Vinton 4:40 AM 6:47 AM 30/60 32 | Gover / Vinton 6:25AM | 5:57PM 120 9 7:10AM | 6:15PM 120 9
34 | Industrial Parks 5:38 AM 4:35 PM One Trip 93,96 34 | Industrial Parks |
35 | North 33rd 5.08 AM 10:45 PM 30/30 24,25, 26 35 | North 33rd 6:59AM | 9:15PM 60 24,26 6:28AM | 6:12PM 60 24
41 | Council Bluffs - Blue 6:35 AM 11:40 PM 60/60 41 | Council Bluffs - Blue |
43 | Council Bluffs - Yellow 5:02 AM 7:30 PM 45/60 43 | Council Bluffs - Yellow 6:30AM | 9:02PM 90
55 | West Center / Q Street 5:11 AM 7:56 PM 60/60 30 55 | West Center / Q Street 6:23AM | 7:14PM 30 30
200 | Green Downtown Circulator 5:30 AM 7:30 PM 5/NS 200 | Green Downtown Circulator
300 | Red Downtown Circulator 6:30 AM 5:45 PM 5/NS 300 | Red Downtown Circulator
92 | Dodge Express 5:10 AM 7:20 PM 30/NS 92 | Dodge Express
93 | Tri-Communities Express 6:05 AM 6:17 PM 30/NS 34 93 | Tri-Communities Express
94 | West Center Express 5:49 AM 6:28 PM 30/NS 94 | West Center Express
95 | Bellevue Express 4:13 AM 7:47 PM 15/NS 95 | Bellevue Express
96 | Express 5:56 AM 6:24 PM 30/NS 34 96 | Express
97 | Millard Express 5:34 AM 6:27 PM 15/NS 97 | Millard Express
98 | Maple Village Express 5:52 AM 6:39 PM 15/NS 98 | Maple Village Express
m 4 - October 2012 represented the most recent month without significant holidays or vacation periods.
C_____________________________________________________________(-c&9 ________________________________________| I ()
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As detailed further in TMD’s report, midday ridership
makes up a significant portion of weekday boardings,
nearly matching the combined ridership of both peak
periods, suggesting an opportunity for higher all-day

service levels.

The geographic patterns of existing ridership provide
insight into system functionality and customer use of
transit service. As one of the strongest indicators of

transit success, drawing conclusions from patterns of
existing ridership provides a key input into route and
network rethinking. Geographic analysis of origin-

destination (O-D) points and high-volume linked transit

trip pairs suggest the importance of key corridors,

downtown Omaha, college destinations and the existing
use of park-and-ride facilities for express service access.
Examples of both strong corridor-based travel and point-

A fixed-route operations analysis, also prepared by TMD,

included a market assessment and needs analysis, an

evaluation of existing services, development of service

standards and a network evolution plan. Key findings
follow.

2.2.1 Market Assessment and Needs

Analysis

The market assessment and needs analysis examined

opportunities, challenges and existing market conditions

for transit within the Omaha region and is available in
its entirety in Appendix D.°> Enhanced understanding

of the context in which Metro provides transit services

to-point travel to major destinations exist within the
Omaha service area, including:

® Downtown to Crossroads via Dodge Street;

® Metro Community College North Omaha Campus
to Metro Community College South Omaha Campus
via 24th Street;

® North Omaha Transit Center to Bergan Mercy via
Ames and 72nd Street;

® Downtown to Metro Community College Omaha
South Campus via 13th Street;

® Maple Street between 40th Street and 72nd Street;

Center Street between 42nd Street and 72nd Street;
and

® Farnam and Harney between 13th Street and 42nd
Street.

transit ridership and reviews growth projections for
the Metro Area.

® Rider Profile: Defines characteristics and
demographics of Metro’s current customers.

® Travel Patterns: Analyzes the region’s overall travel
patterns, compares them with Metro’s ridership
patterns and identifies major travel demand
patterns.

® Key Destinations: Defines the region’s key
generators of travel (employment, education, retail,
commercial, medical, tourist, etc.) and suggests how
transit can best serve these markets.

® Future Development: Outlines future

provided insight into existing transit performance ) . ® Current transit customers are both very loyal and
. . developments expected in the Omaha region and -

and the opportunity to make available market- - ) ) tend to depend on Metro for mobility.
matched services and identify valuable opportunities the ability of transit to effectively serve them.
for increasing system ridership. The market analysis Offers suggestions on how transit planning may ® Surveyed riders have noted that Metro can better

_ S ) ) . be more closely linked with the planning and improve transit by increasing service on weekends,
provided detailed insight in the following areas: ) )

implementation of these developments.

® Metro Service Area: Defines where Metro operates

and the service levels provided. Metro Service Area
® Market Area Profile: Identifies the community ® Much of Omaha’s service area can be defined by

population, demographics and employment low population and employment densities spread

patterns in the Metro service area and greater over a wide geographic area. These conditions

Omaha region, while highlighting areas with typically prove to not be conducive to public transit

characteristics that generate a propensity for high operations.
5 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Market Assessment and Needs Analysis, prepared by TMD, Inc., January 2013.
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Current routing is stretched throughout the region,
reaching to areas that are not transit oriented and
currently serving locations of low density.

Market Area Profile

Discontinuous development patterns in auto-centric
areas prove a challenging environment for Metro to
provide cost-effective transit service.

Current concentrated pockets of density that exist
in outlying regions, which are typically auto-centric
suburban communities, are unlikely to sustain all-
day or all-week transit service.

4 )
The strongest market

opportunities for productive
transit service exist in the
core region of Omaha:
downtown and the
surrounding neighborhoods

g J

Employment in the region generally is organized
along linear commercial corridors conducive to
transit operations but with an auto-centric structure
(low cost or free parking and low pedestrian
friendliness) challenging to effective transit services.

The strongest market opportunities for productive
transit service exist in the core region of Omaha in
both downtown and the immediately surrounding
neighborhoods.

Rider Profile

increasing service spans into the evening weekday
hours and raising weekday service frequency levels.

A majority of current surveyed transit riders either
have limited or no access to an automobile for use
in transportation. This dependency proves critical

for Metro to provide valuable connections to areas
throughout the Omaha region.

Travel Patterns

A large number of commuting trip segments are

still traveling to the downtown/midtown region, as
measured per acre, where the Dodge Street corridor
forms a key spine through the core of the transit
system.

Existing parking supply around the downtown/
midtown area caters to low-cost auto-centric
standards which inhibit current transit ridership
growth and suggest the need to create more
competitive transit products.

Key Destinations

Significant employment centers, in addition to the
downtown region, include the L Street and Dodge
Street Corridors.

Metro is currently serving all major employment,
tourist, educational, recreational and medical
facilities which enable sustained ridership on select
routes.

Future Development

Future population and employment expansion

is slated to press further westward to areas not
currently being served by Metro’s transit system.
Redevelopment and infill projects are also currently
being executed in areas north, south and west of
the downtown core taking advantage of the current
Metro transit system which supports sustainable
transit communities.
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limits the ability of transit service to provide a
viable, competitive mobility option. A path toward
potential riders. The plan considers adjustments in increasing the role of transit in Omaha’s mobility
stop spacing that better balance these competing involves restructuring transit service with a focus on
attributes. supporting the development of sustainable active-
mode oriented corridors, while balancing this focus
with provision of transit across a wide geographic

patronage are short waits and fast travel, with
short walks less important to most existing and

2.2.2 Evaluation of Existing Services

A detailed evaluation of existing Metro services is
available in its entirety in Appendix D.® The evaluation
provides the data-driven understanding of the transit
system’s fixed route performance and structure
necessary to inform subsequent policy and planning
discussions. Findings contributed to the development

® Many of Metro’s current routes are not productive.
In some cases, route or network restructuring
will significantly improve productivity. In other
cases, however, the market for transit is not strong
enough to generate high ridership regardless of
how transit service is operated. In these cases, it

Route Network Design

of service alternatives and recommendations through
analysis of existing service, including: ridership patterns;
productivity; and the financial effectiveness of the
system. Key findings and some general strategies for
improvement identified in this evaluation include:

Metro Ridership and Service Performance

® Overall, Metro’s routes are efficiently operated,

maximizing the time vehicles spend in revenue
service. Productivity has also increased over the
past decade, particularly following the 2012 service
reductions which focused primarily on Metro’s least
productive routes.

Metro’s weekday average productivity of 18
boardings per revenue hour is relatively low
compared to peer regions. This places additional
pressure on the agency to maintain the subsidy
levels upon which it depends. A limited number

of particularly well-performing routes have the
potential for further growth in productivity.
Increasing ridership on these well performing routes
and reducing or eliminating under-performing
routes, has the potential to improve overall service
performance. Increased productivity will reduce
the subsidy per passenger boarding and increase
farebox recovery, resulting improved long-term
financial stability and a sustainable future for Metro.

The top five producing individual routes generate
42 percent of total network ridership (Routes 2, 7,
13, 18, and 30). Four other routes that combine to
form two high-ridership “trunk” segments, Route
15/55 and Route 4/14, account for an additional

20 percent of total network ridership. Increasing
service frequency and reliability on these routes will
better serve more than half of the people who ride
Metro every day.

Metro’s other local routes and the overall
network structure would benefit from routing and
schedule changes in order to influence a positive
transformation in ridership.

is recommended that alternative mobility options
be considered that can be cost effectively provided,
or eliminating some under-performing routes or
segments.

Current analysis shows that 43 percent of riders
pay by cash. Transitioning these riders to a ticket-
based fare system has the potential to enhance
boarding times and route operating speed. More
importantly, changes to the network are likely to
place an increased emphasis on frequent, grid
service where customers are more likely to transfer
as the destination opportunities increase, making
tickets more attractive.

Service Quality

® Metro currently operates only two routes which

meet the minimum “spontaneous use” standard

of 15 minute frequency (Routes 2 and 18). Two
additional “trunk” segments served by more than
one route also have frequencies of 15 minutes or
better (Routes 15/55 and 4/14) The opportunity to
grow discretionary travel and attract new ‘transit
lifestyle’ customers will require frequent transit
service in a less downtown-oriented network.

Three of Metro’s top five routes in total ridership
(Route 2, 18 and 30) are also among the group of
productive routes noted above and two of these
lines (Routes 2 and 18) offer 15 minute service.
This is not unusual as most high ridership routes
are also highly productive if the service levels are
well matched to a strong corridor market. The
service provided is highly affected by the efficiency
of the service design and the scheduling. In this
area Metro has done well, although the Network
Evolution Plan presents new opportunities to
further improve efficient design and delivery, as it
will better match services to mobility markets.

Current stop spacing throughout Metro’s network
prioritizes short walk access over fast travel with
minimal delay. The top two attributes for attracting

® The existing transit network is a radial/crosstown
structure focused on downtown Omaha, augmented
by hub-and-spoke subarea elements. Locating
transit centers where market demand and service
levels transition is consistent with effective network
design, given the location and operation of facilities

area.

An element of building transit success will be the
identification, reinforcement and development of
corridors into network subareas where frequent
service can foster the emergence of active mode
lifestyle corridors. Building a

to minimize out-of-direction -
movement and deviations.

® Establishing a coordinated,
multi-tiered network approach
will increase network clarity
for the customer, allow staff to
better match service products

A frequent network
that supports reliable
and convenient route

connections is the
fundamental building block
of transit network success.

frequent and faster network that
carries a majority of system ridership
simplifies connections between
routes and will reduce the need

for close service coordination and
complicated operations. A frequent
network that supports reliable and

J

to the market demand present -

for transit across the service area and facilitate
clearer policy choices regarding the level of service
investment.

convenient route connections is
the fundamental building block of transit network
success.

Downtown Operations

® Service complexity presents a special barrier to
transit use for unique, spontaneous trips that
support additional system use beyond established,
reoccurring trips such as work or school commutes.
Creating an easy-to-understand network of transit
services which facilitates ease of trip-making across ®
a variety of trip purposes, presents competitive
travel times and provides direct and consistent
service will all help to increase ridership and transit
market share across a broader range of consumer °
demographics.

® An approach which spreads limited operating
resources thinly across a wide geographic area

2.2.3 Service Standards

A framework was developed for evaluating the

productivity and financial effectiveness of existing

services, as well as determining the need for and form PY
of modified and new service. Service Standards outlines
various products and service tiers and then establishes
standards for various classifications, broken into two

broad categories:

® Service Design Standards addresses the manner

Route alighnments should provide fast streamlined
service through the heart of downtown, while
providing access to major destinations within a one-
half (1/2) mile walkshed of the route.

Passenger transfers need to be facilitated for both
the convenience of the passenger and the reliability
of the service. Transfers should take place at the
first convenient location.

Vehicle layover locations should provide for
operator rest facilities, but do not necessarily
need to be in the same location as the passenger

transfers.

delivered, including route design, service coverage,
route frequency, span of service and stop spacing.

Service Performance Standards outlines key metrics
for evaluating the productivity and quality of service
provided, as well as laying out a menu of potential
corrective actions for routes at various performance
levels.

6 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Evaluation of Existing Services, prepared by TMD, Inc., March 2013 in which transit service should be configured and
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Finally, the document outlines a proposed ongoing
service evaluation process, including monthly, quarterly
and annual reviews, public input and environmental
justice considerations. The entire Service Standards
document is available in Appendix D’ and is summarized
the following sections.

Service Products and Tiers

Six types of services are defined, organized into three
tiers as shown in Table 2.2. Each service type has a
defined role in the regional transit network, including
frequent corridor services, network support routes and
express service. For each service type there is also a
target service frequency, ranging from 10 minutes to
60 minutes for network routes, with lesser frequencies
possible on express routes.

Service Design Standards

For designing transit service, the document defines
seven service standards, described briefly below. The
complete document offers significant additional detail
for each of these categories.

® Route Design: Routes should be direct, following
major streets across a hybrid grid and radial
crosstown structure, with the exception of
community circulator routes. Route deviations and
out-of-direction movements should be minimized.

® Coverage Area: In the urban core routes should
be separated by approximately one-half mile to
maintain short walking distances. Outside the
urban core, service should be provided only to areas
with densities of at least 2,000 residents or jobs per
square mile and to special generators.

® Connectivity: The system should be designed to
foster timed on-street transfers in the urban core
and at regional hubs. Effective transfers can save
resources by limiting the need for duplicative
service. Locations where transfers occur should
also have high-quality amenities including enhanced
shelters, lighting, pedestrian-friendly design, trip
information and Metro branding.

® Service Frequency: Frequencies of 15 minutes or
better are necessary to encourage “random” usage
of a transit route, which is a requirement for a large
segment of the market. Recommended service
frequencies are identified by route type, ranging

from 10-15 minutes for bus rapid transit (BRT)
services to 60 minutes for community routes.

® Span of Service: Spans of service should be
determined by the market served rather than the
service type. Urban core network service should
generally operate from approximately 4:15 a.m.
until 11 p.m. on weekdays, 6 a.m. to 10 p.m.
on Saturdays and 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. on Sundays.
Community services should be tailored to local
demand patterns, but typically should operate
from 6 a.m. to 7 p.m. on weekdays. Express service
should be tailored to demand patterns.

® Stop Spacing and Placement: Rapid bus routes on
corridors also served by local services should have
stops spaced one-half to one mile apart, focusing
on major destinations and transfer points. Local
service should have stops spaced between 1000 feet
and one-quarter mile apart (closer for community
services). Express routes should have minimal
stops, primarily located at park-and-ride facilities
and major urban destinations. Stops should be
spaced on the downstream side of intersections
whenever possible.

® New Service Warrants: The document recommends
a number of considerations in evaluating potential
new service, including density (as described in
the “Coverage Area” standard), transit-dependent
populations and network integration. A one-year
trial period for new service is recommended.

Service Evaluation Standards

Six metrics are recommended as tools for evaluating
service, falling under the three broad categories of
Efficiency and Effectiveness; Cost Effectiveness; and
Service Quality. For each standard, specific quantified
targets are described, sometimes varying by service
type. The evaluation standards are summarized in the

following.

Efficiency and Effectiveness

® Passengers per Revenue Hour: Thresholds for this
measure vary by service type, ranging from 30 on
rapid weekday service (25 on weekends) to 15 for
supporting local service (10 on weekends). Current
Metro route-level performance ranges from 10 to
30 on weekdays and from six to 25 on weekends.

7 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Service Standards, prepared by TMD, Inc., May 2013.

P
www.heartland2050.org/connections

Table 2.2: Service Products and Tiers

o o Frequenc
Service Type | Description Network Role | Key Markets - E
Target
High frequency, high capacity and high quality | Spontaneous All-da
service that uses transit priority measures to | use, transit- o
. . o . . all-week
Arterial BRT | speed travel times. Stop spacing is typically oriented . .
. . . . community 10 minutes
Rapid Bus greater than local bus with enhanced service | corridor, fast
» s and sub-
5 characteristics intended to emulate the travel and .
= . . . ; ) regional travel
= passenger experience of arterial rail transit. short waits
o
O . . . Structural All-day,
Conventional bus service, operating on a E
. . . . network all-week
Key Corridor | timetable following a pre-set route with . . .
. - . corridor, fast | community 15 minutes
Local Bus identified stops that typically operate as part .
. . sub-regional | and sub-
of a wider network of integrated routes. . .
service regional travel
. o . . All-da
Fixed route transit using of various size Network weekdya
¢ Supporting vehicles serving a specific community area completion y' .
kel . . . . community 30 minutes
£ Local Bus with connections to the regional and/or and service and sub
g subregional transit network. coverage ,
S regional travel
o .
. . L Targeted Communit
= Fixed route or flexible route transit using & . i .
o , . . . . . network travel in 60 minutes
2 Community | of various size vehicles serving a specific . .
o . . . ) connection, less transit- or Demand
= Circulators community area with connections to the .
. . ] local conducive Based
regional and/or subregional transit network. . .
circulation areas
Peak hour express bus service with limited
stops connecting surrounding communities Freeway or
Commute . P & g. . key corridor Peak period Tailored to
with downtown and other major regional .
Express . . . . based regional travel | Demand
destinations. Assess typically via park-and-ride
Q . . commute
o at the residential end.
X Peak hour express bus service with limited
. . Freeway or
Reverse stops connecting major core area hubs (often . Reverse .
. ) . key corridor Tailored to
Commute downtown) with employment in surrounding commute
o . . based Demand
Express communities, serving reverse direction travel
commute
commuters.

® Passengers per One-way Trip (express routes):
Express service is not evaluated on a passengers
per hour basis, but rather on a passengers per one-

way trip basis. Assuming a bus with 40 seats, the

® Subsidy per Passenger Boarding: No specific
industry standard; Metro should seek to minimize
this subsidy.

threshold for this measure is 30 passengers per trip
for commute trips and 15 passengers per trip for
reverse commute trips.

Cost Effectiveness

® Farebox Recovery Ratio: No specific industry
standard exists; Metro should seek to maximize this
ratio.

15

Service Quality

® One-time Performance (service predictability):
Metro currently considers “on time” as up to
zero to three minutes late at each timepoint, an
unnecessarily tight standard relative to the industry
standard of one minute early to five minutes late.
In addition, Metro should adopt a minimum goal
of 85 percent on-time performance system-wide,
an industry standard that balances performance

]
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and cost and also recognizes that operating issues
beyond Metro’s control will occur on some days.

® Load Standards (service availability and comfort):
The maximum load standards are 125 percent of
seated capacity for two or more miles on rapid/
local/express service and 125 percent of seated
capacity on short duration routes for community
service. Metro considers a route to be overcrowded
if 25 percent or more of the one-way trips on the
route exceed the maximum load standard.

Service Evaluation
The following evaluation processes are recommended:

® Route Performance Analysis: Routes should
analyzed quarterly, making use of monthly
performance data.

® Annual System Analysis: This should be conducted
in conjunction with the annual budgeting process
and should include an analysis of market and
demographic trends; economic trends including fuel
prices; addition of new service and discontinuation
of under-performing service; and other major
service adjustments.

Per FTA regulations, transit agencies must evaluate
substantial service and fare changes for compliance
with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. Such an
analysis should include public participation in the form
of a public meeting.2 While the FTA directs agencies
to establish a policy defining what constitutes major

2.2.4 Network Evolution Plan

As a key provider of mobility throughout the region,
Metro can play an important role in shaping the
narrative of future development. The agency is
well-positioned to establish the kind of all-day high-
frequency transit needed to support the growing
demands on the region’s transportation network and
foster the growth of a denser and more sustainable
urban environment. The Network Evolution Plan,
available in Appendix D,° was built upon the findings

of the previous three reports (summarized in the
preceding sections) to present recommendations

for phased operational improvements that could be
implemented to improve the quality of Metro’s services,
attract new riders and complement MAPA’s goals for the
long-term development of the region.

service changes, a standard metric used in the transit
industry defines such a change as one affecting 25
percent or more of a route’s total revenue miles. This
could manifest in the form of a modified route or a
change in service hours or frequencies.

Metro currently defines a “major service change” as one
or more of the following:

® Twenty-five (25) percent or more addition or
reduction in revenue miles on an individual route;

® Twelve (12) percent or more addition or reduction
in system revenue miles; or

® Addition or elimination of a bus route.

Metro previously defined a “major service change” as
either the elimination of a bus route, or as a change

of 15 percent or more in annual systemwide revenue
miles. Metro may consider applying different standards
in designated corridors where municipalities have
made a commitment to the implementation of transit-
supportive land use strategies. To support the evolution
of higher density, mixed use, walkable environments in
corridors with frequent transit service, Metro should
work with MAPA and local communities to designate
corridors, participate in station area development
planning and pedestrian improvement planning and
potentially tolerate somewhat lower performance
thresholds than in other areas before reducing service
frequency below 15 minute thresholds.

The recommended Network Evolution Plan service
improvements are structured into three phases,
representing “Near Term,” “Long Term,” and “Vision”
planning horizons. It is important to note that the
recommendations contained in the Network Evolution
Plan represent operational changes and do not include
the types of capital improvements and new vehicle
technologies discussed beginning in Chapter 4. Such
capital improvements can be made in conjunction
with or subsequent to the recommended operational
changes.

Guiding Principles

® Right Size Service to Market: Given the wide
variety of development patterns within Metro’s

8 - Title VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients, FTA Circular C 4702.1B, October 1, 2012
9 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Service Standards, prepared by TMD, Inc., May 2013
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service area, matching service to various markets
is both a significant challenge and a key to future
success. Metro’s goal should be to strike a balance
between network coverage and service frequency.
Recommendations for substantial investments in
service will focus on key, transit supportive corridors
where frequent service can support increased
ridership. For example, the region can be roughly
distinguished between the urban core, featuring a
grid street network and high-density development
and the surrounding area featuring suburban-style
development at lower-densities. Figure 2.2 shows
the approximate boundaries between these two
development patterns.

® Strengthen Network Structure: The service
recommendations, particular those in Phase | (Near
Term) focus on simplifying routes, transitioning to
more of a grid-based network and creating distinct

Figure 2.2: Transit Focus Area

tiers of service, while emphasizing high-frequency
service in the urban core.

Improve the Customer Experience: In addition

to boosting frequencies and service span in

key corridors, recommendations also focus on
developing uniform station and shelter amenities as
well as agency branding for “a consistent customer
experience and public image.”

Promote Financial Sustainability: Short-term
recommendations are geared toward improving
Metro’s overall system productivity by boosting
ridership in a cost-neutral fashion. Long-term
recommendations aim to continue to attract new
riders and farebox revenue.

Recommendation Phase Summary

® Phase | (Near Term) Service Recommendations:
Phase | is intended to enhance the quality and
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productivity of Metro’s services using existing
resources. Phase | reinvests in key high demand
market areas and corridors in order to refine and
reinforce service along current productive corridors,

while promoting better overall network connectivity.

The refocused structural network fosters the
guiding principles, encouraging spontaneous transit
use in the urban core and shorter travel times
throughout the network. In addition, rationalizing
and restructuring unproductive fixed route services
with market tailored alternative services supports
financial sustainability.

Phase Il includes a number of restructured,
combined, or discontinued routes. In particular,
high-frequency service is provided on the corridor
between Downtown and the University of Nebraska
Medical Center (UNMC) via Dodge, Douglas,

Farnam, and/or Harney Streets (pending results of
the Central Omaha Transit Alternatives Analysis).

Phase Il (Long Term) and Phase Il (Vision)

Service Recommendations: Phase Il seeks to
increase the role of transit in Omaha by achieving
spontaneous-use frequencies on key corridors
throughout the network. Service improvements
come primarily in the form of increased frequencies
over the Phase | service recommendations. The
majority of the route structure remains the same,
with the exception of one route realignment
intended to provide additional service frequency
on the Downtown-UNMC corridor via Dodge,
Douglas, Farnam, and/or Harney Streets. Upon
implementation of Phase Il, service frequencies
along that key corridor would reach five minutes or
better during peak travel periods.

Figure 2.3: Proposed Rapid and Frequent Routes (Phase Ill)
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® Phase lll does not contain any changes to the
physical network as compared with Phase II,
focusing instead on expanding the availability of
rapid and frequent service to promote spontaneous
use of the system, a critical element to attracting
new transit riders.

All of the new and restructured routes recommended
under the phased Network Evolution Plan are classified
according to the tiered structure illustrated in Table 2.2
(page 15).

Figure 2.3 shows the location of routes designated for
Rapid or Frequent service under Phase Ill. As shown,
the routes generally follow a simplified grid structure,
serving primarily the dense urban portions of Omaha
and either emanating from the Downtown area or
following other key north-south or east-west arterials.

Figure 2.4: Proposed Service Tier and Route Structure

Figure 2.4 overlays the remaining local and express
routes atop the rapid and frequent routes shown in the
previous figure. Local routes and community circulators
tend to fill in the remaining areas where frequent
service is not provided, while also supplementing
frequent service in the urban core. Express service
serves outlying areas where regular all-day service is not
practical.

Achieving a goal of increased transit mobility will
depend on a paradigm shift in development patterns,
necessitating participation of both the city and county
to develop mutually supportive land use patterns
that emphasize transit-supportive mobility. If transit
is to become a part of the mobility solution, then a
commitment to sustainable development patterns is
necessary as well.
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2.3 Paratransit Operations Analysis

A key element of the Regional Transit Vision is an
assessment of existing paratransit and human services
transit operations in the MAPA region. The evaluation
of paratransit services and alternatives for improving
the efficiency and productivity of these services focuses
on opportunities to leverage industry best practices

in meeting ADA policy requirements and identifying
alternatives for delivering services.

TMD undertook an analysis that included meeting with
the MAPA Coordinated Public Transit-Human Services
Transportation Committee, conducting interviews with
MOBY operations staff, reviewing MAPA’s Veteran's
Transportation & Community Living Imitative (VTCLI)
capital grant, the 2007 Omaha Coordinated Human
Services Transportation Plan (CHSTP), 2008 and 2011
MOBY Triennial Review documents and conducting

a peer benchmarking survey. (MOBY refers to
paratransit services offered via Metro.) The findings
and recommendations resulting from this analysis are
fully documented in Appendix D*° and are summarized
below.

® MOBY and local social service agencies all play a
key role in the provision of paratransit services
in Omaha. MOBY consists of directly operated
paratransit vans, supplemented by local taxi
services. Service is provided using 19 vans and
a fleet of 34 taxi cabs to augment supply. MOBY
offers service within 3/4 mile of its fixed route
(non-express) services as required by ADA. It
directly provides approximately 46,000 annual
hours of service and procures 13,000 hours of taxi
service. Using those hours, it directly provides
95,000 annual passenger trips and procures 31,000
taxi trips. MOBY’s annual cost (FY2011) is $2.6
million. This is generated by paratransit ($2.27
million) and contracted taxi services ($0.36 million).
Annual revenue totals $160,000 for the paratransit
service and $22,000 for taxi services. MOBY has
experienced significant increases in ridership,
resources provided and, correspondingly, costs.
Between 2007 and 2011, MOBY (paratransit only)
annual trips increased 66 percent while operating
expenses increased 54 percent.

® When compared with paratransit systems in
selected cities of similar size, MOBY generally lies
in the lower quarter in terms of annual ridership,
operating expenses and fare revenues. In general,
MOBY compares favorably with its peers in many
key indicators, particularly passengers per revenue
hour. MOBY has also held hourly operating costs
constant while significantly increasing the number
of trips provided. Its cost of operation has increased
by 54 percent which is the second largest increase
among its peers. Fare revenue increased 7.5
percent, among the smallest increases in the group.

® While augmenting service with local taxi providers
has helped expand capacity and mitigate costs,
Metro and the local social service agencies are also
looking at the concept of a “brokerage” service.
The purpose of a brokerage service is to increase
transportation supply and reduce costs by sharing
resources and by eliminating service duplication
and overlap. The brokerage approach, in concept,
would provide a greater number of funding
sources, additional resources leading to enhanced
mobility, an increase in efficiency and a stronger
overall paratransit network. It accomplishes these
elements by better utilizing the current number
of vehicles and drivers, thus increasing the total
number of trips and trip availability per hour. It
provides this through a consolidated “one-call”
center for the customer.

® Demand for MOBY services has increased
significantly in the last five years. While MOBY has
responded by dedicating additional resources,
augmenting capacity through the addition of
taxi services, additional efforts will need to be
undertaken. The brokerage concept is one that
other cities and agencies are considering and
experimenting with as they look to improve service,
better utilize services and better serve customers.
The model merits continued discussion within the
greater Omaha family of transportation providers.

10 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Paratransit Operations Analysis Technical Memorandum, prepared by TMD, Inc.,

May 2013.
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2.4 Title VI Analysis

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 ensures that “no
person in the United States shall, on the basis of race,
color, or national origin, be excluded from participation
in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to
discrimination under any program or activity receiving
Federal financial assistance.” Metro has committed

to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Title VI
objectives set forth in Circular 4702.1 ensuring that
FTA-assisted benefits and related services are made
available and are equitably distributed without regard to
race, color or national origin. Title VI regulations require
a review of any service reduction or addition considered
by the agency to be a “major service change.”

Metro currently defines a “major service change” as one
or more of the following:

® Twenty-five percent or more addition or reduction
in revenue miles on an individual route;

2.4.1 Mqgjor Service Changes

Annual revenue miles for the existing system and the
proposed Phase | recommendations were compared.
The proposed Phase | recommendations would result in
a 6.53 percent change in revenue miles (Table 2.3).

Table 2.3: System-wide Change in Annual Revenue

Miles

Percent
Change

| Existing | Phase 1 |

Annual
Revenue Miles

3,918,500 ‘ 3,678,400 6.53%

The Network Evolution Plan route realignments are
intended to focus the Metro network on the most
productive core while also retaining a dense and
highly productive network of supporting routes.
Recommendations to discontinue route segments
were primarily based on low ridership and the desire
to provide better quality, higher frequency transit
wherever supportive markets exist. While the Metro
network is to undergo significant changes, care

was taken to minimize impacts to Title VI-sensitive
populations. Other routes for which routing and/or

® 12 percent or more addition or reduction in system
revenue miles; or

® Addition or elimination of a bus route.

However, Metro previously defined a “major service
change” as either the elimination of a bus route, or as
a change of 15 percent or more in annual systemwide
revenue miles. The analysis presented in this section is
based on that previous definition.

Proposed Phase | service changes from the Network
Evolution Plan were evaluated to comply with Title VI
and to receive financial assistance from the FTA. Note
that at present, no fare policy changes are proposed.
Complete documentation of the Title VI analysis is
available in Appendix D.1! The results of the analysis
follow.

schedule changes are proposed may also meet the
definition of a major service change under Metro’s
revised criteria. Changes to these routes should
be reviewed for potential Title VI impacts prior to
implementation.

Routes 9, 16, 32, 94, and 96 are proposed for
elimination, which meets Metro’s definition of a major
service change, and require additional review for
potential Title VI impacts. Based on Metro’s definition
of a “major service change” (any 15 percent change in
system revenue miles and/or the elimination of a route)
these routes require additional review for potential Title
VI impacts. Based on analysis of all census tracts within
a one-quarter mile walkshed of these routes with a
concentration of minority and/or low-income residents
exceeding the overall network average, population
demographics indicate proposed major service changes
to Route 9, 16, 32 and 96 required further analysis.
While Route 94 is undergoing a major service change,
its service area does not include areas with high
concentrations of minority and low-income people,
indicating any effects on those groups will be limited.

11 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Draft Title VI Analysis Technical Memorandum, prepared by TMD, Inc., June 2013.
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2.4.2 Service Equity Analysis

Results of the analysis of the four potentially impacted
routes are summarized below.

® Route 9: Overall, the elimination of Route 9 will not
have disproportionate negative impacts on Title VI
populations. Existing riders on Route 9 will have
better service options with the new Route 7 and
Route 15.

® Route 16: Metro may consider instituting a
vanpool or carpool service, which would more
adequately match commute and demand patterns
to jobs around the airport. Until a vanpool or
carpool program is established, Route 16 riders
will be impacted by the service change. However,
maintaining the service in its current form is
unsustainable. By reallocating the resources to a
more productive service in Title VI areas, the region
will experience an overall net benefit.

® Route 32: The highest ridership segment of Route
32 from Downtown to 32nd and Vinton will be
served by Route 7. Service to this segment will

In the past decade, regional-scale planning efforts have
contributed significantly to increasing understanding

of the need for public transportation options and have
provided increasingly focused planning guidance. The
Heartland Connections effort builds on the strong
foundation provided by these previous initiatives and
will proceed in cooperation with related planning efforts
that are ongoing. Among these initiatives:

® In 2003 and as updated in 2007, the Omaha
Metro Transit Alternatives Analysis resulted in the
identification of regional corridors well suited to
higher-capacity transit service. The MAPA 2035
Long Range Transportation Plan'?> (LRTP) then
documented these high-priority corridors as part
of a comprehensive regional transportation plan
in 2010. The LRTP includes a thorough analysis of
then-current conditions and provides a “blueprint”
for transformation of the regional transportation
network into a more effective and efficient multi-

12 - http://www.mapacog.org/long-range-transportation-planning

increase to 30 minutes in the midday. Overall,

the elimination of Route 32 will not have a
disproportionate negative impact on Title VI
populations. Title VI-sensitive population along Park
Avenue will experience an overall service increase.

® Route 96: Route 96 is proposed to be discontinued
due to the close proximity of Express Route 93 and
97. Resources currently allocated to Route 96 will
be reallocated to Route 97 to create an additional
express trip during the peak period.

Overall, the service changes outlined in the Network
Evolution Plan will ensure that most riders will retain
access to the Metro network and many will experience
improved service options. The increases in service on
routes that serve Title VI-sensitive areas reflect Metro
staff’s commitment to serving all demographics. On
the whole, the benefits garnered from the Network
Evolution Plan will be felt across the network,

with minority and low-income riders as particular
beneficiaries.

modal system. Inclusion in the 2035 LRTP ensures
that projects will be eligible for federal funding.

® The Omaha Master Plan®3, initially adopted in 1991
as the comprehensive plan for the City, addresses
transit-supportive land use in several discrete
elements. The Transportation Element** of the
Omaha Master Plan, as updated in 2012, is intended
to provide tools and policies intended to support a
high quality of life through four goals:

Provide balanced options for enhanced
mobility;

Attain a safe and healthy environment;

Create livable and connected neighborhoods;
and

Promote economic returns with fiscal stability.
One of the key outcomes of this Plan is to identify a

balanced transportation system with a strong emphasis
on active transportation modes (walking and biking)

13 - Omaha Master Plan, 1991, www.cityofomaha.org/planning/urbanplanning/omaha-master-plan
14 - http://www.cityofomaha.org/planning/urbanplanning/images/stories/Master%20Plan%20Elements/ Transportation_Element_Final_2012_web.pdf
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to enhance community health and quality of life. The
Plan also recognizes that public transit can serve as a
logical extension to the mobility of pedestrians, creating
a viable alternative to automobile use in selected

areas of the City where supportive infrastructure and
development patterns are in place or can be created.

The Transportation Element identifies opportunities to
enhance the transportation system through coordinated
land development initiatives in several key locations,
including: 72nd and Dodge Street (around Crossroads
Mall and the Nebraska Furniture Mart); West Dodge
and |-680 (around Westroads shopping center and

the Old Mill area); and the area around Saddle Creek
Road and Cuming Street. Redevelopment concepts

for these areas are intended to support enhanced
transportation options, including opportunities for
transit. Transit-supportive principles identified within
these concept plans include a connected street network,
pedestrian and bicycle facilities and connections, proper
orientation/siting of development and an appropriate
development density and mix of uses to support
enhanced future transit service options.

® The Central Omaha Transit Alternatives Analysis® is
an ongoing, parallel planning effort, scheduled for
completion in 2013, focusing on the highest priority
corridor identified in the Master Plan. This AA is

Another key element of the Regional Transit Vision is to
review Metro’s existing institutional arrangements and
to identify industry best practices that could improve
institutional performance. This includes assessing
opportunities for efficiencies and cost savings, strategies
to maximize revenue and strategies related to marketing
and branding.

2.6.1 Findings

® Metro generally lies near the middle of the five
peer systems studied (Lincoln, Des Moines, Kansas
City, Indianapolis and Albuquerque) in terms of
population, service provided (revenue miles and
hours), operating expenses and fare revenues. It
is on the lower end when comparing ridership.

15 - http://omahaalternativesanalysis.org/

being conducted as a partnership between Metro
and the City of Omaha, focusing on evaluation

of high-capacity transit alternatives to serve the
corridor between Downtown Omaha, Midtown
Omaha, UNMC and the University of Nebraska at
Omaha (UNO), with a potential extension west

to 72nd to serve the Crossroads and Aksarben
Village areas. The study will identify and analyze
alternatives to provide “convenient, accessible
and affordable mobility” in Omaha’s urban core,
by identifying and comparing the costs, benefits
and impacts of various transit alternatives. One
or more locally preferred alternatives (LPAs) will
be recommended for more detailed evaluation,
potentially including fixed rail (streetcar) and/or BRT
alternatives.

® MAPA has more recently identified priorities for
“Complete Streets” in the region through a Multi-
Modal Corridors planning initiative. This initiative
takes a broader look at opportunities to create
complementary mobility options in key corridors-
including roadway, transit and trail facilities.
Consideration of opportunities to support non-
motorized mobility (walking and bicycling) and
multi-modal linkages that will support transit use
are an important element to this transit-focused
study.

TMD undertook an analysis that included a peer
benchmarking survey, reviewing five-year expenditure
trends, assessing key performance indicators, compiling
cost containment and revenue enhancement strategies
and identifying marketing/branding enhancement
opportunities. The findings and recommendations
resulting from this analysis are fully documented in
Appendix D** and are summarized below.

While Metro is the least productive in generating
ridership, it controlled expenses (over the 2007-
2011 period) as well or better than any of its
peers on the basis of expense per revenue hour or
revenue mile. Local (property) taxes make up an
increasing share of Metro operating funds (over

16 - Heartland Regional Transit Vision: Metro Fixed-Route Operations Analysis- Institutional Strategies and Best Practices Technical Memorandum, prepared by

TMD, Inc., May 2013.
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the 2007-2011 period), rising from 40 percent to 50
percent, with Omaha lying in the middle of the peer
systems studied on this measure.

® Metro ranks higher than average in expense
increases and lower than average in ridership
and fare revenue increases, while generally
“maintaining” service levels. Metro’s unit costs
were consistently below their peers during this time
period. However, the rate of increase on these unit
costs was greater that its peers. Institutionally,
agencies need to manage both the level of expense
and the rate at which their unit costs increase.
Trends over five years per the National Transit
Database (NTD) are summarized in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4 : Metro Five-Year Trends (2007-2011)

Annual | Operating Fare Revenue
Ridership | Expenses | Revenues Hours
Peer Range”
-1.5% to 5% to -6.5% to -9% to
27% 22% 32% 35%
Peer Average”
| 6% | 14% | 11% | 5%
Metro
| 08% | 20% | 22% | 3.5%

* - Operations peer agencies included: Lincoln, Des Moines, Kansas City,
Indianapolis and Albuquerque.
Source: NTD, compiled by TMD

® Metro consists of 240 employees to provide transit
service. Operators and mechanics make up the
largest work group and represent the largest
expense center, as is expected at a transit system.
In general, Metro as an organization:

e Has a narrow span of control and a flat
management structure;

e Has basic support and software systems in
place;

2.6.2 Recommendations

® Metro should consider implementation of the
following organizational efficiency strategies:

e Maximize Operator Availability;

o Optimize Operator and Mechanic Overtime;

|
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e Has a traditional labor agreement and work
rules;

e Completes a comprehensive monthly operations
report that monitors a variety of performance
metrics including productivity, safety, reliability
and efficiency;

e Manages within its annual budget (averaged
1.6 percent under budget during the 2007-2011
period); and

e Meets local audit requirements and successfully
completed the most recent Federal Transit
Administration Triennial Review.

In 2011, Metro expenses were allocated as shown in
Table 2.5.

Table 2.5: Metro Revenue and Expense
Breakdown (2011)
Percentage of

Revenue Category Total Expenses

Property Taxes 51.8%
Federal Operating Grants 27.2%
Passenger Fares 13.9%
State Operating Grants 3.1%
Service Contracts/Investments/Other 4.0%

Percentage of

Expense Category

Revenue Vehicle Operations 65%
Maintenance 19%
Administrative and Other 16%

Operating costs increased 20 percent between 2007
and 2011. Fares remained stable between 2007 and
2011, resulting in property taxes and federal funding
increasing in absolute terms and as a percentage

of revenues. Metro has an ongoing “expense
management” program in place, contributing to their
ability to manage unit costs better than their peer
systems.

e Expand Maintenance Key Performance
Indicators;

e Expand Key Financial/Resource Utilization Key
Performance Indicators;

e Educate the Work Force on Key Performance
Indicators;

o Address Workers Compensation Costs;

e Focus on Local Market Levels and Conditions
Relative to Positions and Programs; and

e Improve System Service Performance.

® |tisimportant that key performance indicators are
monitored and acted on by the entire organization.
Key revenue and expense indicators should be made
available so employees can track them. It will also
be important to monitor service performance in
conformance using the updated service standards
to ensure that the recommended Plan delivers
improved service productivity and performance.

® Revenue enhancement strategies will compliment
Metro’s efforts to promote and expand transit
service. While increasing fares at the same time
as a unveiling a new transit network and services
is not recommended, once ridership stabilizes
strategies to increase fare yield per boarding
(higher fare per trip) and per individual customer
(more trips) should be considered. This should
involve more than a simple fare hike and calls for
a comprehensive examination of Metro’s overall
market and pricing scheme. It can build on industry
efforts in developing successful creative pricing
strategies, such as: programs that encourage
increased riding during lower demand periods,
moving to new flexible fare media strategies across
all income groups (e.g., capped fare Smart Card
programs, flexible time based passes), incentivized
community or organization wide pass programs
and frequent user programs or vendor linkages.
Rebuilding advertising revenues to 2007 levels or
higher is another key revenue strategy.

® Metro has recently completed a re-branding
process, which included a variety of efforts ranging

2.7 Legislation Review

A technical memorandum prepared by Husch Blackwell
provides a summary of the legislative implications of
the three priority funding mechanisms identified in
early community outreach and an assessment of the

2.7.1 Property Taxes

The existing Metro transit system is supported locally by
property taxes. Metro makes an annual request to the

from print material to the vehicle livery graphic
theme. Metro also sponsors and participates in
visible public events. Building on these efforts the
general approach covering awareness, incentive
and advocacy marketing should be to: identify
Metro’s community role and vision, establish and
consistently “message” that role and vision and
build on system strengths in marketing efforts.
Traditional and social media, an online presence
and special events can all be used to promote the
“message.” Establishing and nurturing an advocacy
network (such as employers, social service agencies,
schools and medical facilities) within the community
will also be key.

® Improving the “product” to attract more riders by
implementing a core network of higher frequency
services, creating a route structure that is clear and
navigable and initiating new enhanced services
and infrastructure is the key element in the new
Metro “brand” and should be fully exploited by the
agency’s marketing strategy.

Metro has succeeded in managing its costs while
maintaining service levels in a fiscally constrained
operating environment. It compares favorably to its
peers on many categories. That being said, the local tax
base continues to bear an increasingly greater share of
operating expenses while ridership has been flat with
service productivity below that of its peers. Although
there are elements that the organization can improve,
the larger question lies in the shape of the network,
improving service efficiencies and effectiveness and
improving revenues through increased ridership and
average yield. Continued support and investment in the
system should take place in this context.

existing legal authority for their implementation. The
three funding sources include property taxes, transit
assessment districts and a multi-jurisdictional regional
transit authority.

Omaha City Council and Douglas County Board for tax
support. Although state statute allows for the request

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



to be up to $0.10 on each $100 of taxable property,

the city and county are only required to allocate “no
less than three cents per hundred dollars of taxable

property, per entity subject to the levy of the transit
authority if requested by such authority.” (Neb. Rev.
Stat. § 77- 3443)

Existing Authority

Property taxes are subject to existing city and county
levy caps as follows:

® §77-3442 caps the amount of property taxes on any
one parcel of property.

® A city may only levy $0.45 per $100 of taxable
property plus an additional $0.05 per $100 to cover
inter local agreements, for a total of $0.50.

® A county may levy $0.50 per $100 of taxable
property with $0.05 designated for the county’s
share of inter local agreement funding; a maximum
of $0.15 of the $0.50 may be allocated to other
political subdivisions. This county tax levy is not
currently available for use by Metro.

2.7.2 Transit Assessment District

The Nebraska Constitution expressly permits the
Legislature to grant cities the power “to make local
improvements by special assessments or special
taxation of property benefited” (Neb. Const. art. VIII,
§6).

Existing Authority

District types that could be considered without
legislative action include:

® Business Improvement:

® Any property tax allocated to a transit authority by
a county must fit within the $0.50 overall cap and
also within the $0.15 cap for funds going to political
subdivisions.

Potential Future Modifications

Nebraska law provides that the people may vote to raise
the levy limit, as well as the levy allocation, at a primary,
general, or special election (Neb. Rev. Stat. § 77-3444).
However, increases are subject to expenditure limits as
follows:

® A political subdivision may adopt a budget with an
increase of up to 2.5 percent over the prior year
due to increases in property tax valuation and
annexation.

® Upon approval of 75 percent of the political
subdivision’s governing authority, an additional one
percent increase is allowed.

If compliance with the applicable levy caps proves to be
unworkable, a statutory amendment could be sought to
make the transit authority a political subdivision with its
own independent levy authority.

® Street and Sidewalk Improvement: Cities of the
metropolitan class can create Street and Sidewalk
Improvement districts solely for investments
in street and/or sidewalk construction and
reconstruction.

Potential Future Modifications

While existing provisions could provide a mechanism
for the funding of some transit-related improvements,
additional authority would be

Cities can create Business
Improvement Districts to
impose a special assessment
on the properties directly
benefited in order to fund:

The Transit Authority Law was
amended in 2003 and now
authorizes the creation of a

regional transit authority

needed to establish a special
assessment to fund creation of
a public transportation corridor.
Current precedents also focus
on capital improvements, which

parking facilities; landscaping;
sidewalks; bus shelters;
lighting and other “useful or necessary public
improvements.”

could limit opportunities to use
the proceeds of transit assessment
districts to fund operating costs of improved bus or
street car service in a designated corridor.

2.7.3 Multi-Jurisdictional Regional Authority

The Transit Authority Law was amended in 2003 and
now authorizes the creation of a regional transit

www.heartland2050.org/connections

authority covering the following: the City of Omaha;
Douglas; Washington; Dodge and Sarpy Counties in

Nebraska; and Pottawattamie County in lowa (through
inter local and/or contractual arrangement).

Existing Authority

Sources of regional authority funding available under
existing law include: bonds; federal funds; fees for
use (fares); sales taxes and/or property taxes from
participating jurisdictions.

® Currently, a regional Transit Authority can make an
annual property tax request to the city council and
county board of each participating jurisdiction of up
to $0.10 on each $100 of taxable property.

® Aregional Transit Authority can also access sales
tax funds through inter local agreements with
participating municipalities. The Local Option

In order to evaluate options for Omaha region’s transit
network, including potential premium transit service
on select corridors, it is critical to examine existing and
emerging land use patterns along these corridors and
evaluate existing plans and policies. This will ensure
that transit-supportive opportunities are identified and
that transportation investments and land use policies
and tools are aligned to be mutually reinforcing.

“Transit-supportive land use” generally refers to

providing an appropriate mix and intensity of uses to
support transit service, while employing public realm
and site design principles to support convenient and

2.8.1 Existing Patterns and Policies

Existing land use plans and policies in the Omaha region
have been reviewed for this study, specifically in relation
to their support for transit. In addition to the review,
planning officials and staff from key jurisdictions were
interviewed to understand both existing and emerging
plans and policies. The following provides a summary
of the review and local discussions and preliminary
recommendations for strengthening and coordinating
transit-supportive land use policies throughout the
region.

Revenue Act permits municipalities to impose a
sales tax, which must be approved by the voters.
Voter approved tax rates over 1.5 percent must also
be approved by 70 percent of the city council.

Potential Future Modifications

Potential sources, pending appropriate enabling
legislation, could include direct taxing authority. State
legislation, recognizing the Regional Transit Authority

as a separate political subdivision, could provide the
authority with its own dedicated tax levy authority and
its own tax cap to be determined. Further, a “multi-
modal” entity could be created to take responsibility for
road, bridge, trail and public transit improvements with
the authority to raise revenue through a dedicated sales
tax and/or property tax.

efficient use of transit as a desirable alternative to the

automobile. Also often referred to as transit oriented

development (TOD), transit-supportive development is
generally characterized by the following:

® Density - an increased concentration of activities
around a transit access node (station or stop);

® Diversity - a fine-grained mix of retail, office,
residential, civic and/or recreational uses that
promote activity throughout the day and week; and

® Design - urban design features that create a
high quality pedestrian environment, while de-
emphasizing the role of the automobile.

Omaha

Omabha is the economic hub of the metropolitan region,
the largest City in the state and the 42nd-largest city in
the United States. Omaha is home to ten Fortune 1,000
companies including five (5) Fortune 500 companies:
Berkshire Hathaway; Union Pacific; ConAgra Foods;
Kiewit Corporation; and Mutual of Omaha. This strong
economic base supports a vibrant downtown urban
core as well as a number of suburban employment
centers. In scale the downtown is clearly the primary
employment center for the region. This economic base
supports a growing population with access to diverse

2.6 I )7/ |
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housing choices, albeit in an increasingly dispersed
pattern in recent decades.

Omaha Master Plan

In addition to the Transportation Element of the
Omaha Master Plan previously described in Section
2.5, transit-supportive land use is also addressed in the
Environmental and Land Use Elements, as summarized
below.

The Environmental Element®® of the Omaha Master
Plan, as updated in 2010, was developed in partnership
with Omaha by Design and the City of Omaha. It
establishes a comprehensive vision for the community
by identifying more than 600 environmental
recommendations in five key areas. The most relevant
goals for the city, for the key areas of Urban Form and
Transportation, include:

® Accommodate its potential urban population within
a compact, contiguous urban area;

® Productively and effectively use all land within its
2010 municipal limits; and

® Support an efficient city form with a balanced
transportation network that increases the role of
low-impact and active transportation modes in
providing access to all parts of the city.

The Plan measures success by achieving four overall
measures of sustainability within the next 20 years:

® Omaha’s population density will grow to 4,500
people per square mile. Current (2010) population
density is 3,489 people per square mile, whereas
population density in 1950 was 6,171 people per
square mile.

® Ten percent of all trips in Omaha will be made by
“active” transportation modes — pedestrian, bicycle
and public transportation. In 2008, about 2 percent
of all trips and 4.4 percent of commuting trips are
made by active modes.

® Fewer than 65 percent of all work commuting trips
will be made in single-occupant vehicles by 2030.
Currently, about 82 percent of commuting trips are
made in single-occupant vehicles.

® Using 2010 as the base year, decrease per capita
motor vehicle miles traveled (VMT) by Omaha
motorists 10 percent by 2030. This will require
creating a framework for measuring and monitoring
VMT using indicators such as traffic modeling, traffic
counts, gas consumption, population levels and or
other relevant data.

The Land Use Element®® of the Omaha Master Plan, as
updated in 2011, calls for increased intensity around
key mixed-use nodes located approximately every mile
along key corridors, including three proposed transit
corridors shown in Figure 2.5:

® West Center Road
® West Dodge Road
® West Maple Road

Additional density would be allowed and encouraged
in these nodes and along these corridors (up to eight
dwelling units per acre). To support viable transit
service, residential density along the West Maple,
West Dodge and West Center corridors would need to
average eight dwelling units per net residential acre. To
obtain this density, a variety of residential housing types
should be encouraged within these corridors, including
multi-family development in the mixed-use node areas
and a mix of town-homes, duplexes and single-family
homes in the remaining portion of the corridor.

Zoning

Omaha has a zoning overlay district entitled “Areas

of Civic Importance” (ACl). The ACl overlay district is
being implemented in small segments. It will eventually
extend along the prominent thoroughfares of the

City as shown in Figure 2.6. It is being implemented
incrementally to allow for time to address local
guestions and concerns. This map includes some, but
not all, of the potential high-capacity corridors identified
for study through the Heartland 2050 process.

The ACl overlay district promotes urban design
principles that will enhance important areas of the

city by implementing the Urban Design Handbook of
the Omaha Zoning Code. The Urban Design Handbook
promotes placing buildings closer to the street and
providing a wider sidewalk and landscape area between

18 - http://www.cityofomaha.org/planning/urbanplanning/images/stories/Master%20Plan%20Elements/ EnvironmentElement2010.pdf

the building and the street to encourage an active
pedestrian environment. Design goals within the
handbook relate to supporting high quality transit
options, enhancing “walkability” to support a multi-
modal environment. At the conclusion of the Heartland
2050 process, proposed ACI boundaries should be
reconciled as appropriate with areas slated for transit-
supportive land use in the future.

Council Bluffs

Council Bluffs, located on the lowa side of the Missouri
River, is the second-largest jurisdiction in the region.
Council Bluffs benefits from its location near the
1-29/1-80 intersection and from its proximity to Omaha’s
urban core. According to city staff, approximately

Thirty percent of work
trips from Council Bluffs
go to downtown Omaha.
Therefore, Council Bluffs
benefits greatly from a
vibrant downtown Omaha.

& J

30 percent of work trips from Council Bluffs go to
downtown Omaha. Therefore, Council Bluffs benefits
greatly from a vibrant downtown Omaha.

Currently, Council Bluffs does not have any specific
transit-supportive land use policies or tools. However,
the city is in the process of updating its Comprehensive
Plan, entitled the Bluffs Tomorrow 2030 Plan®.
According to city staff, this plan update will consider
additional development densities and transit-supportive
development for downtown Council Bluffs and the
West Broadway Corridor. The West Broadway Corridor
connects downtown Omaha to key activity centers

in Council Bluffs, including Alegent Creighton Health
Mercy Hospital and lowa Western Community College.
Currently, West Broadway is an older commercial
corridor with significant redevelopment opportunities.
According to city staff, high-density development within
the corridor is not anticipated. However, there may be
opportunities for targeted infill and adaptive reuse with
modestly increased densities at key nodes to support
future transit service. These nodes will be identified
during the Tomorrow 2030 Plan process.

20 - Bluffs Tomorrow 2030 Plan, www.bluffstomorrow2030.com.

Bellevue

Bellevue is the third largest jurisdiction in the

region. The city is home to one of the region’s

largest employers, Offutt Air Force Base (AFB), with
approximately 10,000 military and federal employees.
Offutt AFB is the headquarters of the U.S. Strategic
Command, the Air Force Weather Agency and the 55th
Wing of the Air Combat Command. According to city
staff, while a significant number of these employees live
within the city, a large percentage of them commute
from communities throughout the region.

Bellevue has a relatively low-density development
pattern, including in the downtown area. Much of
Bellevue’s recent growth has been to the west along
Cornhusker Road and Highway 370. The Highway 370
corridor connects to rapidly growing areas in Papillion
and La Vista. A new Missouri River crossing and
realigned Platteview Road will provide an improved
connection to Glenwood and Mills County in lowa. This
improvement will greatly reduce travel time to Bellevue
from communities across the Missouri River, providing
additional housing and employment choices.

Fort Cook Road, a major north-south arterial and
former state highway, is an older commercial corridor
that connects to downtown Omaha via 24th Street and
according to city staff, has significant redevelopment
potential. A majority of regional traffic on Fort Cook
Road has shifted to a parallel limited access highway,
the Kennedy Freeway (U.S. 75). Due to this shift,
lower traffic volumes along Fort Cook Road offer the
opportunity for a “road diet.” This creates a potential
opportunity to use a portion of the right-of-way for

a dedicated bike lane, trail, shared use path and/or a
dedicated transit lane.

The Bellevue Comprehensive Plan** does not include
specific transit-supportive strategies. However, the
City has adopted a Complete Street Policy to support
“transportation improvements that are planned,
designed and constructed to encourage walking,
bicycling and transit use, while promoting safe and
efficient operations for all users.”

19 - http://www.cityofomaha.org/planning/urbanplanning/images/stories/Master%20Plan%20Elements/ LandUse%20Element4-4-12_web.pdf 21 - Bellevue Comprehensive Plan: www.bellevue.net/Departments/Planning.aspx
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Figure 2.5: Omaha Future Land Use Plan

i 1 v Rl ‘ ]
7 I
—, e ‘Lﬁl . ‘f!_“___ t {_‘.;? ; 5
i sfl | o L= -
e e 40 otk
L= _| ____l'zﬂi | \ P : %
14 & Ll A < -
'_| i |
T =T .
18
5
i
=y
{ , !;r..; !
LD ] N

'E‘.:.-

e

L v e
Cmamy Sy L

[ et s

Source: Urban Design Article of the Omaha Zoning Code

www.heartland2050.org/connections

Papillion

Papillion is the fourth-largest jurisdiction in the region.
In 2009, Papillion was named the “3rd best place to live
in the United States by CNN Money, based on the City’s
diverse employment base, affordable housing choices,
quality schools, ample green space and excellent
quality of life. Papillion, along with La Vista, is located
southwest of Omaha in one of the fastest-growing areas
of the region.

”

Major growth corridors in the city are Highway 370 and
West Lincoln Road. These corridors are experiencing
the most growth, especially commercial uses. Shadow
Lake Towne Center and Alergent Creighton Health
Midlands Hospital are significant activity centers along
Highway 370. Shadow Lake Town Center, at 72nd Street
and Highway 370, is an 880,000 square-foot lifestyle
center with shopping, dining, entertainment and special
events. Werner Park, home of the Omaha Storm
Chasers, the Kansas City Royals AAA baseball affiliate,

is located at 128th Street and Ballpark Way north of
Highway 370.

Papillion is in the process of updating its Comprehensive
Plan®* which will include recommendations to support
mixed-use development. The plan will include a vision
for Downtown, located just off of 84th Street. Key plan
goals include:

® Strengthening downtown as a mixed-use urban
environment;

® Making downtown a place to go to, rather than a
place to move through;

® Maintaining neighborhood connections and
removing barriers;

® Increasing the number of people who live
downtown; and

® Increasing both the supply and convenience of
parking where it needed the most while reducing
demand.

La Vista

La Vista is the fifth-largest jurisdiction in the region
and is located adjacent to Papillion in the fast-growing
southwest quadrant of the region.

Major development within the community is occurring
on Giles Road near I-80 and includes Southport West, a
large outlet and entertainment center located near I-80
and Giles Road, as well as major employment centers
such as PayPal and the Oriental Trading Company.

The La Vista Comprehensive Plan® does not include
specific transit-supportive strategies and no significant
updates are anticipated in the near future. The

city has adopted the Vision 84 Plan* that identifies
aesthetic improvements and enhanced connections to
a future regional trail network along the 84th Street
Corridor. Vision 84 includes a recommendation for

a mixed-use City Center that is envisioned to include
retail, office, commercial and residential uses. Future
implementation of Vision 84 may include design
guidelines for buildings and public amenities along 84th
Street. These guidelines should incorporate appropriate
transit-supportive design strategies, as discussed at the
end of this chapter.

2.8.2 Potential Transit-Supportive Development Strategies

Post-World War Il development patterns in the Omaha
metropolitan area — bolstered by an expanding and
improved roadway system, abundant land availability
with few geographic barriers and auto-centric land use
policies — have resulted in a dispersed, low-density
urban character throughout most of the region. This
has resulted in ever-increasing public service and
maintenance costs and it has limited the ability to
efficiently provide alternative transportation choices,
especially public transit options.

Heartland Connections is intended to not only
develop recommendations for a future transit system
framework, but to also provide strategies to promote
transit-supportive development within Metro-served
areas. The strategies are intended to:

Consider land use and transportation needs
concurrently;

® Promote compact development patterns to support
enhanced and efficient transit service;

22 - Papillion Comprehensive Plan: www.papillion.org/planning_comprehensive_plan.cfm.

23 - La Vista Comprehensive Plan: www.cityofLaVista.org/index.aspx?nid=655.
24 - Vision 84: www.cityofLaVista.org/index.aspx?NID=704.
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® Ensure that development is oriented in a way that is
conducive to future transit service; and

® Focus targeted transit-supportive strategies to
specific high-capacity corridors.

What is Transit-Supportive Development?

This section introduces “best practice” planning and
design strategies that can potentially be applied

to guide new development and redevelopment,
maximizing future transit support and synergy through
thoughtful planning and design. These strategies are
not intended to replace existing local regulatory tools.
Rather, they are intended to supplement existing

tools with a focus on how to ensure that current and
upcoming development projects throughout the city
can be configured to best accommodate future transit
service. Potential planning strategies are organized in
the following general categories: Land Use; Site Design;
Parking; and Connections.

Land Use

Compact mixed-use development is encouraged

along transit corridors to maximize efficient transit
operations and to help facilitate convenient pedestrian
and bicycle connections. Mixed-use development

can be vertical (within a single building) or horizontal
(within a collection of buildings). Key features include
an interconnected street grid, shared parking and
convenient pedestrian and bicycle connections between
uses. The land use mix should be complementary to
encourage trips via walking or bicycling. If users have
access to most of their daily activities along a single
corridor, there will be fewer occasions when they

have to transfer between transit routes or resort to
automobile use. ldeally, a high-capacity transit corridor
will connect a wide range of uses including, but not
limited to, residential, employment, services, shopping
and entertainment within a short walk (less than one-
quarter mile) of stops/stations. Auto-oriented single-
use developments such as drive-through restaurants

or banks, gas stations or car sale lots should be
discouraged close to transit stops/stations because they
interrupt a walkable environment.

Allowable development densities along transit corridors
should support future transit service aspirations.
Increased densities along transit corridors maximize
the amount of people with walking access to transit

Example of transit-supportive development surrounding a
bus transit stop in Renton, Washington.

A description of each category and potential strategies
follows.

Example of urban infill mixed-use development in down-
town Denver, Colorado..

services. At a minimum, a transit corridor should
average eight (8) units per acre. High-capacity and
frequency transit corridors will ideally support greater
densities, especially within one-quarter mile of future
transit stops/stations.

Strategies:

® Within vertical mixed-use developments, encourage
active uses such as retail, restaurants, services,
etc., to be located on the ground floor and oriented
toward the street or primary pedestrian paths.

® Within horizontal mixed-use developments,
encourage safe and convenient pedestrian
connections between clustered active uses
within the site as well as surrounding uses and
neighborhoods.

® The logistics of providing transit services to the
proposed development should be considered in
the site plan evaluation process, to proactively

Site Design

The physical location of buildings can encourage transit
use, allow for efficient transit operations, encourage
pedestrian activity and greatly enhance an overall
“sense of place.” Along key transit corridors, buildings
should be oriented toward the primary street and have
minimal setbacks to maximize visibility and reduce
walking distances. Large surface parking lots that
separate buildings from the street make walking less
convenient and therefore should be located behind

or beside buildings and/or internal to the site. Public
plazas and private courtyards should be sited in such

a way as to create a cohesive walkable environment

in combination with the public sidewalk network.
Space should be allocated for future transit stops,

as appropriate, in locations convenient for transit
operations (e.g. with minimal need for time-consuming
deviations from major arterial streets), with safe

and convenient pedestrian connections to adjacent
buildings.

The architecture of buildings should be encouraged to
include architectural details, pedestrian scale signage,
window displays and views from the sidewalk of indoor
activities. Omaha’s Old Market area provides an
example of how architecture and streetscape design can
be used to create a pleasant pedestrian environment.
Dating back to the late 1880s, Old Market buildings
contain pedestrian-friendly features such as awnings,
articulated facades and street front display windows.

Omaha’s existing Urban Design Handbook serves as a
guide for building design in this area. These strategies
should be extended to all identified transit corridors and
other jurisdictions within the region should consider
incorporating similar strategies in their design review
process.

anticipate and accommodate transit routing and
future stop locations and effectively integrate transit
access into the site layout.

® Allowable residential development densities should
support future transit service, with higher density
residential uses clustered within the “walkable”
zone along transit routes and an overall average
density of at least eight dwelling units per acre.

Example of quality pedestrian-scale development in
Omaha’s Old Market neighborhood..

Strategies:

® Along identified high-capacity transit corridors,
cities in the region should consider adding a Transit
or “T” designation as an additional zoning overlay
with selected transit-supportive design principles.
These principles can be used in conjunction with the
City of Omaha’s Urban Design Handbook to ensure
quality development that supports future premium
or high-capacity transit service alternatives.

® Major development applications within identified
transit corridors should be reviewed by staff from
both the local municipality and from Metro. This
already occurs in Omaha within identified transit
corridors and mixed-use nodes. However, this
review should extend to new corridors identified as
part of the Heartland Connections process, within
Omaha as well as other jurisdictions in the region.
This review should occur as early as possible in the
process, ideally at the concept plan or preliminary
plat stage. If appropriate, Metro staff should have
the opportunity to recommend changes to initial
development proposals.
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Parking

Transit-supportive development encourages integrated
parking strategies that meet the needs of all modes and
users. The proper type, size and location of parking
facilities are critical components to transit-supportive
development. Vertical density necessitates structured
parking within urban developments, but it can also

be used within denser suburban developments along
transit corridors. Structured parking provides for a
more efficient use of space, additional area devoted to
plazas and open spaces and reduced walking distances
between destinations. It can be provided in a stand-
alone parking garage or integrated within a multi-use
building.

Surface parking lots should be located behind

buildings and include safe, convenient and attractive
pedestrian pathways connected to buildings and
adjacent development to encourage shared parking
opportunities. Uses that operate during different times
of the day can share parking facilities.

With frequent high-capacity transit service along a
specific corridor, parking demand will likely be reduced
in response to transit use by local residents. In these
cases, jurisdictions should consider reducing parking
requirements. Depending on the transit service and
frequency, jurisdictions may consider setting a parking
maximum within a specified service area. This would
essentially cap the number of parking spaces to further
encourage transit, walking and biking within the area or
district. Reducing the minimum parking requirements,
or setting maximum parking requirements, can lower

Connections

An interconnected street grid disperses traffic

rather than concentrating it on arterial roads and
encourages walking and bicycling. The benefits of an
interconnected grid include reducing concentrations of
vehicular congestion and providing multiple convenient
route choices for all modes. A dispersed traffic pattern
and direct connections between developments

and activity centers make walking and biking more
attractive. Along transit corridors, the increased
pedestrian and bicycle connectivity and mobility created
by a well-connected street system increases the area
that can be served by a transit stop.

e
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Example of a parking garage integrated with retail/
office development at Country Club Plaza in Kansas City,
Missouri.

the construction costs of development and make
parking structure solutions more feasible.

Strategies:

® Where appropriate, enacting zoning regulations
which require parking lots to be located behind
or beside buildings, with safe and convenient
pedestrian connections to the buildings and
surrounding development.

® Encourage the integration of active ground floor
uses within parking garages to contribute to a more
pedestrian friendly environment.

® Promote shared parking between uses as
appropriate, ideally in public parking lots rather
than private lots serving individual uses.

® Consider reducing parking requirements. Within
high-capacity and high-frequency transit corridors,
consider establishing parking maximums within the
transit service area or district.

Within suburban locations, pedestrian access between
subdivisions and arterials must be convenient if
residents are to be encouraged to use transit. In some
typical post-World War Il neighborhoods, subdivisions
are often disconnected or include a pattern of dead-
end cul-de-sacs. These developments reduce through
traffic on some local streets. They do so at the expense
of discouraging local residents through longer indirect
routes from walking or biking to commercial or public

uses, including transit stops, on adjacent arterial streets.

Sidewalks to and along transit corridors should

provide a comfortable pedestrian environment. This
environment should include a buffer between the
sidewalk and the street. The buffer could include a
landscaped parkway, street trees, a bicycle lane and/or
on-street parking. The area between the sidewalk and
adjacent development should include an amenity zone
with pedestrian lighting, benches, litter receptacles,
wayfinding elements, etc.

Bicycle accommodations should include dedicated
bicycle lanes or parallel off-street paths, as appropriate.
In addition, secure bicycle parking should be available
at key destinations and should be as close to building
entrances and transit stops as possible.

Strategies:

® Require new developments adjacent to transit
corridors to provide an interconnected street grid
with safe and convenient pedestrian connections to
adjacent development and activity centers.

® Encourage new or improved pedestrian and bicycle
connections to adjacent development and activity
centers as redevelopment and infill development
occurs within established areas.

® Work with established neighborhoods to identify
opportunities for new pedestrian paths and/
or multipurpose trails to connect to adjacent
development and activity centers, even if the ability
to modify the existing street network is limited.

2.8.3 Transit Corridor Typologies

' it
o

Example of a multi-modal corridor, the Cultural Trail |
through downtown Indianapolis, Indiana.

® Locate transit stops on arterial streets to minimize
the need for time consuming deviations into activity
centers or development sited.

® Develop updated street standards for improved
pedestrian and bicycle connections and associated
amenities along designated transit corridors and in
particular at key nodes.

Chapter 8 includes recommendations regarding

the development of criteria for implementation of
these land use strategies in the context of the Long
Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) and Transportation
Improvement Plan (TIP).

For the purposes of recommended application of transit-supportive strategies, priority transit corridors have been

assigned as appropriate to the following four categories:

® High Intensity Urban Corridors
® Urban Fringe Corridors
® Established Suburban Corridors

® New Suburban Corridors

These typologies overlay the transportation corridor network, as shown in Figure 2.7. The typologies are described
below. Appropriate coordination of transportation and land use planning efforts is discussed in the following

implementation section.
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Figure 2.7: Proposed Transit Corridor Network
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High Intensity Urban Corridors

® Dodge and Farnam Streets
® Downtown to Midtown Crossing

These corridors are within Omaha’s downtown core
inside the highway loop and extend to Midtown
Crossing to the west. Midtown Crossing, opened in
2010, is a new urban development that combines

condos and apartments with one million square feet of
retail, dining and entertainment built around the six-

acre Turner Park.

Land Use

® \Vertical high-density mixed-use development,
with mid-rise to high-rise buildings (four stories
minimum), is strongly encouraged.

www.heartland2050.org/connections

® Residential densities are encouraged to be 30 or
more dwelling units per acre to support future
transit service. The highest development densities
should be clustered within one-quarter mile of
mixed-use nodes.

Parking

® Parking structures are encouraged over surface
parking, ideally in integrated structures.

® Encourage shared parking as appropriate to improve
efficiency of parking space use and accommodate
on-street parking where feasible.

® Reduce parking requirements for new projects
based on proactive discussions with developers
during the design review process.

® Depending upon future transit service options,
consider parking maximums to set an absolute limit
that cannot be exceeded within a specific area.

Urban Fringe Corridors
® West Broadway/Kanesville, Dodge Street

® Midtown Crossing to UNMC, 24th Street/North 30th
Street

These corridors are on the fringe of Omaha’s downtown,
or are within the downtown core in Council Bluffs.
These areas developed prior to World War Il and

are urban in character, with a mid-rise to low-rise
development pattern on closely spaced small lots served
by a dense, interconnected street grid.

Land Use

® Uses within these areas will likely be primarily
residential mixed-use, with commercial or
office mixed-use at major centers or nodes as
identified by local land use plans. Development
opportunities will largely consist of targeted infill
redevelopment. Development types may include
mid-rise condominiums or apartments, town-homes

Example of high intensity urban corridor development,
Midtown Crossing in Omaha.

® Encourage 15 or more dwelling units per acre along
transit corridors and 24 or more dwelling units per
acre at identified mixed-use nodes.

Parking

® Encourage shared parking between uses, including
cross-easements, where feasible. Surface parking
should be located behind or beside buildings,
with safe and convenient pedestrian connections
between the lots and nearby buildings.

Connections

® [dentify opportunities to reconnect closed streets
and use alleys where appropriate for improved
circulation and access to parking and loading
facilities as redevelopment occurs.

® Ensure that sidewalks are available and in good
condition to support safe and convenient pedestrian

Site Design and single family homes on small lots. At major connections.
® Buildings should be oriented toward the transit centers, these uses may support structured parking;

corridor and have minimal setbacks to encourage however, a majority of uses will likely be smaller

walking and transit use infill projects with surface parking.
Connections Site Design
® Streets are characterized by an extensive ® Buildings should be oriented toward the transit

interconnected street grid corridor and have minimal setbacks to encourage

walking and transit use.

® Wide sidewalks and enhanced pedestrian amenities

are encouraged to promote active streets.

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



Established Suburban Corridors

® Dodge Street: UNMC to Westroads, Ft. Cook Road,
West Maple, West Center, 72nd Street, 84th Street

These corridors transect established commercial centers
and neighborhoods that were primarily developed after
World War Il. These areas are characterized by auto-
oriented, low-density development patterns. Aksarben
Village is an example of a major center of this type.

Land Use

® There may be opportunities to re-purpose and/or
redevelop older commercial centers, in addition to
targeted infill redevelopment. Development types
may include mid-rise condominiums, apartments,
town-homes, duplexes and single family homes on
small lots.

® Eight or more dwelling units per acre are
encouraged for infill or new development to
support future transit service. The highest
development densities should be clustered within
one-quarter mile of designated mixed-use nodes.
New development projects will transition down
in density when adjacent to established suburban
neighborhoods.

Site Design

® Buildings should be oriented toward the transit
corridor and have minimal setbacks to encourage

walking and transit use.

Suburban Corridors

® Dodge: Westroads to Village Point, 144th Street,
Highway 370

A majority of development within these areas will
have occurred within the past twenty years, in an
entirely auto-oriented fashion. For the most part, new
development in these areas will occur on undeveloped
“greenfield” sites. Examples of recent developments
within these areas include Village Pointe Shopping
Center in Omaha, Southport in La Vista and Shadow
Lake Town Center in Papillion.

|
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Parking

® Parking is encouraged to be located behind
buildings. However, if the existing buildings are in
reuse or if parking cannot be reconfigured, the lot
should be screened by quality landscaping from
the adjacent sidewalk, with safe and convenient
pedestrian connections provided to the building.

® Encourage shared parking between uses, including
cross-easements, where feasible. Surface parking
should be located behind or beside buildings,
with safe and convenient pedestrian connections
between the lot and nearby buildings.

Connections

® Asredevelopment along these corridors occurs,
commercial uses should provide convenient cross-
access connections to adjacent development.

® Ensure that sidewalks in these corridors provide a
quality pedestrian environment. As redevelopment
occurs, ensure that adjacent development provides
a convenient connection to the main sidewalk and/
or adjacent developments and neighborhoods.

Example of newer suburban corridor development, Village
Pointe Shopping Center in Omaha.

Land Use

Development types may include neighborhood ®
commercial centers, professional offices and services,
single-family homes, town-homes and garden (low-rise)
apartments. Mixed-use development will most likely be
horizontal in configuration.

Eight or more dwelling units per acre are encouraged.
Higher densities should be accommodated within one-
quarter mile of an identified mixed-use node.

Site Design

® Buildings should be oriented toward primary transit
routes with plazas, open space and parking internal
to the site.

2.8.4 Land Use Policy Implementation

This section describes potential transit-supportive ®
design strategies for the Omaha region. Planners,

property owners, developers, architects and engineers

should apply these strategies as appropriate during

all stages of the development process, from initial site
planning through to the design and review of proposals.

Policies supporting coordinated land use and
transportation planning will need to be defined,
adopted and enforced consistently throughout the
Metro service area. In addition, strategic changes to
development regulations and in some cases incentives,
may be necessary to encourage transit-supportive
uses. These strategies will need to be codified and
consistently applied over time to realize transit-
supportive development patterns and support a
balanced transportation system for the Omaha region.

Key next steps to move the process forward with regard
to transit-supportive land use will include, but are not )
limited to, the following:

Parking

Encourage shared parking where appropriate.

Connections

Neighborhoods should provide safe and convenient
pedestrian connections to adjacent development
through sidewalks on both sides of the street and/or
multi-purpose trails.

Commercial developments should provide
cross-easement access for vehicles and safe and
convenient pedestrian connections to adjacent
developments. Public space should be located in
a manner that supports providing a visible and
comfortable transit stop.

Each jurisdiction should continue to, or begin to,
establish appropriate regulatory and administrative
policies to support development locally in transit-
supportive areas. Policies should be reasonably
consistent across municipal boundaries and the
process should include an ongoing dialogue with
property owners and institutions that may benefit
from transit investments, as well as local elected
officials and key stakeholders representing the
jurisdictions that will be impacted. Development
review should include Metro to ensure that

transit service needs are being accommodated.
Development incentives to be considered locally
should include catalyst projects (e.g. libraries,
police stations, parks and/or other public facilities),
streamlined permitting, impact or permit fee relief,
density bonuses and/or other tools to encourage
development in high-priority locations.

Building on the Heartland Connections and
Heartland 2050 processes, each jurisdiction should
develop corridor and/or area plans

® Relevant performance -
measures related to transit-
supportive development should
be developed, in common
with Heartland 2050 to the
extent feasible, for use in the
evaluation of transit scenarios
and subsequent tracking of
related transit-supportive - 73

Policies supporting
coordinated land use and
transportation planning
will need to be defined,
adopted and enforced
consistently throughout the
Metro service areaq.

) with appropriate transit-supportive

land use recommendations, design
guidelines and transportation and
infrastructure requirements for
identified high-capacity transit
corridors with the potential

for significant multi-modal

) coordination and/or transit-

7
development efforts.

supportive development. The City
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of Omaha’s Urban Design Handbook will be a key
resource in this effort.

“Nodes” along each corridor with relatively strong
potential for multi-modal coordination and new or
infill real estate development that support transit
have been identified. Local area master plans
developed in coordination with community groups
should be prepared to identify specific locations
where development opportunities converge with
the one or more frequent, all day transit services
that are proposed to serve these key nodes.

Consider the use of “interim” zoning overlays to
forestall any ill-advised development approvals

on key sites, thus allowing time to implement the
transit-supportive development strategies outlined
in this chapter along designated high-capacity
transit corridors and key nodes.

After corridor and node plans are completed

and adopted, create permanent zoning overlays

to implement the specific transit-supportive
recommendations of each local plan. The zoning
overlays should incorporate prescriptive measures
such as density thresholds and parking maximums,
incentives such as density bonuses and flexible
parking standards, or a combination of both.

Each jurisdiction will craft requirements based on
the type of transit investment and local needs as
identified in each area or node plan. In Omaha, the
ACI zoning overlay could be amended to include

a Transit or “T” designation for designated high-
capacity transit corridors.

Municipalities should assess existing public and
private parking supply and conditions at key nodes,
to develop an appropriate long-term parking
management strategy that balances the needs of all
users while supporting transit use.

Municipalities should investigate options for the
use of value capture strategies to fund the local
elements of a regional transit system, such as transit
stops/stations, park-and-ride facilities, streetscape
improvements, bicycle and pedestrian facilities
and other associated infrastructure improvements
and amenities. Throughout the country, it has
been demonstrated that high-capacity transit
projects have the potential to increase property
values and leverage private reinvestment that
would not have occurred without the project.

Value capture strategies use this incremental value
increase to fund station/stops and associated area
improvements. Such strategies can include Special
Assessment Districts, Tax Increment Financing
Districts, or Developer/Impact Fees.

To provide relevant insight into the development of
transit agency governance strategies that support

the long-term transit vision for the Omaha region,

an inventory of eight “peer” metropolitan regions is
presented in this section. The peer regions identified
represent a range of approaches to balancing transit
benefits, contributions and board representation across
a diverse metropolitan region. Peer regions in which
relevant statistics and governance approaches have
been assembled include:

1. Albuquerque, New Mexico (Rio Metro Regional
Transit District)

2. Austin, Texas (Capital Metropolitan Transportation
Authority)

3. Cincinnati, Ohio (Southwest Ohio Regional Transit
Authority)

4. Denver, Colorado (Regional Transportation
District)

5. Des Moines, lowa (Des Moines Area Regional
Transit Authority)

6. Kansas City, Missouri (Kansas City Area
Transportation Authority)

7. Minneapolis — St.. Paul, Minnesota (Metro Transit)

8. St.. Louis, Missouri (Bi-State Development Agency,
dba Metro Transit)

Data categories presented for comparisons across these
peer regions include the following, as summarized in
Table 2.5 and described in detail in Table 2.6 and Table
2.7:

® Demographics: Census metropolitan statistical
area (MSA) population, MSA size, MSA 20-year
Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR), presence of
state capital and/or major university

® Planning agencies: Regional planning agency (MPO),
regional transit agency, presence of other transit
agencies

® Regional planning agency (MPO) characteristics:
Planning area, share (%) of MSA population
represented, board size and structure, board
member selection method, geographic
representation of board, planning functions,
operating functions

® Transit system size: Number of transit vehicles
by type, system ridership, status of rapid transit
provision (fixed guideway or BRT)
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® Regional transit agency characteristics: Unit of
membership, agency participation mechanism,
service area description, service area size, service
area share (%) of MSA population, board size
and structure, board member selection method,
geographic representation of board, agency powers

® Regional transit agency financials: Capital and
operating budgets (five-year average totals), local
share (%) of capital and operating funds, sources of
local operating funds, dedicated transit funding (tax
rate and type)

For purposes of comparison, the data noted above is
also presented for the Omaha region, MAPA and Metro
currently.

As the regional transit vision for the Omaha region was
identified over the course of this study, governance

and funding strategies were recommended based

on the existing legislative framework, the unique
characteristics of the region and the relevant lessons
gleaned from these peer regions. The experiences of
other agencies that provide services similar to those
being considered in Omaha and/or that have addressed
similar challenges, offered valuable perspectives as
implementation strategies are developed.

Considerations will include:

® Developing workable approaches to collecting and
appropriating transit funds, avoiding excessive
cross-subsidization between communities.

® Balancing the jurisdictional sources of funding
support with the broad regional benefits of transit
service provision.

® Balancing representation on the transit agency
board with the geographic incidence of funding
sources and investment areas.

® Structuring the transit agency board to be
responsive, engaged, effective and representative of
the region’s diverse needs.

® Appropriate “lessons learned” from the peer regions
that are determined to be most directly applicable
to the Omaha region are identified and summarized
in the context of the preferred vision scenario,
presented in Chapter 7.
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Table 2.5: Peer Region Summary Characteristics?® (Albuquerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines) Table 2.5: Peer Region Summary Characteristics (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

..... gio Albuaueraue A 3 De e De oine Peer Regio = 3 eano P35 0 0

Population Population
MSA Counties 4 counties 5 counties 15 counties 10 counties 5 counties MSA Counties 15 counties 13 counties 15 full counties, 1 3 counties
partial county and 1 city
MSA Size (Sqg. Miles) 9,283 4,220 4,392 8,346 2,884 - -
MSA Size (Sqg. Miles) 7,827 6,027 8,623 4,350
MSA Population 2010 887,077 1,716,289 2,130,151 2,543,482 569,633
MSA Population 2010 2,035,334 3,279,833 2,812,896 865,350
Ratio to Omaha 1.03 1.98 2.46 2.94 .66 -
p Ratio to Omaha 2.35 3.79 3.25 -
Twenty-Year Compoun
2.0% 3.6% 0.7% 2.1% 1.6% Twenty-Year Compound
Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) 19 39 49 29
— 5 ( Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) 1.1% 1.3% 4% L0
opulation Density (per
. 96 407 485 305 198 i i
square mile) Population Density (per 260 544 326 199
square mile)
State Capital No Yes No Yes Yes
State Capital No Yes No No
Major University Yes Yes Yes Yes No - —
" N - Major University No Yes Yes Yes
Mid-Region Capital Area ISdil:r;ze;:;i(;:a-l Denver Regional Di;::ﬁ;g:lsitigea
i i i . . . . . East-West Gatewa Metropolitan Area
Regional Planning Agency Council of Council of Council of Council of Planning . . Mid-America Regional Metropolitan Council . ¥ p
Governments Governments Governments Governments Organization Reglonal Plannmg Agency Counil (MARC) (Met Council) Council of Governments Plannlng Agency
EWGCOG MAPA
(MRCOG) (CAPCOG) (OKI) (DRCOG) (DMAMPO) ( ) ( )
. WWW.mrcog-nm. . . .
Website gov WWW.Capcog.org www.oki.org www.drcog.org | www.dmampo.org Website http://marc.org www.metrocouncil.org www.ewgateway.org WWW.mapacog.org
Rio Metro . . . . . .
. . Capital Metro Southwest Ohio Regional Des Moines Area Kansas City Area Bi-State Development . .
. . Regional Transit . . . . . - . . . . Transit Authority of
Regional Transit Agency District (Rio Metro Transportation Regional Transit Transportation Regional Transit Regional Transit Agency Transportation Metro Transit Agency (dba Metro Omaha (dba Metro)
RTD) Authority (CMTA) | Authority (SORTA) District (RTD) Authority (DART) Authority (ATA) Transit)
http://www.go-
. ) www.capmetro. www.rtd-denver. . . . .
Website www.riometro.org org metro.com/about- com www.ridedart.com Website www.kcata.org http://metrotransit.org | www.metrostlouis.org www.ometro.com
metro/sorta
Other Urban Transit Agencies 1 0 4 0 0 Other Urban Transit Agencies 0 0 0 0
Rural/Suburban Transit Agencies 0 1 2 0 1 Rural/Suburban Transit Agencies
System Size (VOMS —NTD 2011) System Size (VOMS — NTD 2011)
Ridership (total annual) | 1,237,867 34,385,196 18,957,732 97,784,885 4,043,128 Ridership (total annual) | 15,887,134 80,886,890 42,971,353 3,991,168
Vehicles Operated in Maximum Service Vehicles Operated in Maximum Service
Rail Vehicles 20 4 0 108 0 Rail Vehicles 0 a7 58 0
Buses 0 340 287 822 94 Buses 197 741 316 122
Demand Response 6 123 48 359 29 Demand Response 76 0 95 19
Ferryboat 0 0 0 0 0 Ferryboat 0 0 0 0
Rapid Transit Status (i.e. BRT or . . . . . Rapid Transit Status (i.e. BRT or
. Operation Operation Plannin Operation Plannin P = i i i i
Commuter Rail) p p g p g Commuter Rail) Operation Operation Operation Planning
Transit Budget FY 2010 (NTD 2011) (millions) Transit Budget FY 2010 (NTD 2011) (millions)
Regional Agency — Operating $25 $171 $84 $425 $20 Regional Agency — Operating $80 $290 $233 $26
Regional Agency — Capital $8 511 $23 $627 $5 Regional Agency — Capital $16 $514 $31 $5
Other Operators — Operating Other Operators — Operatin
. $43 N/a $27 N/a 54 p p g
(2011) (If available) (2011) (If available) 215 2101 »21 N/a
Other Operators — Capital (2011) Other Operators — Capital (2011)
) $2 N/a $4 N/a $1 P P
(If available) / / (if available) $3 $16 $24 N/a
25 - Data as of August, 2012
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Table 2.6: Characteristics of Peer Regional Planning Agencies?® (Albuquerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines)

Regional Planning
Agency Name

Mid-Region Council
of Governments
(MRCOG)

Capital Area Council
of Governments
(CAPCOG)

Ohio-Kentucky-
Indiana Regional
Council of
Governments (OKI)

S ancmat 1 ommer |

Denver Regional
Council of
Governments
(DRCOG)

Des Moines

Des Moines Area
Metropolitan
Planning
Organization
(DMAMPO)

Planning Area

Table 2.6: Characteristics of Peer Regional Planning Agencies (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

Peer Region

Regional Planning Agency
Name

Kansas City

Mid-America Regional
Council (MARC)

Minneapolis-St. Paul

Metropolitan Council
(Met Council)

St. Louis

East-West Gateway

Council of Governments

(EWGCOG)

Metropolitan Area
Planning Agency (MAPA)

Basic Description

All of Bernalillo,
Sandoval, Torrance,
Valencia and
Edgewood in Santa
Fe County

Bastrop, Blanco,
Burnet, Caldwell,
Fayette, Hays, Lee,
Llano, Travis and
Williamson Counties

Butler, Clermont,
Hamilton and Warren
counties in Ohio;
Boone, Campbell

and Kenton counties
in Kentucky; and
Dearborn County in
Indiana

Fifty-seven local
governments,
including all of seven
counties and two
city/counties

Parts of Dallas,
Madison, Polk and
Warren counties
including, but not
limited to, the

cities of Altoona,
Ankeny, Bondurant,
Carlisle, Clive, Des
Moines, Grimes,
Indianola, Johnston,
Mitchellville,
Norwalk, Pleasant
Hill, Polk City,
Urbandale, Waukee,
West Des Moines,
Windsor Heights

Planning Area

Johnson, Leavenworth,
Miami and Wyandotte in
Kansas; and Cass, Clay,
Jackson, Platte and Ray in
Missouri

Anoka, Carver, Dakota,
Hennepin, Ramsey, Scott
and Washington Counties

Franklin, Jefferson, St..
Charles and St.. Louis
Counties and the City of
St.. Louis in Missouri and

Madison, Monroe and St..

Clair Counties in Illinois

Washington, Douglas
and Sarpy Counties

in Nebraska and
Pottawattamie and Mills
Counties in lowa

Share of MSA Region 100% 107% 94% N/A N/A Share of MSA Region 94% 87% 80% 93%
(approximate) (approximate)
Board Structure Board Structure
Voting Board 57 254 over 100 57 2 Voting Board Members 33 17 24 9
Members
Board Size Full 57 member The governing body Executive Committee | The 57-member Full 42-member Board Size Full board of 33 members | Total of 17 Council 24-member board Board members represent
board serves as is the 25 to 27 of approximately DRCOG Board of policy committee are locally elected leaders | Members appointed includes 17 elected nine specific Council of
policy body. Twelve | member Executive 30 voting members Directors is made up | takes formal from the 9 member by the governor. officials, including 9 Officials member entities.
member Executive Committee of the has the authority elected officials who | action on issues. counties and the 6 largest | Thirty-three-member from Missouri and 8 Full governing body is a
Board acts as COG. to make all policy are the appointed Five advisory cities in the region: Transportation Advisory from lllinois. 6 appointed | 63-member council of
administrative and decisions for OKI representatives of members include Kansas City, KS; Kansas Board contains one regional citizens also officials, representing each
financial body for Board. Board local government representative from City, MO; Independence, | representative from each | serve. Both state DOTs of the 63 governmental
MRCOG. of Directors is members. The the Des Moines MO; Lee’s Summit, MO; county, 10 municipal and representatives units which comprise
approximately 117 City and County of International Airport, Olathe, KS; Overland Park, | officials; 7 county from the State, including | MAPA. Current
members. Denver has both FTA FHWA, Heart of KS. commissioners, 8 citizen | the transit agency are membership consists of
City and County lowa RTA and lowa representatives, 4 state nonvoting members five counties, 38 towns,
representation as DOT. and regional agency 19 special purpose
it pays for both representatives, 4 modal governmental entities and
memberships. The representatives (2 transit, one city council
City and County 1 non-motorized, 1
of Broomfield is freight)
represented only
as the City of
Broomfield. The
16-member Regional
Transportation
Committee
administers the
transportation
planning/MPO
responsibilities.
26 - Data as of August, 2012
L ] /) .- 45 ______________________________________________________________________________________|]
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Table 2.6: Characteristics of Peer Regional Planning Agencies?® (Albuguerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines)

Mid-Region Council

Capital Area Council

Ohio-Kentucky-

T

Denver Regional

Des Moines

Des Moines Area
Metropolitan

Method of Selection

Appointed by
member entities

The CAPCOG General
Assembly, made up
of representatives

of member
organizations,
nominates and
selects city and
county elected
officials to serve

on the Executive

Appointed by
member entities

Elected officials
appointed by
member entities

Appointed by
member entities

conjunction with
the MPO — Capital
Area Metropolitan
Planning
Organization

Transit Oriented
Development

Table 2.6: Characteristics of Peer Regional Planning Agencies (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

Peer Region

Kansas City

Minneapolis-St. Paul

St. Louis

East-West Gateway

Omaha

Regional Planning Indiana Regional Council of ) Regional Planning Agency Mid-America Regional Metropolitan Council : Metropolitan Area
of Governments of Governments ) Planning . ) Council of Governments .
Agency Name Council of Governments o Name Council (MARC) (Met Council) Planning Agency (MAPA)
(MRCOG) (CAPCOG) Governments (OKI) (DRCOG) Organization (EWGCOG)
(DMAMPO)

Method of Selection

Appointed by member
entities

Appointed by governor

Elected members and
appointed by elected
officials of member
entities

Appointed by member
entities

Security and Emergency
Services

Committee.
Board Members Appointed by / Representing Board Members Appointed by / Representing
State 1/1 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 State 0/0 17/0 1/0 0/0
Counties 8/8 11/11 8/8 8/8 5/5 Counties 18/14 0/0 15/15 3/3
Largest city 7/7 1/1 0/0 1/1 9/9 Largest City 5/4 0/0 3/3 2/2
DOT 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 DOT 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Transit Agency 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1 Transit Agency 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Other Cities/Districts 41/41 10/10 17/17 48/48 27/27 Other Cities/Districts 10/15 0/16 5/5 4/4
At Large 0/0 3/3 5/5 0/0 0/0 At Large 0/0 0/1 0/1 0/0
Planning Functions Planning Functions
MPO !transportatlon Yes No Yes Yes Yes MPO {transportatlon Yes Yes Yes Yes
planning) planning)
Water. Resources Yes Yes Yes Yes No Water Resources Planning Yes Yes No No
Planning
Open Space Planning Yes Yes Yes No No Open Space Planning Yes Yes No No
Land Use Planning Yes Yes Yes Yes No Land Use Planning Yes Yes No Yes
Other Economic Economic Clean Air; Economic | Disaster Bicycle and Other Aviation; Community and | Aviation System Planning | Emergency Response; Environmental;
Development Development; Development Planning;Aging/ Pedestrian Planning Workforce Development; Environmental; Community and Economic
Workforce Air Quality; Solid Seniors; Bicycle/Pedestrian Community Engagement; | Development
Development Waste Planning Sustainability; Planning; Aging/Seniors; Aviation
Transportation Bicycle and Local Government
planning in Pedestrian Planning; Services; Homeland

Operating Functions

Operating Functions

Transit Operations Yes No No No No Transit Operations No Yes No No
Mobility Services Yes No Yes No No Mobility Services No Yes No No
Ridesharing No No Yes Yes No Ridesharing No Yes No Yes
_\:_\r/:::?n\née:;ier No No No No No Wastewater Treatment No Yes No No
Solid Waste Disposal No No No No No Solid Waste Disposal Yes No No No
Parks No No No No No Parks No Yes No No
Convention Center No No No No No Convention Center No No No No
Affordable Housing No No No No No Affordable Housing No Yes No No
26 - Data as of August, 2012
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Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies?” (Albuguerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines)

T

Des Moines

may join district
with 2/3 vote by RTD
board; withdrawal
permitted by
resolution of
government unit

through amendment
adoption and
approval of

Board of County
Commissioners

and member
governments

out by vote

out by resolution.

Service Area

Service Area
Description

8 municipalities and
3 counties

8 municipalities and
unincorporated parts
of 2 counties

1 county and
portions of 3 other
counties

6 counties plus
two city/county
jurisdictions

All of Polk County
including the cities
of: Des Moines,
Altoona, Ankeny,
Clive, Johnston,
Urbandale, West Des
Moines, Windsor
Heights, Mitchellville,
Bondurant, Pleasant
Hill, Carlisle, Alleman,

Operating Funds

Sources for Local Share of Operating Funds

Income Taxes

Sales Taxes

Property Taxes

Gas Taxes

Other Dedicated
Taxes

Other Funds

27 - Data as of August, 2012

Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

Kansas City Minneapolis-St. Paul

C s T omm

and Missouri, approved
by the U.S. Congress

Metropolitan Council

compact and ratified by
U.S. Congress

Regional Agenc Rio Metro Regional Capital Metro Southwest Ohio Regional Des Moines Area Kansas City Area Bi-State Development Transit Authority of
g Nameg ¥ Transit District (Rio Transportation Regional Transit Transportation Regional Transit Regional Agency Name Transportation Authority Metro Transit Agency (dba Metro S E Me\'iro)
Metro RTD) Authority (CMTA) Authority (SORTA) District (RTD) Authority (DART) (ATA) Transit)
Other Urban Transit | 1 0 4 0 0 Other Urban Transit 0 0 0 0
Agencies Agencies
Rural/Suburban 0 1 2 0 1 Rural/Suburban Transit 2 9 3 1
Transit Agencies Agencies
Unit of Membership | Defined by county Defined by Defined by county Defined by state Defined by county Unit of Membership Defined by compact Defined by state Defined by compact Defined by municipality
and municipal municipality and municipal and municipal
governments governments governments
District Mechanism District Mechanism
Government unit City opt-in City/county opt-in Cities can optin and | Cities can opt in and Compact between Kansas | Operating division of the | Defined by an interstate City/county opt-in

through their governing
board approval and
proclamation by the
transit authority

Service Area

Service Area Description

4 Missouri counties and 3
Kansas counties

7 counties

1 municipality and 6
counties in 2 states

5 municipalities and 1
county in Nebraska and

1 municipality in lowa.
Service outside of the City
of Omaha is contracted.

Funds

Polk City, Granger
and Grimes
service Area share Service Area Share of
of MSA Population 57% 53% 40% 103% 73% . 37% 55% 55% 67%
MSA Population (2010)
(2010)
Transit Agency Financials (2011) Transit Agency Financials (2011)
Five-Year Average
Total Operating Five-Year Average Total
Expenditures $22 $162 $87 $423 $20 Operating Expenditures $76 $275 $223 $24
(millions) (2007- (millions) (2007-2011)
2011)
Local Share of 529% 77% 45% 55% 20% Local Share of Operating 69% 6% 66% 519%

Sources for Local Share of Operating Funds

Income Taxes

Sales Taxes

Property Taxes

Gas Taxes

Other Dedicated Taxes

Other Funds

49
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Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies?’ (Albuquerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines) Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

Regional Agenc Rio Metro Regional Capital Metro Southwest Ohio Regional Des Moines Area Kansas City Area Bi-State Development Transit Authority of
& Nameg i Transit District (Rio Transportation Regional Transit Transportation Regional Transit Regional Agency Name Transportation Authority Metro Transit Agency (dba Metro Bl (el Me\'iro)
Metro RTD) Authority (CMTA) Authority (SORTA) District (RTD) Authority (DART) (ATA) Transit)
_I;x:—lYg:;iﬁ;/lerage Five-Year Average Total
Expenditures 531 $37 $17 $438 $6 Capital Expenditures $14 $226 $42 $5
L (millions)
(millions)
Local Share of Capital 2% 0% 12% 64% 11% Local Share of Capital 14% 35.2% 314% 0%
Dedicated Transit Funding Dedicated Transit Funding
Tax rate and type 0.125 cent gross 1% sales tax in 3/10 of 1% of 1% district-wide sales | Cities are allowed Tax rate and type Kansas City, Mo levies a Portion of Motor St.. Clair County adopted | Local property taxes in the
receipts tax collected | member cities the earnings tax and use tax under the lowa Code .375% (3/8%) dedicated Vehicle Sales Tax. a .5 cent sales tax to amount of .04933% of the
in Bernalillo, collected by the City to levy a dedicated ATA sales tax, which is 2006 constitutional support MetroLink light levy amount of a home.
Sandoval and of Cincinnati. The property tax for set to expire in 2024; amendment increased rail. The City of St.. Louis
Valencia counties; earnings tax is paid transit of 95 cents Missouri provides transit | transportation allocation | and St.. Louis County
50% dedicated to Rail by everyone who per $1,000 assessed funding ($461,000 in to 100% of the MVST, with | collect a .25 cent and .5
Runner commuter works or lives in the valuation FY 2009), but future minimum 40% for transit. | cent sales taxes. Metro
rail and 50% to Rio city. amounts are uncertain receives all of the .25
Metro bus; 50% of cent sales tax. Almost
0.125 gross receipts 100% of .5 cent sales tax
tax in Santa Fe collected by the City of
County goes to Rail St.. Louis goes to Metro.
Runner commuter Prop A (2012) provides an
rail additional .5 cent sales
tax from St.. Louis County
and .25 cent sales tax
from the City of St.. Louis.
The County splits its Prop
A money between Metro
and roadway projects.
Board Structure Board Structure
Number of Voting 19 8 13 15 9 Number of Voting 10 17 10 5
Members Members
Number of Elected Number of Elected 0 0 0 0
Officials 19 3 0 15 N/a Officials
el 0, 0, 0,
Per.c<.ent Elected 100% 38% 0% 100% N/a Percent Elected Officials 0% 0% 0% 0
Officials
Method of Selection | Appointed by Appointed by Appointed by Directly elected Appointed by Method of Selection Appointed by a Appointed by the Five are appointed by the | Four at-large members
members according members (and member city members according combination of member governor, representing Governor of Missouri. appointed by Mayor of
to the allocation groups of members) | (Cincinnati), with to the allocation governments and the districts, with one at-large | Two are appointed by Omaha with approval by
formula. according to the proportional formula governors of each representative. the Governor of lllinois, City and County Boards
allocation formula. representation from state, according to the the rest are appointed and one nominated by
member counties allocation formula by member counties in member jurisdiction and
Illinois. appointed by Mayor of
Omaha with City and
County Board approval.
Board Members Representing Board Members Representing
State State
Largest City Largest City
Other/Districts Other/Districts
At Large At Large

27 - Data as of August, 2012
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Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies?’ (Albuquerque, Austin, Cincinnati, Denver & Des Moines) Table 2.7: Characteristics of Peer Regional Transit Agencies (Kansas City, Minneapolis-St. Paul, St. Louis & Omaha)

Regional Agenc Rio Metro Regional Capital Metro Southwest Ohio Regional Des Moines Area Kansas City Area Bi-State Development Transit Authority of
& Nameg i Transit District (Rio Transportation Regional Transit Transportation Regional Transit Regional Agency Name Transportation Authority Metro Transit Agency (dba Metro BEle (i Me\éro)
Metro RTD) Authority (CMTA) Authority (SORTA) District (RTD) Authority (DART) (ATA) Transit)
Agency Powers Agency Powers
Set Fare Policy Yes No Yes Yes Yes Set Fare Policy Yes Yes Yes Yes
Condemn Property No Yes Yes Yes Yes Condemn Property Yes Yes Yes Yes
Expand District Yes No Yes Yes No Expand Districts No No No Yes
Increase Taxes No No Yes Yes Yes Increase Taxes Yes Yes No Yes
Issue Debt Securities/ Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Issue Debt Securities/ Yes Yes Yes Yes
Borrow Money Borrow Money
Publlc-Prlyate Yes Yes Yes Yes No Public-Private Partnership Yes Yes Yes Yes
Partnership
Construct Roads/ No Yes No Yes Yes Construct Roads/Access No No Yes No
Access
Provide or Operate Provide or Operate
Facilities Outside Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Facilities Outside District No Yes Yes Yes
District
Approve the Region’s Approve the Region’s
Transportation No No No No No Transportation No Yes No No
Improvement Plan Improvement Plan (TIP)
(TIP)
Overrule Local Land- Overrule Local Land-
Use Decisions, i.e. Use Decisions, i.e.
Developments of No No No No No Development of Regional No Yes No No
Regional Impact (DRI) Impact (DRI) review
review authority authority
27 - Data as of August, 2012
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Based on an understanding of the existing public transit
network, initial stakeholder input and the findings of
past transit planning efforts, the preliminary Transit
Vision Statement below was discussed and refined in
order to guide development and assessment of the

3.1 A Transit Vision Statement

Public transit will be an integral element of the
Omaha region’s Built Capital, providing a key
mobility option in a comprehensive multi-modal
system. This system will provide access between
home, work, commercial, educational, civic and
recreational destinations. Over time, public
transit investments will contribute to a region of
interconnected, diverse, walkable communities

3.2 Transit Goals and Objectives

The preliminary Goals and Objectives outlined below
address considerations related to the design and
operation of the proposed transit system, including
leveraging transit investments to achieve broader
economic and environmental benefits.

System Design Goal:

Utilize targeted investments in public transit to
provide increased regional mobility options in a
resource-efficient manner.

System Design Objectives

1. Create a comprehensive public transit system
incrementally, expanding the system in phases that
build effectively upon one another and result in a
cohesive “hierarchy” of service types over time.

2. Focus investments along corridors where transit
service will complement and strengthen existing
development patterns and/or support efficient new
development and public infrastructure.

3. Provide initial service upgrades to and between
origin-destination markets in which public transit
can be competitive with automobiles, while
maintaining essential services in transit-dependent

Regional Transit Vision scenarios. The preliminary vision
is supplemented by several draft Goals and Objectives
which led to the development of system performance
measures and the prioritization of candidate projects.

that provide balanced transportation access.
Coordinated public and private investments in
infrastructure and development at key nodes
along high-priority corridors will move transit
beyond “lifeline” service to a mode of choice for
a larger audience, contributing significantly to
regional quality of life and environmental goals.

areas, balancing the need for high-capacity “choice”
routes and “last mile” connectivity.

4. Attract new transit users by offering high quality,
user-friendly and convenient service that provides
an attractive alternative to private automobile use,
accessed at convenient station/stop areas that are
safe, pedestrian-friendly and integral elements of
each unique community or neighborhood.

5. Select transit technologies that most efficiently
serve local transportation needs in a cost-effective
manner, including implementing traffic signal
priority (TSP) technology to not only benefit transit
users but also address traffic safety and emergency
response time considerations.

Economic Development Goal:

Utilize targeted investments in public transit to
support regional efforts to improve the business
environment and attract a high quality workforce.

Economic Development Objectives

1. Leverage public investment in transit by providing
improved service to established activity centers and
areas with strong economic development potential,



thereby encouraging a cycle of reinvestment and
infill in support of broader community goals.

2. Provide increased service to the Downtown
and urban core as uniquely pedestrian-friendly
destinations, thereby reducing the demand for
parking spaces in the Downtown over time and
providing for additional development (and therefore
value capture) opportunities.

3. Expand beyond the “downtown-centric” pattern of
the transit system over time to better serve cross-
town travel patterns and movement between non-
centralized activity centers.

4. Understand and leverage the desire of younger
“knowledge” workers to choose a vibrant urban
lifestyle, thereby attracting and maintaining a strong
business community.

Sustainability and Quality of Life Goal:

Utilize targeted investments in public transit

to further regional efforts to become a more
environmentally responsible, cost effective and
desirable living environment.

An overview of potential future transit modes for

the Omaha region is provided below. Described are
the basic features and purpose of each mode as it
relates to an overall system, outlining key assumptions
regarding the service type. Those assumptions inform

3.3.1 Light Rail Transit (LRT)

Light Rail Transit service operates on a fixed guideway,
offering high capacity regional or urban service.
Stations are typically spaced between approximately
one-half (1/2) to two miles apart, depending upon
vehicle type and the existing or anticipated density
of development. LRT service is often provided in an
exclusive right-of-way, such as within the median of a
major arterial, but it can be operated in mixed traffic.
Peak period service typically operates every five to

15 minutes throughout the day, with lower frequency
during off-peak hours. Electric or hybrid (diesel and
electric) vehicle technology is typically used, arriving

Sustainability and Quality of Life Objectives:

1. Facilitate the development of a hierarchy of
arterial corridors and activity nodes outside the
urban core that can be cost-effectively served and
linked together by transit to reduce automobile
dependence, implementing a transit-supportive
land use pattern over time in these focused areas.

2. Mitigate increasing traffic congestion and its
detrimental effects on air quality by enabling a
convenient mode shift to transit for Omaha region
residents who choose to reside in proximity to
transit-served corridors.

3. Discourage continued “leapfrog” development into
outlying areas that cannot be efficiently served by
transit and instead encourage infill development
along transit-served corridors, by ensuring that
incentives for development are targeted to
projects that strengthen a pattern of contiguous
development.

4. Locate new civic, cultural and recreational resources
(such as schools, libraries and hospitals) only on
sites that are currently served by transit or targeted
for transit service expansion.

the development of project scenarios described in
the chapters that follow. Based on ongoing market
assessment work by TMD, potential elements may be
adjusted to better align with the structure of future
service recommendations.

and departing from permanent boarding platforms that
often include shelters. “Next train” information can

be provided for waiting passengers. Depending on the
location, ridership estimates and mode(s) of passenger
arrival for each station, some park and ride facilities may
be necessary. LRT is often an upgrade from an existing
bus route resulting from increased demand in ridership
and/or land use densities, as LRT typically serves

higher density areas or employment/entertainment
destinations. LRT will be considered in transit corridors
meriting the highest service level and with the best
potential for transit-supportive development.

28 -Chicago to Council Bluffs — Omaha Regional Passenger Rail System Tier 1 Environmental Impact Statement. Prepared Federal Railroad Administration, lowa
Department of Transportation, and lllinois Department of Transportation, May 2013

3.3.2 Streetcar

Streetcars operate on a fixed guideway, offering

urban circulator service. Stations are typically spaced
between one-quarter (1/4) to one mile apart. Service
can be provided in an exclusive right-of-way, such as
in the median of a major arterial, or streetcars may be
street running depending upon existing or projected
traffic volumes. Peak period service is every five to
ten minutes throughout the day, with lower frequency
during off-peak hours. Electric vehicle technology is
typically used, arriving and departing from permanent

3.3.3 Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)

Bus Rapid Transit offers upgraded urban arterial bus
service with many of the passenger amenities and
conveniences of rail. BRT provides faster service by
limiting stops to enhanced passenger stations located
near major activity centers along an arterial roadway
corridor. Stations are typically spaced one-third (1/3)
to one mile apart. Service is often provided in a lane
which is reserved for BRT during peak periods and
allows mixed traffic at other times. Traffic signal priority
(TSP) and queue jumps may be used to improve speeds
and service reliability despite sharing the right-of-way
with automobiles. Peak period service would mean the
enhanced buses would arrive every ten to 15 minutes
throughout the day. Coordinated shelter and vehicle
design is used to establish a strong visual identity for
the BRT service. Low-floor boarding provides the
convenience of LRT service. “Next bus” information
and semi-enclosed waiting areas with enhanced lighting
further improve the experience for passengers. BRT
can be used as an upgrade from an existing arterial

bus route as ridership demand warrants. For purposes
of this study, three BRT formats are considered as
candidate projects:

® Arterial (Mixed Traffic) BRT: BRT operating in
mixed traffic on arterials, potentially with a bus-
only lane restriction during peak travel periods and
incorporating limited stops, station enhancements,
TSP, queue jumps and “next bus” technology.

3.3.4 Key Corridor Local Bus Routes

Key corridor local bus routes offer frequent service
in the most heavily traveled urban corridors of the
region while still making frequent stops. Convenient
transfers between key bus routes and fixed guideway
transit modes are vital to the success of the overall

www.heartland2050.org/connections

boarding platforms that may include shelters. Streetcars
can be used as an upgrade from an existing bus route as
ridership demand warrants, as streetcars typically serve
higher density areas or employment/entertainment
destinations. The ongoing Central Omaha Transit
Alternatives Analysis is exploring the feasibility of
streetcar service in Omaha. One or more alternatives
based on the findings of this study are reflected in the
scenarios.

® Busway BRT: BRT operating in a dedicated right-
of-way requiring significant street reconstruction
and also incorporating limited stops, station
enhancements, TSP and “next bus” technology.

® Freeway BRT: BRT operating as an express rush
hour service in mixed traffic on freeways, with
limited stops in the urban core and at satellite
park-and-ride sites. Freeway BRT is distinguished
from traditional express bus services in the use of
the freeway shoulder in congested areas to provide
more reliable transit travel times. Stations are also
typically located in or near freeway interchanges
to reduce transit travel times. Service is typically
limited to peak periods; during other times of
day, limited or no service may be provided. Until
ridership demand builds to a point where freeway
BRT service becomes feasible, service could be
provided in these corridors by implementing a
“vanpool” system. Agency-owned vans can be used
by groups of commuters who either live in close
proximity to one another or who meet at outlying
park-and-ride facilities before embarking on their
commute together.

The ongoing Central Omaha Transit Alternatives Analysis
is exploring the feasibility of BRT service in Omaha. One
or more alternatives based on the findings of this study
are reflected in the scenarios.

public transit network. System improvements include
an expanded service area, providing better cross-town
service, reducing wait times and providing for easier
transfers. Buses share curbside lanes with mixed traffic
and are routed along arterial roadways. Service typically

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



operates every 15 to 30 minutes throughout the day.
Diesel or hybrid “rubber tire” vehicle technology is used,
serving permanently designated boarding areas that
may include shelters, especially at high-traffic locations

3.3.5 Supporting Local Bus Routes

Local bus routes are the essential component to
increased mobility and access throughout the region.
Convenient transfers to key bus routes and fixed
guideway transit modes are imperative. System
improvements include serving more areas and
facilitating easier transfers. Buses share curbside lanes

3.3.6 Community Circulators/Shuttles

“Last-mile” connectivity from terminals or other major
transit stations to reach a broader activity center area
can be provided with circulators or shuttle buses.
Where localized demand warrants the service, a variety
of routing and operating models can be considered.
Circulators and shuttles can be fixed-route, flexible route
or demand responsive. Vans or small buses are typically
used, operating in mixed traffic on-street. Headways

3.3.7 Paratransit

Paratransit is a vital service component that provides
door-to-door “demand responsive” service for
customers who are elderly or disabled and who reside
within 3/4 of a mile of a fixed transit route. Riders
are typically required to request a ride in advance,
with service provided using ADA-accessible vans or

3.3.8 General Public Rural Transit

General public dial-a-ride service, or “rural transit”
service, provides demand responsive service typically
coordinated through a central dispatch location, for
areas in which fixed route transit cannot be efficiently
provided due to low ridership potential. This service
level will be considered for outlying areas, including
jurisdictions that might contract with Metro to provide

3.3.9 Intercity Rail

Intercity rail routes connect Omaha to other
Midwestern cities and beyond, utilizing dedicated rail
rights-of-way to be shared with freight rail. Intercity
rail typically only stops at a few major stations. In the
Omaha region, Amtrak currently stops at one station
south of downtown Omaha near the original Burlington

and transfer points. The enhanced service levels of key
bus routes can be a precursor to BRT or LRT service in
arterial corridors.

with vehicular traffic and are routed along arterial
roadways. Approximately 30 to 60 minute headways are
provided throughout the day and buses make frequent
stops. Diesel or hybrid “rubber tire” vehicle technology
is used, serving permanently designated boarding areas
that may include shelters.

can vary considerably based upon local needs.

Cost sharing between the transit agency and local
communities or significant demand generators (such as
major employers or institutions) may be appropriate.
In some cases, the transit agency may lease vehicles

to private operators or contract directly with private
operators.

small buses which operate in mixed traffic on-street.
Paratransit provides access to health care, shopping, or
other destinations, including connections or transfers
to other ADA-accessible transit modes, such as bus and
BRT.

this service. It is distinguished from federally mandated
paratransit service in areas served by fixed route bus
service that is often available to the general public for
all trip purposes. In many cases, however, scheduling
priority is given to elderly or disabled persons making
medically necessary or other important trips.

depot on 10th Street. Service planning for intercity rail
is not the focus of the Heartland Connections study.
However, this study does take into consideration the
potential for accommodating key transfer connections
from the regional transit system to intercity service in
limited locations. The recently completed Chicago to

Council Bluffs — Omaha Passenger Rail System Tier | EIS*
includes a phased development plan for intercity rail
service between Chicago, Des Moines, Council Bluffs,
and Omaha. The study estimates that the service could
reach Council Bluffs by 2030, and Omaha by 2040, with
up to four round trips per day. The proposed station

Available passenger amenities will vary by transit
mode, ridership volume and the immediate context of
the transit station or stop. Amenities that should be
considered and provided where warranted include:

® Ticketing facilities, including staffed booths at high
volume stations and vending machines at lower
volume stations;

® One or more passenger shelters, to provide
protection from inclement weather and where
passenger-operated warming heaters may be
installed;

® Passenger seating, with fixed benches under
shelters and along platforms;

® Bike racks within close proximity to passenger
waiting/boarding areas;

@® Additional lighting for all passenger waiting/
boarding areas;

® Refuse and recycling containers in and around
passenger waiting/boarding areas;

® Passenger washrooms at high volume and staffed
stations;

® User information, such as “next bus/train” tracking,
automated fare payment and trip planning
information, including on-line tools;

® Park-and-ride facilities at outlying station locations;
and/or

® Pedestrian overpasses for accessing median-running
transit services along high-traffic arterials.

in Omaha is adjacent to the existing Amtrak station, on
10th Street approximately 0.7 miles south of Downtown
Omaha. Alternative stations locations are also proposed
at the CenturyLink Center and north of TD Ameritrade
Park.

I | (53 I | 5 O |

www.heartland2050.org/connections www.heartland2050.org/connections



I | (5() T | (5]

www.heartland2050.org/connections

4 INTEGRATED SERVICE PLANNING FINANCIAL MODEL e o o

To facilitate the development and evaluation of
future transit service scenarios, the team developed
a sophisticated, spreadsheet-based service planning
financial model. The model takes into consideration
present and future funding streams — including
potential new sources of funding — to identify a wide
range of fiscally constrained capital and operating
program scenarios in which revenues balance
expenditures over time. The overall structure of the
customized service planning financial model prepared
for this study is depicted in Figure 4.1

As shown in Figure 4.1, the financial model integrates
macroeconomic assumptions; revenue projections
for existing and proposed funding sources; operations
and maintenance (O&M) cost drivers; capital cost
assumptions; inflation and cost escalation; and long-
and short-term borrowing to estimate future transit

agency cash flows under any proposed future scenario.

These are summarized in the following sections, along

Figure 4.1: Structure of Financial Model

Economic Assumptions Project Service Level
Inflation Freguency
Escalation Span

Running Time

Schedules

Revenue Sources

Federal

Formula Allocations

Discretionary Grants
State

Capital Assistance

Operating Assistance
Local

Tax Types

Tax Rates

Tax Base

Other Revenue Qperating Expenditures

with key assumptions built into the model. Many

of these assumptions are easily modified and such
modifications may be applied as circumstances change
or to test the sensitivity of the model to these key
assumptions.

The model evaluates the viability of potential
investment program alternatives for the period
between 2013 and 2050. A scenario is considered

to be financially viable when the transit agency can
maintain a positive cash balance and an adequate
debt service coverage ratio until 2050 or all debts

are paid off, whichever is later. The model has been
developed to produce relevant performance measures,
such as service statistics, productivity metrics and
subregional equity measures for ease of assessment of
the relative merits of each scenario being considered.
To fully reflect the cash flow implications of long-term
borrowing through the 2050 planning horizon, the
model runs through the year 2070.

Capital
Costs

Preliminary Cash Flow Project Timing

Capital Revenues Construction Duration
System-Generated Capital Expenditures Dpen_inq Year
Fare Policy Operating Revenues Phasing

Replacement

Financial Assumptions Debt Requirements

Interest Rates
Debt Terms

Long

-Term Bonds Final Cash Flow

Short -Term Paper

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections




4.1 Revenue Sources

The model contains a wide array of existing and
potential future revenue and funding sources. In
addition to fares and other system-generated revenues,
funding from local, MPO, state and federal sources is
assumed to support the transit program. The model
allows for these existing funding streams to be adjusted
in future years, as well as the introduction of the

4.1.1 Federal Funding

Federal Formula Program Grants

The Federal Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula
Funding program distributes a portion of federal
surface transportation trust fund revenues to transit
systems for capital support, using an allocation formula
that considers population, population density, fixed
guideway route miles, revenue vehicle miles and
passenger miles. The distribution is partially based

on the amount of service provided relative to other
systems in the nation. It can also be used for some
operational costs, including preventive maintenance.
Before accounting for system expansion, the revenue
model assumes that Metro’s Section 5307 funding

will grow at a rate of 0.25 percent per year above the
rate of inflation, starting from a base allocation equal
to Metro’s average for the years 2006 through 2013.
This growth rate is based on average statewide growth
in Section 5307 program allocations to the state of
Nebraska between 2004 and 2012, based on data from
the FTA.

As the system grows in Omaha, it stands to receive
higher levels of funding based on these formulas. To
calculate future Section 5307 contributions, the model
assumes the same distribution formula will be used and
that service levels on all other transit systems remain
constant. The model makes no distinction between
capital and operating uses of funds. Additional Section
5307 funding is calculated based on the increase in
vehicle revenue miles in the system. A value of $0.4309
per vehicle revenue mile was used, which is the average
dollar amount given out by the program in 2012. Thus,
the total Section 5307 distribution in each year of the
model is the sum of the base Metro allocation (as
described in the previous paragraph) and the additional
distribution based on the additional revenue miles
operated over Metro’s 2013 service levels. To produce
a more conservative estimate, the additional share of

potential new funding sources identified in Section 2.7,
including regional sales taxes, expansion of the property
tax to surrounding counties and establishment of Transit
Assessment Districts in key corridors. For each of the
funding sources described below, assumptions were
made with respect to both the base level of funding and
how that funding would increase in the future.

Section 5307 funding (the allocation above the inflation
adjusted 2013 amount) was reduced by 25 percent.

Federal Discretionary Program Grants

The federal government also contributes to the capital
costs of new premium transit projects through its New
Starts discretionary grant program. The model assumes
a federal capital cost share of 40 percent on federally-
funded capital projects. Because federal funding is not
guaranteed even for eligible projects, the model also
allows projects to be associated with a user-defined
“New Starts Funding Probability” and reduces assumed
revenues in the cash flow calculations accordingly.

Federal Surface Transportation Program Funds

The federal Surface Transportation Program (STP)
provides funds to states and MPOs based on a formula
including total lane-miles of federal-aid highways,
average VMT, and statewide fuel tax contributions.

STP funds can be used for a wide variety of projects
including federal-aid highways, bridges, and transit
capital projects. The vision scenarios assume that MAPA
will allocate $750,000 of its STP funds to transit projects,
increasing annually at the rate of inflation.

Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ)
Program

The federal CMAQ program provides grants to state and
local governments for projects that improve air quality
and reduce congestion, with the goal of complying

with the federal Clean Air Act. In states that are in full
attainment, which includes Nebraska, CMAQ funds

may be spent on any STP-eligible projects. The vision
scenarios assume that $750,000 in CMAQ funds will be
allocated to Metro beginning in 2018, with that amount
remaining fixed in future years and no increasing with
inflation.

4.1.2 State Funding

State Operating Assistance

The State of Nebraska distributes operating assistance
to local transit systems. According to Metro financial
documents, the agency received approximately
$758,000 in state funding in 2012 and has budgeted for
an allocation of $725,000 in 2013. Scenarios assume
that state operating assistance in future years will be
equal to the average level of the years 2006 through
2013 (budgeted) and that this level of funding will rise
with the rate of inflation. Actual state funding varies
from year to year and sometimes exceeds the historical

4.1.3 Local Funding

At present, the only local source of non-system-generated
revenue comes from property taxes levied within the City
of Omaha. However, the model is constructed to allow
for both expansion of the property tax to surrounding
communities, as well as the introduction of new local
revenue sources including sales taxes, Transit Assessment
Districts, vehicle registration fees and private grants.

Property Tax

At present, Metro receives a substantial share of its
funding from local property taxes collected within the
City of Omaha. Metro’s share of the Omaha property
tax levy amounted to a rate of 0.050257 percent in
2012, resulting in an estimated $13.4 million in revenue.
Metro’s 2013 budget projects local tax revenue to

the agency to increase to $14.0 million in the current
year. For future years, the model estimates property
tax revenues based on (1) an assumed 2012 tax base
for incorporated and unincorporated portions of each
county, as provided by MAPA, (2) assumed growth in the
tax base and (3) a user-defined property tax rate, which
may also change at user-defined future dates. In future
years, the tax base is assumed to grow in proportion to
future population growth, keeping pace with inflation
on a per-capita basis. Future population growth for
each of the eight counties in the study area was based
on forecasts provided by the lowa Data Center and the
Nebraska Department of Economic Development.

Options for raising additional revenue for transit in the
region include both raising the property tax levy for
transit and/or expanding the jurisdiction in which the tax
is collected. Table 4.1 shows the estimated 2012 property
tax base in Omaha and the surrounding counties, as well

average, typically resulting from one-time grants of
additional operating assistance from the state.

State Capital Funding

At present, Metro does not receive any capital assistance
from the State of Nebraska. However, the model is
constructed to allow for such funding in future scenarios
if desired. For each project, a user-defined “Probability
of State Capital Funding” parameter exists. For any
projects where this parameter is greater than zero, the
total capital cost of the project is assumed to receive 100
percent state funding, multiplied by the user-defined
probability of state funding.

as the revenue potential under an example property tax
rate of 0.10 percent. This is the maximum allowable rate
in current legislation. As shown, Omaha and Douglas
County account for the largest share of the tax base,
representing 28.3 percent and 38.4 percent of the eight-
county total, respectively.

Table 4.1: Property Tax Base

Estimated Estimated

Revenue Revenue
Existing at Existing at Example
Tax Base 0.05% Rate 0.10% Rate
Jurisdiction (Smillions) (Smillions) (Smillions)
Cass County, NE n/a n/a n/a
Douglas County, NE $36,071 $18.0 $36.1
Omaha 526,569 S13.3 526.6
Douglas County
Other 59,502 54.8 59.5
Sarpy County, NE $11,047 $5.5 $11.0
Saunders County, $2,506 S1.3 $2.5
NE
Washington n/a n/a n/a
County, NE
Harrison County, IA $716 $S0.4 $0.7
Mills County, IA $1,355 $0.7 $1.4
Pottawattamie $6,281 $3.1 $6.3
County, IA
8-County Total $57,976 $29.0 $58.0
Sales Tax

Table 4.2 summarizes the taxable retail sales in each

of the eight study area counties in 2011 (the most
recent year for which data was available), as well as the
revenue potential at an example rate of 0.5 percent. As
shown, Douglas County’s share of taxable retail sales in
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the region is even larger than its share of the property
tax base, accounting for 76.2 percent of the regional
total. Nearly all of the remainder is in Sarpy County,
Nebraska and Pottawattamie County, lowa.

Transit Assessment Districts

Transit Assessment Districts (TADs) established
immediately surrounding key public transit corridors
could be created to target financial support from
properties most directly impacted by the public transit
investment. In these districts, a supplemental property
tax would be levied on property within the district in
addition to the existing property tax supporting transit
in the City of Omaha. Nine potential districts are
defined in the model, each of which corresponds to

a designated corridor within the City of Omaha. The
property tax base within each district was estimated
based on properties within one-half mile of the
designated corridor, using the same parcel data for
which county-wide estimates were developed. Future
year growth in the tax base follows the same procedure
that was applied to Douglas County as a whole.

Table 4.2: Sales Tax Base

Estimated
Revenue at
2011 Taxable Example 0.5%
Retail Sales Rate

Jurisdiction (Smillions) (Smillions)
Cass County, NE $108 $S0.5
Douglas County, NE $8,213 $41.1
Sarpy County, NE $1,118 $5.6
Saunders County, NE $96 $0.5
Washington County, NE $127 $0.6
Harrison County, 1A $65 $0.3
Mills County, 1A $61 $S0.3
Pottawattamie County, IA $997 $5.0
8-County Total $10,786 $53.9

A “Regional Mobility Sales Tax” is a potential funding
source suggested by community leaders early in the
planning process. At present no such tax exists. In the
model, it is available at the county level for each of the
eight counties in the study area. The model assumes

a base level of taxable sales in each of the counties,
provided by the lowa and Nebraska Departments of
Revenue. This base level of sales is assumed to grow
in future years in proportion to projected population
growth, adjusted for recent trends in inflation-adjusted
per-capita spending for the years 1997 through 2011 for

each of the eight counties.

Table 4.3 summarizes the property tax base and

revenue potential associated with each of the nine
designated TADs under an example supplemental rate of
0.05 percent. As shown, at this rate the various districts
have the potential to generate between $200,000

and $1.1 million in annual revenue with the land uses
currently in place. Although increasing density in these
corridors could yield higher revenues, existing tax bases
are used as a conservative assumption.

Table 4.3: Transit Assessment Districts

Estimated Revenue
at Example 0.05%

Existing Tax Base Rate
District (Smillions) (Smillions)
1o o
s e s225 s
Ames/Military $452 $0.2
SR 370 $888 $0.4
L St./Q St. $1,922 $1.0
30th $1,416 $0.7
Maple St. $1,693 $0.8
72nd St. $1,726 $0.9
84th St. $883 S0.4

Vehicle Registration Tax

The model allows for imposition of a tax on automobile
registrations as a means to fund transit. As a base
assumption, the model uses data on the number of
vehicles registered in each county, as provided by the
lowa Department of Transportation and the Nebraska
Department of Motor Vehicles. The model estimates
future year vehicle registrations on a per-capita basis,
with the annual number for each county tied to both
the future year population forecast for that county

and assumed declining rate in per-capita vehicle
registrations. The assumed two percent annual decline
in per-capita vehicle registrations is consistent with
nationwide trends in declining private automobile
ownership.

Table 4.4 shows the number of vehicle registrations
for each of the eight counties in 2011 (latest year of
available data) and the associated revenue potential
under an example rate of $60 per annual registration.
The distribution of vehicle registrations by county is
approximately proportional to population distribution,

with the exception of Douglas County which, owing
to its more urban character, likely has a lower rate of

vehicle ownership than the surrounding counties.

Table 4.4: Vehicle Registrations

Estimated
Revenue at
2011 Total Example $60
Vehicle Fee
Jurisdiction Registrations (Smiillions)
Cass County, NE 34,756 $2.1
Douglas County, NE 436,344 $26.2
Sarpy County, NE 153,684 $9.2
Saunders County, NE 31,507 $1.9
Washington County, NE 28,034 S1.7
Harrison County, IA 26,437 S1.6
Mills County, IA 23,875 S1.4
Pottawattamie County, IA 123,226 $7.4
8-County Total 857,863 $51.5

Private Donations

Private sources of funding, most likely in the form of
time-limited donations for capital projects, could serve
to offset public resource requirements, while engaging

4.1.4 Contract Revenue

Certain of Metro’s current transit services are operated
outside of its core property tax-funded service

area. These services are operated through contract
arrangements with the local jurisdictions, which pay
Metro’s operating costs for these services. In 2012,
Metro received $820,000 in contract revenue and

the total for 2013 is budgeted at $786,000. As a

4.2 Capital Costs

As described in Chapters 5 and 6, scenarios may include
the development of specific capital projects. Capital
costs for each proposed transit project were estimated
based on the unique characteristics of that project. The
following characteristics are defined for each of the
candidate projects to facilitate these estimates:

® Project Service Characteristics, which include
mode (vehicle technology), service frequency (in
peak, mid-peak and off-peak periods for weekdays,
Saturdays and Sundays), hours of service (by period
and by day) and average speed.

key community stakeholders in the public transit
initiative. Within the context of a coordinated transit
branding strategy, naming rights for stations or routes
could be offered as an incentive for private investment.
Contributions to transit infrastructure could also be
leveraged in conjunction with major development
projects within or adjacent to a proposed corridor. No
such funding currently exists in the Metro system, but
the model allows for it on both the capital and operating
side. No specific growth assumptions are applied and
any one-time or recurring private funding is entered
manually into the model.

System-Generated Revenues

Metro’s average farebox recovery rate from 2000 to
2008 was approximately 19 percent of total operations
and maintenance costs. Including other system-
generated revenue, such as advertising, but not
contracted services, Metro has recovered approximately
23 percent from its own activities. The projections
assume that fare and other system-generated revenue
will cover 20 percent of total operating expenses for all
future years.

base assumption, the model assumes that this 2013
budgeted level of contract funding will remain constant,
growing with the rate of inflation. In some scenarios,
contract revenue may be eliminated in favor of a
regional funding approach using local taxes collected
beyond the current Omaha property tax levy.

® Project Geography, which includes terminals,
corridor length, alignment treatments, urban setting
and number of stations/stops.

® Operating Statistics (computed), which include
round trip running time, vehicles required for peak
service, revenue vehicle hours and revenue vehicle
miles.

Capital costs are estimated per the methodology
described in Table 4.5. The modes for which costs were
calculated and the sources of comparable costs data,
are noted below. Costs were derived from a database of
recent HNTB projects.
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Table 4.5: Capital Cost Estimation Methodology

Technology Capital Cost Methodology

Bus Comparable local bus projects

Freeway BRT | Comparable mixed-traffic express bus facilities

Arterial BRT | Comparable mixed-traffic arterial BRT projects

Busway BRT | Comparable street reconstruction busway projects

Streetcar Comparable modern streetcar projects

Light Rail Comparable in-street light rail projects

Capital costs are developed using the Federal Transit
Administration’s (FTA) Standard Cost Categories (SCC)
for Capital Projects. Costs are broken down into the

following categories:

1. 10 Guideway and Track Elements — exclusive right-
of-way, mixed traffic, or fixed guideway;

2. 20 Stations, Stops, Terminals, Intermodal — local
bus, BRT, streetcar, or LRT (including park and ride
facilities for freeway Bus Rapid Transit [BRT]);

3. 30 Support Facilities — maintenance facilities for
streetcar and Light Rail (LRT) only;

4. 40 Sitework and Special Conditions — utilities, site
preparation, landscaping and enhancements;

5. 50 Systems — train control, power supply, intelligent
transportation systems (ITS) and fare collection;

6. 60 Right-of-way;
7. 70 Vehicles;

8. 80 Professional Services — 25 percent additional
charge for consultant (design) services on top of
categories 1-5 (except for local bus service);

9. 90 Unallocated Contingency — 25 percent on top of
total charges for categories 1-8 (except for local bus
service); and

10. 100 Financing Charges.

Each transit mode has different assumptions associated
with it. BRT has many of the same service elements

of rail transit, although capital costs tend to be lower
primarily because of the lack of a fixed guideway

and the lower cost of vehicles. Costs associated with
developing a BRT service vary depending upon whether
or not the service has a dedicated right-of-way (busway)
or if the service shares right-of-way with other traffic
(freeway and arterial).

Depending on the type of item, costs were broken down
into a cost per unit or cost per mile. The following
list describes how costs per mile and per unit were

assumed for each transportation mode. Note that
although the financial model also includes specific
projects from the Central Omaha Transit Alternatives
Analysis, those projects were included in the model
using their own cost assumptions, which were not
integrated into the unit costs used for all other projects,
as described in this section.

Local Bus

Local bus service has the lowest capital cost. No
guideway and track elements, support facilities, site
work, systems, or right-of-way are included in the total
cost. Only costs associated with upgrading stations are
part of the estimate; therefore, a five percent design fee
and 10 percent contingency fee were built into the cost
estimates, lower than other project types.

Freeway Bus Rapid Transit

Freeway BRT assumes that 70 percent of the total route
will be highway miles. Buses will share the roadway
with other vehicles on arterial streets and highways;
however, buses will be able to use the highway shoulder
as a lane in order to maintain schedule reliability during
times of increased congestion. Additionally:

® OQutlying stations will be shelters equipped with
upgraded technology services such as ticket
vending machines (TVMs) and will also feature a
park-and-ride lot. For stops in downtown Omaha
and the Westroads mall area no additional station
costs are assumed, as the freeway services will run
infrequently and utilize existing downtown and
Westroads station amenities.

® Guideway and track elements were derived on
a cost per mile basis by adding up the costs of
highway shoulder preparation, signs, striping and
concrete pads for buses to utilize while the vehicles
are idle. The types of systems included in the
freeway BRT are intelligent transportation systems
(ITS) units for every bus and one ticket vending
machine (TVM) per station.

® Support facilities and right-of-way were not included
in the cost estimate.

Arterial Bus Rapid Transit

Arterial BRT assumes that service will share the roadway
in mixed traffic with other vehicles on arterial streets.

To maintain efficiency, queue jumps will be used at
signalized intersections along the routes. Additionally:

® Stations will be shelters equipped with upgraded
technology services such as TVMs and variable
message signs (VMS).

® Guideway and track elements were derived
on a cost per mile basis by adding up the costs
of pavement improvements, signs, pavement
markings, queue jumps and concrete pads for buses
to utilize while the vehicles are idle. It is assumed
that there will be four concrete pads every mile; one
concrete pad for every station with stations across
from one another every half mile. One queue jump
is anticipated per mile.

® The number of stations assumed is four per
mile; two across from one another every half
mile. Each enhanced station is also assumed to
have a pedestrian bridge. The assumed cost of
a pedestrian bridge is based on a prefabricated
span extending across six lanes of traffic and
accommodating all forms of non-motorized
transportation.

® The types of systems included in arterial BRT are ITS
units for every bus and one TVM per station.

® Support facilities, right-of-way, site work and special
conditions were not included in the cost estimate.

Busway Bus Rapid Transit — Median

This mode assumes a dedicated right-of-way for bus
service throughout a fixed route in the median of the
roadway. Additionally:

® Stations will be shelters equipped with upgraded
technology services such as TVMs and VMS.

® Guideway and track elements were derived on
a cost per mile basis by adding up the costs of
pavement reconstruction and replacement, raised
medians, landscaping and concrete pads for buses
to utilize while the vehicles are idle. It is assumed
that there will be two concrete pads for every
station (one on each side of the median) and two
stations per mile, making a total of four concrete
pads every mile.

® Station costs were calculated based on platform,
ramp, canopy, bench, railing and utility costs
The number of stations assumed is four per
mile; two across from one another every half
mile. Each enhanced station is also assumed to
have a pedestrian bridge. The assumed cost of
a pedestrian bridge is based on a prefabricated

span extending across six lanes of traffic and
accommodating all forms of non-motorized
transportation.

® The types of systems included in the median busway
BRT are two VMS per station (four per mile), ITS for
every bus and one TVM per station (two per mile).

® Support facilities, right-of-way, site work and special
conditions were not included in the cost estimate.
Costs associated with right-of-way site work and
special conditions were built into other costs
already accounted for in the financial model.

Busway Bus Rapid Transit — Curbside

This mode assumes a dedicated right-of-way for bus
service throughout a fixed route, located on the right
side of the roadway. Stations will be shelters equipped
with upgraded technology services such as TVMs and
variable message signs.

® Guideway and track elements were derived on
a cost per mile basis by adding up the costs of
replacing curb and gutter, replacing sidewalks, full
depth reconstruction, raised medians, landscaping
and concrete pads for buses to utilize while the
vehicles are idle. It is assumed that there will be
four concrete pads every mile; one concrete pad for
every station with stations across from one another.

® Station costs were calculated based on platform,
ramp, canopy, bench, railing and utility costs.
The number of stations assumed is four per mile;
two across from one another every half mile.
Each enhanced station is also assumed to have a
pedestrian bridge. The assumed cost of a pedestrian
bridge is based on a prefabricated span that can
extend across six lanes of traffic and accommodate
all forms of non-motorized transportation.

® The types of systems included in the busway BRT
are one VMS per station (four per mile), ITS for
every bus and one TVM per station (four per mile).

® Support facilities, right-of-way, site work and special
conditions were not included in the cost estimate.
Costs associated with right-of-way site work and
special conditions were built into other costs
already accounted for in the financial model.

Streetcar

Streetcar service is rail transportation built into the
arterial roadway system. All of the categories that are
broken down in the spreadsheet are included in the cost
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estimate. Unlike all forms of BRT and local bus service,
support facilities used in maintaining the vehicles are
necessary costs associated with development.

Light rail transit (LRT)

This is the most expensive of any mode. All of the SCC
categories are included in the cost estimate.

Capital costs in 2013 dollars are estimated using typical

Annualized capital costs are also computed, reflecting
the useful life of project components, computed using
a seven percent discount rate per the FTA New Starts

program methodology.

Costs per route mile are summarized in Table 4.6,

costs per station are summarized in Table 4.7, costs

per vehicle are summarized in Table 4.8 and costs for
professional services and contingencies are summarized

4.3 Operations and Maintenance Costs

Operations and Maintenance Costs (O&M) cost
estimates are based on an analysis of cost driver
operating statistics and total operating expenses

for a group of comparable peer transit systems,
defined as those serving metropolitan areas with
populations between 250,000 and 2,500,000, using
data from the 2011 National Transit Database (NTD).
These costs are computed separately for each of
four expense categories defined by NTD, including:
Vehicle Operations, Vehicle Maintenance, Non-Vehicle
Maintenance and General Administration. Unit
operating cost assumptions are summarized in Table

Table 4.10: Operating Cost Assumptions by Mode (2012)

4.10. It should be noted that vehicle replacement
costs are not included in these estimates. Vehicle
replacement is treated as a recurring capital cost, as
described previously in Table 4.8.

Paratransit costs are assumed at 9.8 percent of fixed
route operating and maintenance cost (per 2011 NTD)
and capped at 150 percent of current Metro cost.

Operating cost assumptions for rural transit service are
based on lowa’s average per capita expenditure (per
2011 Rural NTD), as shown in Figure 4.2. This spending
level is more than double the Nebraska level and about
30 percent greater than the national average.

e Operatic : on-Vehicle Maintenance eneral Ad atio
Local Bus $S65 $1.60 $14,979 / peak vehicle $60,223
BRT $65 $1.60 $14,979 / peak vehicle + $50,000 / station $60,223
Streetcar $156 $5.38 $284,176 $169,193
Light Rail $156 $5.38 $284,176 $169,193

Figure 4.2: Per Capita Rural Transit Spending by State

unit costs for major items based on similar projects in Table 4.9.
in the U.S. Cost items are grouped into the FTA SCCs.
Table 4.6: Capital Costs per Route Mile (2012)
D 40 60 Rig 0 0 O
de 0 0 0 0 & 90
Freeway BRT $53,887 SO SO $71,000 S0 $124,887
Arterial BRT $413,000 $0 $0 $332,000 $0 $745,000
Busway BRT (median) $2,838,000 SO SO $209,000 S0 $3,047,000
Busway BRT (curbside urban) $6,837,000 S0 SO $362,000 S0 $7,199,000
Busway BRT (curbside other) $1,170,000 S0 S0 $362,000 S0 $1,532,000
Streetcar $11,120,000 $2,120,000 $3,820,000 $3,820,000 $1,180,000 $22,060,000
Freeway LRT $7,552,500 $6,840,000 $4,000,000 $7,950,000 $1,570,000 $27,912,500
Arterial LRT $10,030,000 $6,840,000 $7,880,000 $8,950,000 $1,570,000 $35,270,000
Table 4.7: Capital Cost per Station (2012)
0 0 60 Rig 0 0 a 80 & 90
Basic Enhanced Basic Enhanced Basic Enhanced
Freeway BRT $240,000 $1,259,000 $25,000 $25,000 $265,000 $1,284,000
Arterial BRT $240,000 $400,000 $25,000 $25,000 $265,000 $425,000
Busway BRT (median) $360,000 $600,000 $37,500 $37,500 $397,500 $637,500
Busway BRT (curbside urban) $240,000 $400,000 $25,000 $25,000 $265,000 $425,000
Busway BRT (curbside other) $240,000 $400,000 $25,000 $25,000 $265,000 $425,000
Streetcar $120,000 $400,000 $37,500 $37,500 $157,500 $437,500
Freeway LRT $1,705,000 $1,705,000 $37,500 $37,500 $1,742,500 $1,742,500
Arterial LRT $1,705,000 $1,705,000 $37,500 $37,500 $1,742,500 $1,742,500
Table 4.8: Costs per Vehicle (2012) Table 4.9: Costs for Professional Services and
) Contingency (Percent of Construction Cost) (2012)
30 90
Freeway BRT 12| $1,064,311 Freeway BRT 25% 50%
Arterial BRT 12|  $1,064,311 Arterial BRT 25% 50%
Busway BRT (median) 12 $1,064,311 Busway BRT (median) 25% 50%
Busway BRT (curbside urban) 12 $1,064,311 Busway BRT (curbside urban) 25% 50%
Busway BRT (curbside other) 12 $1,064,311 Busway BRT (curbside other) 25% 50%
Streetcar 25 $3,000,000 Streetcar 25% 50%
Freeway LRT 25 $4,500,000 Freeway LRT 25% 50%
Arterial LRT 25 $4,500,000 Arterial LRT 25% 50%

|
www.heartland2050.org/connections

68

$200
$180

$160

$140

$120
$100

S80

lowa: $32.50

S60

National Average: $25

Nebraska: $15

$40

$20
S0

4.4 Economic and Financial Assumptions

The model treats the growth of different types of costs
and revenues separately. First, an overall inflation rate
was estimated using figures provided by the federal
government. A second real growth rate (the growth
that occurs above and beyond regular economic
inflation) is considered for capital and operating costs,

as well as the various revenue sources. Assumptions
were also made about the cost of long- and short-term
borrowing, which the model calculates automatically in
order to balance Metro’s cash flows on an annual basis
and ensure an adequate debt service coverage ratio.
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4.4.1 Inflation Assumptions

To estimate past and future rates of inflation, the
Consumer Price Index for all Urban Consumers
(CPI1-U) was used. CPI-U, a figure developed by the
Congressional Budget Office (CBO), is the standard
measure of inflation used for forecasting purposes
for most government agencies. The most current

published CPI-U report from the CBO contains historical
data dating to 1913, with forecast values for the years
2013 through 2023. For years beyond 2023, the model
assumes a constant inflation rate of 2.25 percent (equal
to the projected rate of inflation between 2022 and
2023).

4.4.2 Real Growth in Capital and Operating Costs

The growth of capital costs was calculated from the
Civil Works Construction Cost Index System for Roads,
Railroads and Bridges released annually by the US Army
Corps of Engineers (USACE). The index includes a cost
adjustment for the state of Nebraska and CPI. Historic
inflation rates were applied to the USACE figures from
1997 through 2010 to produce an estimated real annual
growth rate for civil works of about 1.6 percent. Costs
for transit vehicles were estimated in the same fashion,
with an estimated real annual growth rate of 1.8
percent.

Operating and maintenance (O&M) cost growth was
derived from 2002-2011 National Transit Database

4.4.3 Revenue Growth Rates

Real growth rates for funding sources were derived in
much the same fashion as for expenditures. Many of
the assumed growth rates were cited in Section 4.1 and
are summarized below.

® Federal Capital: constant 40 percent federal match
for New Starts-funded projects (subject to a funding
probability factor)

4.4.4 Cost of Borrowing

The financial model also calculates the amount of
borrowing needed in each year to maintain a positive
cash balance and the resulting principal and interest
payment burden on the transit agency. Long-term
debt (e.g. agency revenue bonds) was used with a
financing period of 20 years and an interest rate of
2.56 percent above inflation in the year of issue for
capital expenditures through 2050. Short-term debt
(e.g. commercial paper) was used to cover temporary
operating shortfalls after 2050, assuming a five-year
repayment period at an interest rate of 4.79 percent
above inflation in the year of issue. It should be noted
that both interest rates represent real dollars and

www.heartland2050.org/connections

figures, released annually by the Federal Transit
Administration. Cost categories were analyzed from
the 2002-2011 period, factoring out CPI inflation, to
estimate the real growth in O&M costs. These growth
rates were estimated as follows:

® Vehicle Operations — 1.51 percent for bus, 0.74
percent for rail

Vehicle Maintenance — 0.74 percent for bus, 0.10
percent for rail

® Non-Vehicle Maintenance — 2.52 percent for bus,
2.14 percent for rail

® General Administration — 1.48 percent for bus, 1.01
percent for rail

Federal Operating: 0.25 percent per year

State Capital: project-specific

State operating: no real growth

Local property tax base: no real per-capita growth

Local taxable sales per capita: varies by county

Vehicle registrations — 2.0 percent per year

actual rates will be higher to reflect inflation, which is
assumed based on the CPI. For example, bonds issues
in 2023 will bear an interest rate of 4.82 percent.
Commercial paper issued in 2051 will bear an interest
rate of 7.04 percent. Interest rates are based on the
1990-2012 Federal Reserve 20-year state and local bond
index, adjusted for CPIl. A debt service coverage ratio
(DSCR) of 1.5 was maintained for each year that debt is
outstanding, which is generally consistent with the high
quality (“A”) bond ratings maintained by peer agencies..

An effective future public transit framework for the
Omaha region will be comprised of an inter-connected
and coordinated system of transit modes, each with
unique characteristics and serving a specific purpose
within an overall hierarchical system. The methods for
estimating the costs of the potential “building blocks” of
this system were described in Chapter 4. This chapter
presents the specific potential candidate projects in

the Omaha region are available for constructing system

A comprehensive list of candidate transit projects has
been developed in response to previous studies and
recent public input, including additional corridors
identified by Metro and MAPA for consideration in the
evaluation process. Candidate projects are depicted in
Figure 5.1. Table 5.1 through Table 5.5 and Figure 5.2
through Figure 5.6, summarize the candidate projects
by vehicle mode and technology type. The tables show
relative demand, cost and cost effectiveness using
metrics that are described in Section 5.2.

These projects represent the universe of projects that
could potentially be included in a fiscally constrained
regional transit improvement program. The preliminary
transit vision scenarios presented in Chapter 6 are
comprised of a combination of these candidate projects,
and a prioritization process identifies the projects with
the highest potential for inclusion.

In some instances, projects are split into geographic
segments or assigned different service levels to
evaluate phased implementation options. For example,
the projects are split by county as appropriate (into

This step in the prioritization process process assesses
candidate projects (1) for their ability to expand transit
coverage and facilitate multi-modal access (2) while
remaining cost effective, without specific regard to
system-wide financial constraints. In essence, the
projects are evaluated for their individual capacity to

scenarios. A project prioritization process follows,
assessing the anticipated performance and contribution
of each project to a regional system. This prioritization
process forms the basis for the development of the
Transit Vision Scenarios described in Chapter 6, in
which potential candidate projects are combined into
alternative future transit investment programs under a
fiscally constrained funding stream and follow a rational
phased implementation time line.

“inner” segments in Omaha and “outer” segments

in the surrounding region) to facilitate analysis of
different strategies in the fiscally constrained scenario
evaluation to follow. Some projects were also split into
“initial” and “upgrade” phases to reflect an increasing
investment level as corridors develop into stronger
transit markets over time.

Not shown or listed in the following exhibits are the
candidate projects identified through the Central Omaha
Transit Alternatives Analysis (AA). The preliminary
projects identified in the AA include both streetcar and
busway BRT options. All of the preliminary alternatives
follow a routing beginning near TD Ameritrade Park,

at the intersection of 16th and Fahey Streets. From
there, the routes proceed east to 10th Street, south to
downtown and then proceed west along either Dodge/
Douglas Streets, Farnam/Harney Streets, or operating
in both directions on Farnam Street. Proposed western
termini include either UNMC in Midtown or the
Crossroads Mall at 72nd Street. Several representative
AA projects have been included in the service planning
model for potential inclusion in the scenarios.

achieve the Vision and Principles described previously
and ranked on the basis of their cost effectiveness
relative to the benefits realized, with additional ranking
input from MAPA and Metro.
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Figure 5.1: Candidate Transit Projects
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5.2.1 Performance Measure Characteristics

For each project, a cost effectiveness index was
calculated and used as a key input in project ranking.
The cost effectiveness index is defined as a potential
passenger demand index divided by total annual costs
(including capital costs, operations and maintenance)
for each project.

The number of potential trips served along each
proposed project corridor was determined using two
methodologies, depending on the project type, as
described below:

® Arterial Projects: Travel demand potential was
estimated using the MAPA travel demand model.
From the model, the number of origin-destination

trips with both endpoints in walking distance (within

one-half mile) of the project was determined.
These potential trips were then adjusted using
a factor which reflects differences in service
frequency across projects or phases, computed
using a simplified logit mode choice formula.

5.2.2 Project Prioritization

The cost effectiveness index for each project was
computed as demand potential divided by total annual
project costs. This approach produced a draft list of
ranked projects, which was provided to MAPA and
Metro for additional input and refinement of the
rankings. Additional ranking input from MAPA and
Metro gave consideration to local knowledge as well
as a particular emphasis on network connectivity,
favoring arterial corridors such as Dodge/Farnam
Streets, Center Street, Maple Street, 24th Street, 30th
Street and 72nd Street, that offered the potential to
not only attract riders within those corridors, but also
to more cohesively integrate the entire Metro network
of local services. The rankings were also adjusted in
consideration of project “precedence”, such as inner
segments occurring before outer segments.

Table 5.6 presents the top 15 candidate projects
resulting from this analysis. This final prioritization
and ranking was used as the basis for constructing
the scenarios described in Section 6. In addition to
identifying the overall sequence of corridors for which
capital improvements are warranted, it also aids in
the selection of the type of capital improvement. For

The adjustment was applied to weekday service
frequency to reflect the greater attractiveness of
more frequent service.

® Freeway Projects: Because these routes extend
beyond the coverage area of the MAPA model,
demand potential was estimated using a sketch-
level gravity model, reflecting 2010 Census origin
population, destination employment per 2010
socioeconomic data from the MAPA model and the
distance between the route termini.

Annualized capital costs were based on the useful life
of typical project components under each SCC category
using the FTA New Starts calculation method. Annual
operations and maintenance costs were added to
annualized capital costs to compute total annual costs.

Freeway BRT routes were ranked separately from all
other projects due to the differing and incompatible
methodology used to estimate demand potential on
Freeway BRT routes versus all other projects.

example, the top-ranked project is the Farnam-Dodge
Busway, which ranks above the arterial BRT project in
the same corridor. Thus, if that top-ranked project is
constructed there will be no need to construct the third-
ranked arterial BRT project because a superior project
will already exist in the corridor.
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Figure 5.2: Arterial BRT Candidate Projects Table 5.1: Arterial BRT Candidate Projects

Project Costs ($ millions)

—— Cost
One-Way Demand Total Combined | Effectiveness
Terminal A Terminal B Length (mi) | Potential | Capital Cost | O&M Cost | Annual Cost Index
lowa Western
Community Downtown 8.12 61,837 $38.5 $3.7 $6.1 $99
Farnam St. / Coll
r=n Dodge St. &
_ Downtown Westroads 7.33 102,533 $37.0 $3.6 $6.0 $59
i ,- Westroads 204th/Dodge 8.65 51,082 $43.5 $4.2 $7.0 $137
Douglas g Maple St
. iagin - 1ROt aple St. - .
Westroads Midtown Westroads 7.98 60,751 $35.7 $2.1 $4.1 $68
: L Maple St. - Midtown 102nd/Maple 6.32 36,962 $28.8 $1.6 $3.2 $87
——() -(:mr,’ 180th 102nd/Maple 180th/Maple 6.57 | 35341 $33.4 $3.1 $5.3 $149
Center St. Midtown Oakview 9.06 64,743 $45.6 $4.2 $7.1 $110
80tk 5 ) North Omaha
_ / o Blair Transit Center 22.20 11,765 $109.7 $10.5 $17.5 $1,491
| 30th St. i
: North Omaha Metro Community
. College South 8.72 57,818 $43.6 $4.2 $7.0 $121
Transit Center
Omaha Campus
| 3 Metro Community
— -} ———] Lt ' L - 24th st. North Omaha College South 7.25| 46,523 $36.9 $36 $6.0 $129
. Transit Center
p. - Omaha Campus
Metro Community
o S TR AS B v - i ort Croo u ollege Sout . , . . .
Fort Crook Offutt AFB Coll South 7.58 40,066 $38.4 $3.6 $6.1 $153
E | g Omaha Campus
P @-\ - 3 North Omaha o
. Ames 5t Transit Centor Blair High Road 6.39| 27,148 $32.1 $3.1 $5.2 $191
\ Milts Blair High Road Blair 16.49 1,667 $81.1 $7.8 $13.1 $7,853
; !L-. | 72nd St. 1-680 Mercy - 72nd 7.38 48,523 $37.1 $3.6 $6.0 $124
@ & Ii‘ iR ll' 84th St. Mercy - 72nd SR-370 6.69 57,466 $38.3 $3.6 $6.1 $106
1 PTG AL ). Hiake £ Hotwicd ll: 120th St. 120th/Maple 120th/Q 5.99 45,210 $29.9 $3.1 $5.1 $112
Metro
Community .
L St. College South Oakview 10.97 105,167 $53.8 $5.2 $8.7 $83
Omaha Campus
Metro
Community .
Q St. College South Oakview 11.74 123,464 $58.6 $5.7 $9.5 S77
Omaha Campus
Egmh”s"er Bellevue Oakview 1646 | 87,913 $81.1 $7.8 $13.1 $149
SR-370 Bellevue 144thsizepark & 12.23| 56,484 $60.8 $5.8 $9.7 $171
180th St. 144th;zepark & 144th/Maple 16.56 60,067 $82.3 $7.9 $13.1 $219
144th St. 144th/State 144th'§izepark & 13.56 78,276 $65.5 $6.3 $10.5 $134
Airport Airport Downtown 3.74 22,607 $19.7 $2.0 $3.3 $147
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Figure 5.3: Busway BRT Candidate Projects
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Table 5.2: Busway BRT Candidate Projects

Farnam St. / Downtown Westroads 7.33 102,533 $71.5 $3.6 $8.0 $78
Dodge St. Westroads 204th/Dodge 8.65 51,082 $84.3 $4.2 $9.3 $182
Maple St. - .
Westroads Midtown Westroads 7.98 60,751 $77.3 $4.1 $8.9 S146
Maple St. - Midtown 102nd/Maple 6.32 36,962 $61.8 $3.1 $6.9 $186
180th 102nd/Maple 180th/Maple 6.57 35,341 $64.6 $3.1 $7.0 $199
Center St. Midtown Oakview 9.06 64,743 $88.5 $4.2 $9.6 $148
. North Omaha
Blair Transit Center 22.20 11,765 $213.8 $10.5 $23.5 $1,995
30th St. i
North Omaha Metro Community
. College South 8.72 57,818 $84.6 $4.2 $9.3 S161
Transit Center
Omaha Campus
Metro Community
24th St. North Omaha College South 7.25 46,523 $71.1 $3.6 38.0 3171
Transit Center
Omaha Campus
Metro Community
Fort Crook Offutt AFB College South 7.58 40,066 $74.3 $3.6 $8.2 $204
Omaha Campus
North Omaha L
Ames St Transit Center Blair High Road 6.39 27,148 $62.1 $3.1 $6.9 $254
Blair High Road Blair 16.49 1,667 $158.2 $7.8 $17.5 $10,484
72nd St. 1-680 Mercy - 72nd 7.38 48,523 $71.7 $3.6 $8.0 $165
84th St. Mercy - 72nd SR-370 6.69 57,466 $74.0 $3.6 $8.1 $141
120th St. 120th/Maple 120th/Q 5.99 45,210 $58.0 $3.1 $6.6 $147
Metro
Community .
L St. College South Oakview 10.97 105,167 $105.2 $5.2 $11.6 S111
Omaha Campus
Metro
Community .
Q St. College South Oakview 11.74 123,464 $113.7 $5.7 $12.7 $102
Omaha Campus
;gmh”s'(er Bellevue Oakview 16.46 87,913 $158.1 $7.8 $17.5 $199
SR -370 Bellevue 144th:i'zePark & 12.23 56,484 $118.3 $5.8 $12.9 $229
180th St. 144th:itc.|ePark & 144th/Maple 16.56 60,067 $160.1 $7.9 $17.6 $293
144th st. 144th/State 144th;itdepark & 1356 | 78276 $126.9 $6.3 $14.0 $178
Airport Airport Downtown 3.74 22,607 $37.4 $2.0 $4.3 $192
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Figure 5.4: Streetcar BRT Candidate Projects Figure 5.5: LRT Candidate Projects
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Table 5.4: LRT Candidate Projects
Table 5.3: Streetcar BRT Candidate Projects Project Costs ($ millions)
Project Co - Total Combined Cost
ota ombined 0 One-Way Demand Capital Annual Effectiveness
One-Wa Demand apita A 3 - ene Terminal A Terminal B Length (mi) | Potential Cost O&M Cost Cost Index
RO e o A s B eng Pote 0 D& 0 O o
¢ ; 5 ¢ Farnam St. /
Farnam St. / Downtown UNMC 2.66 58,561 $108 $4 $9 $162 Dodge St. Downtown 204th/Dodge 1598 | 163,480 °1,132 >20 276 >468
Dodge St. R
UNMC Crossroads - 72nd 2.30 17,255 $95 S4 S9 $504 72nd St. Bens.on Park Mercy - 72nd 4.49 34,599 $317 s5 $21 $612
Transit Center
] | 8 ey
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Figure 5.6: Freeway BRT Candidate Projects
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Table 5.5: Freeway BRT Candidate Projects

Project Costs (S millions)

Combined Cost
One-Way Demand Total Annual Effectiveness
Terminal A Terminal B Length (mi) | Potential | Capital Cost | O&M Cost Cost Index

US 75
Plattsmouth Plattsmouth Downtown 19.48 37,697 $7.8 $0.6 S1.1 30.04
Express
US 75 Blair Blair Downtown 2550 | 33,320 $9.0 $0.6 $1.2 37.40
Express
Glenwood Glenwood, IA Downtown 2417 28341 $8.8 $0.6 $1.2 43.12
Express Glenwood, IA Westroads 33.90 19,196 S11.1 $0.9 $1.6 84.41
1-680 Old Mormon
Northeast Bridge Park & Westroads 13.45 8,658 $6.2 $S0.4 $0.8 92.79
Express Ride
1-29 Old Mormon
Northeast Bridge Park & Westroads 10.00 12,313 $5.5 $S0.4 $0.7 59.90
Express Ride
Lincoln Lincoln, NE Downtown 58.10 | 170,082 $17.2 $1.5 $2.7 16.01
Express Lincoln, NE Westroads 51.00 183,614 $15.4 $1.3 S2.4 12.93
Council Bluffs Oakland, IA Downtown 32.60 23,402 $12.9 $0.9 $1.7 72.06
Express Oakland, 1A Westroads 42.70 16,931 $15.3 S1.1 $2.1 123.60
e RIS 144th/Fort Downtown 1431 447,831 $6.3 $0.4 $0.8 1.83
Express
I(E);([Satr‘e/:sosth Q St./180th St. Downtown 17.10 380,235 $6.9 $S0.4 $0.9 2.29

Table 5.6: Candidate Project Priorities

Cost Network Transit

Demand Potential Effectiveness | Connectivity O-D Density Destination Final Rank
Farnam St. / . .
Dodge St. Busway BRT 102,533 $66 High 14 High 1
Farnam St. / . )
Dodge St. Streetcar 58,561 $157 Medium 22 High 2
Farnam St. / ) . )
Dodge St. Mixed BRT 102,533 S50 Medium 14 High 3
Maple St. - . .
Westroads Busway BRT 60,751 $124 High 8 High 4
30th St. Mixed BRT 57,818 $102 High 7 High 5
24th St. Busway BRT 46,523 $144 High 6 High 6
Ames St. Mixed BRT 27,148 $162 High 4 High 7
Center St. Busway BRT 64,743 $123 Medium 7 High 8
24th St. Mixed BRT 46,523 $110 Medium 6 High 9
Farnam St. / . ) .
Dodge St. Mixed BRT 61,837 $84 Medium 8 High 10
Center St. Mixed BRT 64,743 $92 Medium 7 High 11
30th St. Busway BRT 57,818 $135 Medium High 12
72nd St. Busway BRT 48,523 $139 High 7 Medium 13
Maple St. - . . .
Westroads Mixed BRT 60,751 $52 Medium 8 High 14
72nd St. Mixed BRT 48,523 $106 Medium 7 Medium 15
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In order to develop a fiscally constrained Vision
Scenario, fiscal constraints are applied to develop an
“optimal” system with regard to expanded system
coverage and a logical project phasing strategy that
manages risk and expected funding. A key consideration
is providing the enhanced service that best aligns with
the region’s most promising markets for automobile-
competitive public transit service.

Using the integrated service planning model described
in Chapter 4, an evaluation of the candidate projects
described in Chapter 5 is discussed below. Six
preliminary scenarios were defined and tested, which
each scenario corresponding to a particular local
funding option. Following stakeholder input and further
model refinements, refined project scenarios were
developed, eventually culminating in the Preferred
Vision Scenario presented in Chapter 7. All of the
scenarios assume that any changes to the existing
system, including service changes, capital expenditures
and new revenues, will take effect in 2015 or later. No
changes are assumed in the years 2013 and 2014.

The Preliminary and Refined scenarios presented in
this chapter were intended to present a “continuum”
of possible levels of transit investment. Each level is
assessed using the integrated planning model to match
a given level of funding with a list of projects and an

6.1 Baseline Scenario

Prior to defining and testing the Preliminary Vision
Scenarios, the model was used to evaluate the financial
sustainability of maintaining existing levels of service

in the Metro service area. A “Baseline” scenario was
developed, the purpose of which was to determine
whether existing revenue sources, growing based on
the assumptions described in Chapter 4, are sufficient
to maintain the existing system through 2050; and, if
funding is not sufficient, what property tax rate would
be needed to achieve financial sustainability.

Under the baseline scenario, Metro’s existing services
are maintained through 2015. In 2016, existing services
are replaced by the near-term “Phase |” service
recommendations as defined by TMD. Because these
service recommendations are intended to be cost-
neutral, there is no impact on long term capital and

implementation schedule that can be achieved at that
level of funding. The scenarios are organized generally
from minimal to increasingly revenue-intensive, with
each building on the previous scenario by enhancing
services, adding capital investments and/or accelerating
implementation of selected projects. The Scenarios

are comprised of “building blocks” of revenues and
expenditures that can be assessed using the service
planning financial model, as noted in Table 6.1. It should
be noted that these scenarios are not intended as final
proposals for transit investments, but rather constitute
the “Building Blocks” that led to the Vision Scenarios
presented in Chapter 7.

Table 6.1: Scenario Building Blocks

Federal Projects

FTA Formula Programs Capital Costs
FTA Discretionary Grants Operating Costs
Surface Transportation Program Project Timing
State Construction Duration
Capital/Operating Assistance Opening Year
Local Phasing

Transit Authority Taxes Replacement
Service Contracts

System-Generated

Fare Revenues

O&M expenses versus continuing with the existing
system.

The model showed that based on current funding levels
and assumed rates of growth, Metro’s operations are
not financially sustainable in the long term. In order

to achieve financial sustainability through 2050, the
model found that, all else being equal, the property tax
rate for transit in Omaha would need to increase from
the current 2012 level of 0.050257 percent to a rate of
0.075 percent beginning in 2015.

A summary of Metro’s service characteristics in 2050
under the Baseline scenario is contained in Appendix A.



The preliminary Transit Vision Scenarios described

and depicted in this section seek to establish stability
and long range growth to the transit system through a
phased process, building incrementally and sustainably
toward a comprehensive system of public transit for

progress. Each scenario is assessed using the service
planning financial model, to further prioritize projects
and develop an optimized Preferred Vision Scenario.

Because each scenario is fiscally constrained, the
scenarios are built from a menu

Omaha area residents. Each scenario -
is fiscally constrained. Therefore the
development of a scenario entails
matching a given potential funding
level with the selection of projects
that are feasible at that level of
funding. Once a funding level is
defined, projects are selected on the
basis of the prioritization process S

The Transit Vision Scenarios
seek to establish stability
and long range growth

to the fransit system
through a phased process,
building incrementally and
sustainably,

) of potential funding strategies,

enabling the assessment of the
relative advantages or disadvantages
of potential funding sources and cost
sharing alternatives. The funding
options from which the scenarios are
built are those described in Section
4.1 and include increasing property

J

described in the previous chapter.

Potential projects to be included in a scenario generally
fall within the following categories and sequence:

® System capital projects such as a new bus garage or
a CNG refueling facility.

® Implementation of Phase | service
recommendations.

® Implementation of some or all of the Phase Il
service recommendations.

® Implementation of some or all of the Phase I
service recommendations.

® Construction and operation of various capital
projects as described and prioritized in Chapter 5.
These include arterial BRT, busway BRT, streetcar,
LRT and freeway BRT.

In developing the scenarios, consideration is given to
the time frame in which implementation would occur,
ranging from relatively slow progress through the
prioritized list of candidate projects to relatively rapid

taxes; expanding property taxes to
the remainder of Douglas County and/
or surrounding counties; introducing a regional sales tax
dedicated for transit; or creation of a Transit Assessment
District.

Arterial BRT, Busway BRT, and LRT projects also included
an assumed level of federal funding. It was assumed
that approximately half of all such projects under a
given scenario would receive federal discretionary
funds at a 30 percent funding level. State funding was
assumed to cover approximately 80 percent of the
capital costs for Freeway BRT projects. Other potential
options exist, as well as combinations of those included
in the Preliminary Scenarios and these may be explored
and included in additional scenarios. All of the scenarios
assume the implementation of the cost-neutral Phase |
service improvements recommended by TMD, effective
in 2016.

Each scenario is described below. One-page visual
summaries of the 2050 service characteristics achieved
under each scenario are presented in Appendix A.

6.2.1 Preliminary Scenario 1: Increase Omaha Property Tax for Transit

to 0.10 percent

In 2012, the property tax revenue devoted to transit
in the City of Omaha amounted to a rate of 0.050257
percent of the overall tax base. This is expected to raise
approximately $14.4 million in 2015, or 40.7 percent
of all funding for Metro. Scenario 1 entails increasing
the property tax rate within the City of Omaha to the
maximum allowable level (0.10 percent) beginning in
2015 and allocating the additional revenues to transit
investment. This scenario has the potential to raise
approximately $14.2 million in additional revenue in
2015, increasing the share of Metro funding derived
from property taxes to 54.8 percent.

The additional revenue generated under this scenario
would be sufficient to fund the construction of several
key capital improvements, as well as implementation

of many of TMD’s Phase Il service recommendations,
including the following:

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor
in 2020, at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars),
excluding vehicles.

® Phase Il service improvements on the Maple and
Center (proposed Routes 4 and 15SL) in 2025.

® Phase |l service implementation on the remaining
“Rapid and Frequent” and MAPA-designated
corridors in 2030.

A summary of Scenario 1 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix A.

6.2.2 Preliminary Scenario 2: Expansion of Property Tax to Douglas County

at 0.10 percent

While the majority of the property tax base in

Douglas County falls within the City of Omaha and is
thus already taxed, a sizable portion lies outside the
city: approximately 26.3 percent in 2012. Scenario 2
envisions the same tax rate increase as described in
Scenario 1, but with the property tax expanded to the
remainder of Douglas County at the same maximum
allowable rate of 0.10 percent. This would more than
double property tax revenues in 2015 to just under $40
million.

Under Scenario 2 the following projects and service
improvements could be implemented:

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor
in 2020, at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars),
excluding vehicles.

® Phase Il service improvements on the Maple and
Center (proposed Routes 4 and 15SL) corridors in
2025.

® All remaining Phase Il service improvements in
2030.

® Phase lll service improvements on the Maple and
Center (proposed Routes 4 and 15SL) corridors in
2035.

® Phase lll service improvements on “Rapid and
Frequent Corridors” in 2040.

® Construction of the Maple-Westroads and Center
(Midtown to Oakview) Arterial BRT projects, with
completion and commencement of BRT service in
2040, at a cost of $31.4 million and $37.1 million
(2013 dollars), respectively, excluding vehicles.

® Because this scenario involves a geographic
expansion of Metro’s service area, additional service
to outlying areas is also added under this scenario
effective in 2016, including the following:

® General public rural transit service is offered in
Douglas County.

® Freeway BRT routes from 144th Street/Fort Street
and from Q Street/180th Street are added, at a
cost of $5.4 million and $6.0 million (2013 dollars),
respectively, excluding vehicles.

A summary of Scenario 2 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix A.
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6.2.3 Preliminary Scenario 3: Expansion of Property Tax to Eight Counties

at 0.10 percent

Douglas County is the most populous of the eight

study area counties and has the largest property tax
base, which is greater than the other seven counties
combined. However, adding those counties to a
regional transit authority funded by an enlarged
property taxing district would still generate significant
additional revenue for capital expansion and service
improvements. Under Scenario 3, the same 0.10
percent property tax described in Scenarios 1 and 2

is expanded to cover the entire eight-county area,
effective 2015. This yields approximately $62.8 million in
local funding for transit in 2015, just over four times the
quantity raised under the existing Omaha property tax.

Expansion to eight counties would allow the following
projects to be constructed and implemented:

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor
in 2020, at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars),
excluding vehicles.

All Phase Il service improvements in 2025.

Construction of the Maple-Westroads and Center
(Midtown to Oakview) Busways, with completion
and commencement of BRT service in 2025. These
$51.9 million and $60.3 million (2013 dollars)

projects (excluding vehicles), respectively, are
assumed to be funded with a discretionary federal
Small Starts grant of 32 percent.

All Phase Il service improvements in 2035.

Construction of the 24th Street (North Omaha
Transit Center to Metro Community College

South Omaha Campus) and 72nd Street (1-680 to
Mercy/72nd) Arterial BRT projects, with completion
and commencement of service in 2035, at a cost

of $29.5 million and $29.6 million (2013 dollars),
respectively, excluding vehicles.

In addition, the following services would be provided to
offer additional value to the outlying areas in the new
expanded service area, effective in 2016:

® General public rural transit service is offered in all
eight counties.

® Twelve Freeway BRT routes are constructed and
implemented, serving origins in Lincoln, Blair,
Plattsmouth, Council Bluffs (IA), Glenwood (IA),
Oakland (IA), western Douglas County and a new
park-and-ride facility at the intersection of 1-680 and
I-29 in Pottawattamie County, lowa. These projects
have a total capital cost of $102.2 million.

A summary of Scenario 3 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix A.

6.2.4 Preliminary Scenario 4: A 0.5 percent Regional Mobility Sales Tax

in Douglas County

Another option for raising additional revenue for
transit would be the establishment of a new regional
sales tax for transportation. Such a levy could include
streams for both transit and other priorities such as
road construction. Scenario 4 assumes the introduction
of a new half-cent (0.5 percent) sales tax dedicated to
transit in Douglas County. Under this scenario, property
taxes would revert to the current rate of 0.050257
percent, in the City of Omaha only. The new sales tax
would take effect in 2015. The new tax would generate
$44.0 million in 2015, which when combined with the
existing Omaha property tax yields a total of $58.3
million in local tax revenue for transit. This quantity is
greater than that raised under Scenario 2, but less than
Scenario 3.
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Under this scenario the following projects could be
implemented:

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor

in 2020, at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars),
excluding vehicles.

All Phase |l service improvements in 2025.
All Phase lll service improvements in 2035.

Construction of the Maple-Westroads and Center
(Midtown to Oakview) Arterial BRT projects, with
completion and commencement of BRT service in

2035, at a cost of $31.4 million and $37.1 million
(2013 dollars), respectively, excluding vehicles.

® Construction of the 24th Street (North Omaha
Transit Center to Metro Community College South
Omaha Campus), 30th Street (North Omaha Transit
Center to Metro Community College South Omaha
Campus) and 72nd Street (I-680 to Mercy/72nd)
Arterial BRT projects, with completion and
commencement of service in 2040, at a cost of
$29.5 million, $35.0 million, and $29.6 million (2013
dollars), respectively, excluding vehicles.

As with Scenario 2, this scenario involves a geographic
expansion of Metro’s service area to the remainder of

Douglas County, with the following additional service
offered to outlying portions of the county beginning in
2016:

® General public rural transit service is offered in
Douglas County

® Freeway BRT routes from 144th Street/Fort Street
and from Q Street/180th Street are added, at a
cost of $5.4 million and $6.0 million (2013 dollars),
respectively, excluding vehicles.

A summary of Scenario 4 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix A.

6.2.5 Preliminary Scenario 5: A 0.5 percent Eight-County

Regional Mobility Sales Tax

Under Scenario 5, a new half cent (0.5 percent) sales
tax is introduced in the entire eight-county study area,
in addition to the existing 0.050257 percent, property
tax in Omaha. Of the six Preliminary Vision Scenarios
this generates the most revenue, estimated at $58.7
million in new sales tax revenue plus $14.4 in existing
property tax revenue, for a total of $73.0 million in local
tax revenue for transit, more than five times the existing
local revenue stream.

Under Scenario 5, the following projects could be
implemented;

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor
in 2020, at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars),
excluding vehicles.

All Phase Il service improvements in 2025.

Construction of the Maple-Westroads and Center
(Midtown to Oakview) Busways, with completion
and commencement of BRT service in 2025, at

a cost of $68.8 million and $80.0 million (2013
dollars), respectively, excluding vehicles.

All Phase Ill service improvements in 2035.

Construction of the 24th Street (North Omaha
Transit Center to Metro Community College

South Omaha Campus) and 72nd Street (1-680

to Mercy/72nd) Busways, with completion and
commencement of BRT service in 2035. , at a cost
of $63.6 million and $64.3 million (2013 dollars),
respectively, excluding vehicles.

® Construction of the 30th Street (North Omaha
Transit Center to Metro Community College
South Omaha Campus) Arterial BRT project, with
completion and commencement of service in 2035,
at a cost of $35.0 million (2013 dollars) excluding
vehicles.

As with Scenario 3, this scenario involves a geographic
expansion of the Metro service area to cover eight
counties and the following rural-oriented additional
services are included in the scenario. Effective in 2016;

® General public rural transit service is offered in all
eight counties.

® Twelve Freeway BRT routes are constructed and
implemented, serving origins in Lincoln, Blair,
Plattsmouth, Council Bluffs (I1A), Glenwood (IA),
Oakland (IA), western Douglas County and a new
park-and-ride facility at the intersection of I-680 and
[-29 in Pottawattamie County, lowa. These projects
have a total cost of $102.2 million.

A summary of Scenario 5 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix A.
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6.2.6 Preliminary Scenario 6: Farnam Transit Assessment District

Transit Assessment districts (TADs) established

immediately surrounding key public transit corridors Construction of the Farnam Busway between Eg

could be created to target financial support from Downtown and Midtown, with completion in 2020, &?‘

properties most directly impacted by a particular at a cost of $64 million (2013 dollars), excluding _@d- _; _Qm . _Qv -53 .@m
public transit investment. Scenario 6 examines the vehicles. I F & & I I I
potential for a TAD along the Farnam Street corridor in ) L,gf& L.,L? L.,L? c.;f' c,,& 4,9 4,9
which an incremental district-specific property tax levy © Phase Il service levels on Route 2 (Dodge/Farnam) Local Funding

would be applied in addition to the existing property implemented in 2020. Property Tax

tax supporting transit in the City of Omaha. This tool ® Phase Il service improvements on the Maple and Coverage Area Omaha | Omaha | Douglas | 8-County Omaha
could be particularly relevant for short-term capital Center (proposed Routes 4 and 15SL) corridors in Rate 0.075% @ 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.075%
projects, versus open-ended sources of annual revenue 2030. Sales Tax

for ongoing operations. Based on 2012 property values ® Phase lll service improvements on the Maple and g::eerage Areg D;:izs S—EE’:E&w

of properties located within one-half (1/2) mile of Center (proposed Routes 4 and 15SL) corridors in Transit Assessment District . '

designated corridors, annual revenue potential in select 2035. Coverage Area Dodge
corridors is estimated as follows. In constructing this Rate 0.06%
scenario a rate was selected which would enable the It should be noted that the legality of using revenue projects

implementation of a major capital project along the from a TAD to fund service improvements extending Phase | Service Improvements

corridor in addition to modest service improvements beyond the boundaries of that district has not been CNG Fadlity

throughout Metro’s service area. The finding of the
model was that, under an Omaha city-wide property tax

rate of 0.08 percent (same rate as the Baseline scenario) ) ) o Maple Ia'l 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2030
and an additional levy of 0.06 percent in the TAD, the A surTTmarY of Scenar.lo 6 2050 service characteristics is center @ 2025 2025 2025 2095 2095 2020
following projects could be implemented: contained in Appendix A. Rapid and Frequent Corridors 2030 2030 2025 | 2025 2025
MAPA Corridors 2030 2025 2025 2025
All Remaining Corridors 2030 2025 2025 2025
L e ° Phase Il Service Improvements
6.3 Preliminary Scenario Summary Matrix viaple ® — —
Table 6.2 summarizes the key elements of each Center 2035 2085
preliminary scenario, including the applicable local tax Rapid and Frequent Corridors 2035 2035 2035
rate(s), projects to be included and implementation MAPA Corridors 2035 2035 2035
phasing. Much of this information is also presented All Remaining Corridors L 2035 2035
visually in the exhibits contained in Appendix A. The Artenal BRT
. - . Maple-Westroads
comparison table is intended to illustrate the manner Center (Midtown-Oakview)

in which scenarios were built incrementally upon one
another. As shown, Scenario 5, which generates the
most revenue, contains all of the projects contained
in the other scenarios, featuring either an accelerated
implementation schedule or an upgraded capital
investment. For example, this is the only scenario that

® Construction of a CNG refueling facility in 2016.

fully explored. Therefore, this scenario may pose some
implementation issues.

Table 6.2: Preliminary Scenario Vision Scenarios

Phase llSemvice Improvements
Farnam/Dodge '1'

24th 5t

30th 5t (Morth Omahato Metro CC)

72nd 5t
Busway BRT

Dodge/Farnam [ Downtown-Westroads)

Maple-Westroads

features a comprehensive network of north-south and Center (Midtown-Oakview) 2025 2025
east-west dedicated busways, with full implementation 24th st 2035
72nd 5t 2035

of the entire capital program complete by 2035.

'”ll‘l‘llTIEI:IiaTEl\ll' supersedad by the Farnam Buswayin Scenarios 1 through 6.

Table 6.3 (page 90) summarizes the aggregate operating
statistics, capital, and operating costs for the Preliminary

'allmmediatEI\,r supersedad by busways in Scenarios 3and 5.

SCenar‘ios, 'E'Iln Scenarios 3,4, and 5 BRT pmjects are implemented on these corfidors at orbefore the Phase |l service improve ments.
'thapital Only.
I | 3 30
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Table 6.3 Preliminary Scenarios Summary

Preliminary Scenarios

Baseline Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 Scenario 4 Scenario 5 Scenario 6
Number of Routes, 2050
Light Rail 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
BRT 0 5 6 0
Express Bus 7 7 8 18 8 18 7
Local Bus 25 24 21 19 18 18 25
Revenue Vehicle Hours, 2050
Light Rail 0 0 0 0 0 0
BRT 0 33,000 88,000 172,000 191,000 209,000 0
E:;r(:f:)a' ! 292,000 305,000 293,000 351,000 292,000 317,000 305,000
(Z:gi?((z)glll\zﬂ $) $45,100,000 $55,500,000 $76,300,000 $120,600,000 $102,400,000 $122,100,000 $48,700,000
2050 Annual
IE{Zf/aeIn-ll—f:s $26,600,000 $35,000,000 $47,000,000 $82,100,000 $56,200,000 $84,700,000 $29,600,000
(2012 )
2050 Per
gsz:j“?g&w' $36 $43 $56 $89 $71 $90 $38
(2012 9)
Capital Costs and Revenues, 2015-2050
Aggregate

Capital Costs $300,300,000 | $415,200,000 | $631,100,000

$1,135,000,000 | $876,500,000 | $1,305,000,000 | $378,000,000

Federal 5307 197,900,000 | $192,900,000 | $192,900,000

$192,900,000 $192,900,000 | $192,900,000 $192,900,000

Funding
EE:ZT?\'; 309 o| $22,500,000| $62,900,000| $110,800,000| $94,500,000| $135,900,000 | $22,500,000
[S:Ea:deirc];pltal 0 $2,500,000 |  $14,000,000 |  $92,900,000 | $14,000,000 |  $92,900,000 $2,500,000

6.4 Refined Draft Scenarios

The preliminary scenarios described in the previous
sections were presented to the Steering Committee at
a workshop in June 2013. The workshop featured an
in-depth presentation of the study progress to-date,
including the topics and methodologies presented in
Chapters 1 through 5 of this document and the findings
presented in Sections 6.1 through 6.3. Following
presentation of the Baseline and the six Preliminary
Scenarios, breakout sessions were held in which
Steering Committee members discussed the scenarios
and considered their preferences with respect to project
types, funding sources, timing and the coverage area of
any regional transit authority. Consensus was reached
on a number of topic areas, while other questions
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required further consideration. The results of the
breakout sessions can be summarized as follows:

® There was widespread consensus that any future
expansion of transit service, as well as any regional
funding mechanism, should be limited to Douglas,
Sarpy and Pottawattamie counties. All existing
services and the majority of potential new projects,
were already limited to these three counties. The
only proposed expansions to the other five study
area counties were two potential BRT routes to
Blair and a number of Freeway BRT routes to other
outlying communities.

® Sales taxes were generally favored over higher
property taxes as a long-term funding mechanism.

Property taxes can continue in Omaha but should
not be expanded to surrounding areas, including the
remainder of Douglas County.

® Geographically equitable provision of service
relative to the distribution of revenue received
is an important consideration. Several Steering
Committee members raised the question of whether
differential tax rates could be assessed in different
jurisdictions in order to balance revenue generation
with the services received in each county.

® Establishing an east-west trunk line with enhanced
service (such as the Farnam Busway or the
Dodge/Farnam LRT line) should be a priority, with
establishment of at least one project as soon as
possible.

® North-south BRT service on either 24th, 30th, or
72nd Street is also important and at least one such
corridor should be prioritized.

Based on this feedback, three Refined Scenarios were
developed. All of the scenarios incorporate the feedback
for which widespread consensus was achieved, such as
a three-county jurisdiction and long-term prioritization
of sales taxes over property taxes. The individual
scenarios attempt to demonstrate different approaches
to improving and expanding transit services within that

6.4.1 Model Refinements

A number of minor changes were applied to the model
before the Refined Scenarios were developed. These
include the following:

® The Center and Maple BRT projects were modified
to operate from downtown, while the capital costs
were left unchanged based on a capital project
that begins at Midtown. This assumes that any BRT
project on Center and Maple will be constructed
beginning at UNMC, with buses operating on the
Farnam Busway or supplementing a rail line on
Dodge/Farnam.

® The 72nd Street BRT project was extended from
Bergan Mercy Medical Center in Omaha to the
intersection of 72nd Street and Highway 370 in
Sarpy County, in order to provide enhanced service
to Sarpy County. This second section was included
as an additional project, enabling construction of
either the northern segment or both segments.

broader framework. One area in which the scenarios
differ from one another is the manner in which funding
was matched with projects. In Scenarios Aand C, a
project list was defined, with funding levels then set

to provide the necessary financing for those projects.
Scenario B, by contrast, was developed based on a

set funding level, with projects selected based on the
financial capacity to build and operate them.

In each Scenario, new services such as Freeway BRT

and rural dial-a-ride transit service generally take effect
as new jurisdictions are added to the transit authority.
Capital projects such as LRT and Busway BRT are
constructed as funding allows. Likewise, Phase Il and
Phase Il service improvements as recommended by
TMD take effect as funding allows. All Scenarios assume
that the “cost neutral” Phase | service improvements
will take effect in 2016.

Additional model refinements and changes in
assumptions that underlie the Refined Scenarios are
described below. Following the discussion of model
refinements, each Refined Scenario is presented. The
project capital costs described under each scenario
are expressed in 2013 dollars and exclude rolling
stock. One-page visual summaries of the 2050 service
characteristics achieved under each scenario are
presented in Appendix B.

® Whereas under the Preliminary Scenarios, a mix
of Arterial BRT and Busway BRT projects were
considered, all BRT projects proposed in the Refined
Scenarios are Busway BRT projects.

® Under the Refined Scenarios, all capital projects
are assumed to receive a 32 percent federal New
Starts or Small Starts capital grant. This rate is based
on a 40 percent federal match multiplied by an 80
percent assumed probability of funding, which has
been applied across the board for all capital projects
included in the Refined Scenarios. This differs from
the Preliminary Scenarios, in which only some
capital projects were assumed to receive federal
assistance.

® The model was modified to allow for contract
revenue to be discontinued at a set date. In
the refined scenarios, contract revenue will be
discontinued in conjunction with any regional tax
covering Pottawattamie County, on the assumption
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that the new tax revenue would replace the
previous mechanism of using contracts for funding
service outside of Douglas County.

® Many projects, including the Dodge/Farnam LRT
project, were broken into shorter component
segments to facilitate phased construction of the
higher cost projects, as well as to allocate cost
across multiple counties for projects that provide
local service in more than one county (express
bus services are allocated entirely to the outlying
counties).

® Transit projects under consideration as part of
the ongoing Central Omaha Transit Alternatives
Analysis have been added to the model for possible
consideration. These projects are not active in
the Refined Scenarios, but could be activated as
substitutes for similar projects that do appear in
the Preliminary and/or Refined scenarios, pending

6.4.2 Scenario A: Accelerated LRT

Scenario A has as its primary goal the construction of

a full-length LRT line from Council Bluffs to the First
National Business Park at Dodge and 144th Streets, via
Dodge and Farnam Streets in Omaha and Broadway in
Council Bluffs. This is accomplished through a phased
20-year construction plan, beginning Downtown and
expanding to both the east and west in five-year
increments. Other capital projects are constructed as a
companion to this trunk line, with appropriate phasing
to connect with LRT segments are they are completed.

Because Scenario A is the only one of the Refined
Scenarios in which LRT is constructed, it results in both
the highest expenditure levels and the highest need
for local revenues. In spite of assumed federal capital
assistance for the LRT and related BRT projects, the
majority of capital funding and nearly all additional
operating funding, will be locally derived. Scenario A
assumes funding from the following sources:

® The existing property tax rate of 0.0503 percent in
the City of Omaha will grow at 2.5 percent per year
through 2018, by which time the rate will reach
0.0583 percent. The rate will remain fixed thereafter
in perpetuity.

® Beginningin 2018, a new three-county sales tax of

input from stakeholders. Each project has close
similarities to projects already included in the model
and the additional Alternatives Analysis projects are
added as additional options, rather than replacing
those similar projects. The Alternatives Analysis
projects included in the model are:

1. BRT between TD Ameritrade Park, Downtown and
Crossroads via parallel lanes on Farnam and Harney
Streets.

2. BRT between TD Ameritrade Park, Downtown and
Crossroads via bus lanes on Farnam Street, including
an eastbound contraflow lane.

3. Streetcar between TD Ameritrade Park, Downtown
and UNMC via parallel lanes on Farnam and Harney
Streets.

4. Streetcar between TD Ameritrade Park, Downtown
and UNMC via bus lanes on Farnam Streets,
including an eastbound contraflow lane.

Pottawattamie counties. This was the rate needed
to fund the projects listed below.

® Revenue from service contracts in Pottawattamie
County will end after 2017, to be replaced by sales
tax revenue from the new three-county transit
authority.

The following project phasing is envisioned under
Scenario A (note that all costs are in 2013 dollars):

® General public rural transit service to three counties
in 2018.

® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2019:

144th St./Fort St. to Downtown.

180th St./Q St. to Downtown.

Oakland to Downtown.

Oakland to Westroads.

Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Downtown via 1-29.

Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Westroads via |-680.
A new CNG refueling facility opens in 2019.
All Phase |l service improvements in 2020.

® Phased construction of LRT along Dodge/Farnam

of the project is estimated at approximately $1.2
billion. The following phasing is envisioned:

Downtown to UNMC in 2020.
UNMC to Crossroads in 2025.
Crossroads to Westroads in 2030.
Council Bluffs to Downtown in 2035.

Westroads to First National Business Park in
2040.

® All Phase lll service improvements in 2025.

® Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2025:

6.4.3 Scenario B: Network Evolution

Scenario B is modeled after Preliminary Scenario 5,
seeking gradual system-wide service improvements
and the eventual implementation of a comprehensive
BRT network. Refinements from Preliminary Scenario 5
include extension of the 72nd Street Busway to Sarpy
County and elimination of the 30th Street BRT corridor.
While Preliminary Scenario 5 included a 0.5 percent
eight-county sales tax in addition to the existing Omaha
property tax, Refined Scenario B applies that sales tax
to only three counties, delaying implementation to
2025, but supplementing it with a 0.1 percent Omaha
property tax effective in 2018.

Scenario B assumes funding from the following sources:

® The existing property tax rate of 0.0503 percent in
the City of Omaha will grow at 2.5 percent per year
through 2015, after which it will increase to a fixed
0.1 percent rate effective in 2016 and continuing in
perpetuity.

® Beginningin 2025, a new three-county sales tax of
0.5 percent will be enacted.

® Revenue from service contracts in Pottawattamie
County will end after 2024, to be replaced by sales
tax revenue from the new three-county transit
authority.

The following project phasing is envisioned under
Scenario B:

® A new CNG refueling facility opens in 2017.

® General public rural transit service to three counties

Maple (Midtown to Westroads), at a cost of

$67.0 million.
Center (Midtown to Oakview), at a cost of $78.5
million.

72nd Street (I-680 and Bergan Mercy Medical
Center) at a cost of $63.6 million.

® Construction of the 72nd Street Busway between
Bergan Mercy Medical Center and Highway 370,
with completion and commencement of BRT service
on the corridor in 2030, at a cost of $57.0 million.

A summary of Scenario A 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix B.

® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2026:

144th St./Fort St. to Downtown.

180th St./Q St. to Downtown.

Oakland to Downtown.

Oakland to Westroads.

Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Downtown via I-29.
Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Westroads via |-680.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor in
2020, at a cost of $63.3 million.

® All Phase Il service improvements in 2025.

Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2025:

Maple (Midtown to Westroads), at a cost of
$67.0 million.

Center (Midtown to Oakview), $78.5 million.
All Phase Il service improvements in 2035.

® Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2035:

24th Street (North Omaha Transit Center
to Metro Community College South Omaha
Campus), $62.8 million.

72nd Street (1-680 to Highway 370), $120.5
million.

1.0 twillb ted in Douglas, S d ; ; ; in 2025
PETEET WiTl be enacted In Dotglas, sarpy an Streets in Omaha and Broadway in Cou.nC|I Bluffs, A summary of Scenario B 2050 service characteristics is
between 2020 and 2040. The total capital cost contained in Appendix B.
I | §) ) e | O 3 |
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6.4.3.1 Scenario B with repeal of Omaha Property
Tax

Due to the general lack of appetite for property taxes,
an alternative version of Refined Scenario B was
developed in which the local Omaha property tax is
eventually repealed in its entirety, with the funding
shortfall to be replaced by an additional increment in
the already-proposed three-county sales tax. Under
this scenario, like the “base” Scenario B described
previously, the property tax rate increases 2.5 percent
per year through 2015, increasing to a fixed 0.1 percent
rate in 2016. However, under this alternative scenario

6.4.4 Scenario C: Regional Equity

Scenario C was developed to address concerns about
regional equity in a new enlarged transit authority
service area. The project list and phasing is loosely
based upon Preliminary Scenarios 3 and 5, however
the funding in this scenario was specifically designed
to match revenue levels derived from each of the
three counties with the level of service received in
those respective counties. To accomplish this, all local
property tax is repealed and replaced with a sales tax,
with different sales tax rates applied in each of the
three counties. The rate assessed in each county was
computed based on both the level of transit service
offered in that county and the county’s estimated tax
base. The rates and equity calculations were computed
based on expected total tax receipts and transit
expenditures between 2018 (the year in which the
property tax is repealed and replaced with a sales tax)
and 2050.

Scenario C assumes funding from the following sources:

® The existing property tax rate of 0.0503 percent will
remain fixed until 2018, when it is fully repealed.

® Beginningin 2018, a new three-county sales tax
will be enacted, with the following rates for each
county:

Douglas County: 0.70 percent

Sarpy County: 0.20 percent

Pottawattamie County: 0.66 percent
These rates were developed based on the project list
below, with the dual goals of (1) providing the necessary

funding to finance the project list and (2) do soin a
geographically equitable manner.

the property tax is then fully repealed in 2025 when
the new three-county sales tax takes effect. In order to
maintain the same project list, a corresponding increase
in the sales tax is needed to compensate for the loss

of property tax revenue. It is not possible to calculate
a precise substitute sales tax rate, because of differing
assumptions about future growth in property and sales
tax bases. However, it was found that a three-county
sales tax rate of 0.77 percent was sufficient to maintain
the same project list and phasing as the base Scenario
B. This compares to a sales tax of 0.50 percent under
the base Scenario B, constituting an increase of slightly
greater than 50 percent in the sales tax rate.

® Revenue from service contracts in Sarpy and
Pottawattamie counties will end after 2017, to be
replaced by sales tax revenue from the new three-
county transit authority.

® Scenario C also assumes that fare revenues will
cover 30 percent of total operating expenses. This
is in comparison with Scenarios A and B, as well as
all earlier scenarios, in which a 20 percent farebox
recovery is assumed.

The following project phasing is envisioned under
Scenario C:

® General public rural transit service to three counties
in 2018

® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2019:

144th St./Fort St. to Downtown.

180th St./Q St. to Downtown.

Oakland to Downtown.

Oakland to Westroads.

Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Downtown via I-29.

Old Mormon Bridge Rd. to Westroads via I-680.
A new CNG refueling facility opens in 2019.

Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Midtown, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor in
2020, at a cost of $63.3 million.

All Phase |l service improvements in 2025.

Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2025:

Maple (Midtown to Westroads), at a cost of
$67.0 million.

Center (Midtown to Oakview), $78.5 million.

® Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2035:

24th Street (North Omaha Transit Center
to Metro Community College South Omaha
Campus), $62.8 million.

Figure 6.1 illustrates the various tax rate proposals
associated with each Refined Scenario. Table 6.4

then summarizes the projects to be included under
each Scenario and implementation phasing. The two
exhibits are intended to illustrate the manner in which
scenarios were built incrementally upon one another
and the funding necessary to achieve these build-

out scenarios. A, as the only scenario in which LRT is
constructed, requires the most revenue and results in
the greatest level of expenditures. In addition to the
LRT construction, other capital projects and service
improvements are also accelerated compared with

the other scenarios. Scenarios B and C are relatively
similar in both the scope and phasing of projects and
improvements. Scenario C brings in more revenue than
Scenario B between 2016 and 2025, allowing earlier
implementation of rural BRT and dial-a-ride services,
whereas Scenario C’s lower revenues after 2025 require
later capital projects to be delayed compared with
Scenario B. Additional detail on each scenario, including
project maps, phasing and operations statistics, can

be found in the one-page summaries presented in
Appendix B.

As shown, under Scenarios A and B, Sarpy County
contributes a substantially higher proportion of local
tax revenues to the system than it receives in transit
service expenditures. Sarpy County’s contribution is
greatest under the “Repeal Property Tax” version of
Scenario B, because the Omaha property tax — repealed
under that scenario — tends to shift the burden toward
Douglas County and the elimination of that tax must be
compensated for with additional sales taxes levied on
all three counties. Under all scenarios, Sarpy County
receives between three and four percent of transit
expenditures while contributing up to 22 percent of

72nd Street (I-680 to Bergan Mercy Medical
Center), $63.6 million.

® All Phase lll service improvements in 2035.

® Construction of the 72nd Street Busway between
Bergan Mercy Medical Center and Highway 370,
with completion and commencement of BRT service
on the corridor in 2040, at a cost of $57.0 million.

A summary of Scenario C 2050 service characteristics is
contained in Appendix B.

local tax revenues. By comparison, Pottawattamie
County tends to receive a greater share of expenditures
than its share of local tax contributions, due to the
comparatively extensive level of transit service provided
in Council Bluffs. Under Scenario C these imbalances
are largely eliminated, with each of the three counties
receiving a share of transit expenditures that is within
one percentage point of that county’s share of the local
tax burden.

Table 6.5 summarizes the aggregate operating statistics,
capital, and operating costs for the Refined Scenarios.

Figure 6.2 illustrates the relationship between
expenditures and local tax revenues by county under
each Refined Scenario. In none of the cases do total
revenues match total expenditures, because local tax
revenues are only one of many revenue sources for
Metro. Furthermore, some expense categories, such
as a proposed CNG refueling facility, are not associated
with any specific county and are therefore excluded
from the calculation. Therefore the distributions shown
in Figure 6.2 are expressed as a percent of the total,
rather than absolute numbers.

I | O/ N ()
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Figure 6.1: Proposed Tax Rates under the Refined Scenarios
Omaha Property Tax Rate
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At the present time, Metro serves primarily the City
of Omaha. The agency receives local tax support
from within the City and its board is appointed by
the City Council. Service to other communities in
Douglas, Sarpy, and Pottawattamie counties is provided
through service contracts arranged directly with the
jurisdictions served. Expansion of Metro’s offerings
outside of Omaha, and implementation of a regional
mobility tax to finance that expansion, will likely require
a reconfiguration of Metro’s governance structure

to adequately represent the affected communities.
Based on the feedback received during the June

2013 workshop, potential governance strategies for
an expanded transit authority were developed in
conjunction with the Refined Scenarios presented in
the previous sections. This section identifies options
for a governance structure for a potential three-
county transit authority that would provide public
transportation for residents of Douglas and Sarpy
Counties in Nebraska and Pottawattamie County in
lowa. The options described in this section were
presented to the stakeholders in conjunction with the
Refined Scenarios, with the goal of developing a final
Vision Scenario that would also include a preferred
governance structure that is responsive to the needs
of the community and would foster the successful
execution of the Vision Scenario.

6.6.1 Background and Existing
Governance

The three counties included in the proposed regional
transit authority contain a total population of
approximately 790,031 people. Douglas County is the
largest of the three counties, home to a population

of approximately 531,260 people, with approximately
421,570 people living within the City of Omaha. Sarpy
County is the second largest county with approximately
165,853 residents. Pottawattamie County is the
smallest of the three counties, containing approximately

92,913 people, with approximately 62,115 people
residing within the City of Council Bluffs.?

Metro currently has a five member board appointed
by the Mayor of Omaha, subject to confirmation. Only
one of the five members is from outside Omaha. As
previously discussed, Metro provides bus service
beyond Omaha into Douglas, Sarpy and Pottawattamie
counties through contractual service arrangements.

Governance of existing stakeholder agencies will also
play a role in structuring the new expanded transit
authority. Seven commissioners govern Douglas
County affairs.?® The City of Omaha operates under
a Mayor-Council form of government.3! There are
seven members of the City Council .3 A five member
Board of Directors governs Sarpy County.>* A Board
of Supervisors, made up of five elected members,
administers Pottawattamie County affairs.>* MAPA
covers a five-county area in two states. It has a nine-
member appointed board. The smaller member
jurisdictions share representatives on the board. MAPA
has many responsibilities that extend well beyond
transit, including economic development for the
region. MAPA’s composition and responsibilities are
summarized in Table 2.6.

6.6.2 The Need for Expanded
Financial Capability

The Metro System’s structure works well for governing
the current system which serves primarily the City of
Omaha as well as surrounding Douglas, Sarpy, and
Pottawattamie counties through service contracts.
However, if the system is to grow to meet the needs

of the metropolitan area in the coming decades,
changes will be required. Barriers currently exist to
utilizing even the existing authorized levels of taxing
authority for transit needs, let alone to accessing the
funding necessary to modernize the system and make it
conducive to meeting urban planning goals. This is due
to the fact that Metro cannot realize its full statutory

29 - State & County QuickFacts, The United States Census Bureau, available at http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/19/1916860.html.
30 - Douglas County, http://www.douglascounty-ne.gov/home (last visited July 1, 2013).

31 - City of Omaha, http://www.cityofomaha.org/ (last visited July 1, 2013).
32 - lbid

33 - County Board, Sarpy County, Nebraska, http://www.sarpy.com/countyboard/ (last visited July 1, 2013).
34 - Pottawattamie County, lowa, http://www.pottcounty.com/ (last visited July 1, 2013).

35 - Neb. Const. art. XV, § 18(1)

levy as the result of overall levy caps and expenditure
limitations. Interim steps can potentially be taken

to remove barriers to accessing currently authorized
funding levels. New sources of funding, however, come
with governance issues as well as the need to provide
direct representation to participating jurisdictions.

6.6.3 Proposed Governance Options

The proposed three-county transit authority would be
in charge of collecting new regional transit revenues
and operating public transportation across three
counties: Douglas and Sarpy counties in Nebraska

and Pottawattamie County in lowa. The objective in
identifying a recommended governance strategy is to
achieve a fair framework that balances representation,
contributions, and benefits for the three counties using
best practices. Because Douglas County has two-thirds
of the population, any proportional representation
scheme must contain mechanisms in place to ensure
protection of the interests of minority jurisdictions.

The fact that the three counties are in two different
states also presents certain challenges in the area of
governance. However, interlocal agreements or even
contractual arrangements similar to those currently
used by the Metro system to provide service across
county and state lines provide a possible approach to
implementing a regional transit authority even in the
absence of sweeping new legislation or an interstate
compact. The concept of cooperation across state lines
to provide governmental services is not only evident

in legislation such as the Interlocal Cooperation Act

and the Joint Public Agency Act, but is also enshrined

in the Nebraska Constitution: “The state or any local
government may exercise any of its powers or perform
any of its functions, including financing the same, jointly
or in cooperation with any other governmental entity or
entities, either within or without the state, except as the
Legislature shall provide otherwise by law.”3*

The following three governance options were developed
to present a variety of board structures, sizes, and
election mechanisms that represent a range of options
for the region. Each of the options is intended to
present a realistic scenario that would be consistent in
structure with a number of peer regions, particularly
those addressed in Section 2.9 of this report. A final
recommended governance structure will be presented
in Chapter 8, which discusses implementation strategies
following the selection of a Vision Scenario.

Option One: Five Elected Directors

The first proposed option for governing a regional
transit authority is a five-member elected Board of
Directors. This option most closely reflects the size

of the current Metro board. Setting the number of
elected board members at this low level would also
help mitigate the cost of conducting elections. Seats on
the board would be allocated to counties on an at-large
basis. Out of the five-member panel, three members
would represent Douglas County and both Sarpy and
Pottawattamie counties would have one representative
each, roughly corresponding to the proportionate share
of each county’s total population (Figure 6.3).

Figure 6.3: Population versus Representation by
County, Governance Option One
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Adopting super-majority voting requirements whereby
Board actions require the approval of more than a
simple majority of the Board would ensure protection
of both Sarpy and Pottawattamie County interests.
However, to achieve this, a super-majority vote would
require approval by four out of five board members (80
percent).

Opting for an elected Board of Directors would ensure
competitive pursuit of the office and would raise its
public profile. Public elections would also make the
Board of Directors’ members more accountable to the
public for the actions related to the new authority.
Elected officials can be presumed to be more likely to
pursue policies that are in line with the preferences of
the electorate.

A significant concern about electing the board is the
cost associated with conducting an election, both by
the government and by the candidates. Although less
common than appointed boards, there are a number of
notable regional transit agencies with elected boards,
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including the Regional Transportation District (RTD) in
the Denver metropolitan area.

In addition to the cost of electing board members in
three counties, other disadvantages of this option

is that both smaller counties have the same level of

representation despite their population differences.

This could lead to greater jurisdictional politics and a
potential for imbalance between representation and
service levels.

Option Two: Eight Appointed Directors

A second option is an appointed Board of Directors
with eight members in charge of managing the new
authority. This structure is similar to, but somewhat
larger than, the current Metro board. Small to mid-
sized Boards of Directors ranging from seven to ten
members are fairly common among transit authorities
throughout the country, and are used in cities and
regions such as Austin, St. Louis, Kansas City, Cincinnati,
and Des Moines. As the City of Omaha comprises over
half the total population of the proposed transit region,
and Douglas County comprises about two-thirds of the
region, four representatives would come from the City
of Omaha and one from outside the city but still within
Douglas County, closely mirroring those jurisdictions’
share of population. Sarpy County would receive two
seats on the Board, and Pottawattamie County would
receive one seat. Figure 6.4 shows the relationship
between county population and board representation
under this scenario.

Figure 6.4: Population versus Representation by
County, Governance Option Two
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A super-majority requirement of 75 percent of

the vote (six of eight members) would ensure that
Douglas County and the City of Omaha would not have
unchecked control over regional decision—making.

Under this option, the larger eight-member Board of
Directors would allow for a broader range of input

and closer correspondence between population and
representation for each member county. Appointed
Board members would likely be more insulated from
electoral politics, allowing them to draw on policy
expertise. For the new transit authority, the Mayor of
Omaha could appoint the four Directors from Omaha
and the City Council would approve the appointments.
The Douglas County Commissioners could appoint the
Director from within the county but outside the City of
Omaha. The Sarpy and Pottawattamie County Boards
could appoint their respective Directors.

Under this expanded board option, Pottawattamie
County would still have only one Director on the
Board. As with all appointed boards, no direct voter
participation would be involved. However, voters
would have indirect control through their elected city
and county officials. Additionally, there is presently
no precedent in Nebraska for an appointed board with
direct taxing authority, and such a proposal may meet
with substantial resistance on the part of voters and
elected officials.

Option Three: Fifteen Appointed Directors

Similar to Option Two, a third available structure for
governance for the new transit authority is a board
comprised of 15 appointed Directors. The advantage to
a larger board is that there is room for a higher level of
representation of minority jurisdiction interests as well
as more diverse representation within each jurisdiction.
A few cities and regions in the country use larger Boards
of Directors ranging from 13 to 17 members, including
Albuquerque, Cincinnati, Denver, and Minneapolis/

St. Paul. Of the fifteen Directors under Option Three,
ten appointments from Omaha and Douglas County
would represent a sixty-seven percent 67 percent
membership share, which is very closely proportional to
the population. Having eight of the ten Directors from
the City of Omaha and two from outside the city but
still within Douglas County would also closely represent
the population breakdown within Douglas County. Of
the remaining seats, three would be apportioned to
Sarpy County and two to Pottawattamie County. Figure
6.5 shows the relationship between representation and
county population under this arrangement.

Figure 6.5: Population versus Representation by
County, Governance Option Three
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Implementing super-majority voting requirements
would protect the interests of the minority jurisdictions.
Under this option in order to achieve a 75 percent
super-majority, a vote of 12 of the 15 members would
be required. This would mean, for example, the ten
Douglas County representatives would need to be
joined by at least two of the five members from the
other counties.

It would be possible, under this Option, to develop a
model whereby a broader degree of public participation
could be encouraged through an application process.
This could increase public awareness and involvement
even though no election would be held. This would
entail soliciting applications for the Director positions,
but having the applicants screened and selected by
the respective governing bodies. A similar approach

is used in Duluth, Minnesota.* In the event of a
Director vacancy, a replacement could be chosen using
unselected applications kept on file.

Option Three avoids electoral politics and the costs

of electing board members in three counties while
providing the best opportunity to ensure proportional
representation of each member jurisdiction. It

also allows a broader range of participation from

each county and greater public access to the Board.
Disadvantages include increased administrative costs
compared to a smaller appointed board and potential
inefficiencies related to the functioning of a 15-member
board. In particular, reaching a super-majority
consensus on a board of this size may prove to be a
more challenging proposition than on a smaller board.
Finally, as with Option Two, the lack of precedent for an
appointed board with direct taxing authority may prove
to be an issue in gaining legislative approval for this
governance structure.

Summary

The three options described above each provide
unique advantages and disadvantages. Option

One is the simplest and most similar to the current
Metro governance structure, but is limited in terms

of membership because of the size of the Board and
would require costly elections. Option Two mimics

the popular small- to mid-size boards used nationwide
and saves money by appointing Directors, but may not
fully protect the interests of Pottawattamie County in
relation to Douglas and Sarpy counties. Option Three is
the largest and most complex option, resulting in higher
administrative costs and potentially more challenging
proceedings, but the size and structure of the Board
allow for the highest level of minority jurisdiction
representation and civic engagement. Super-majority
voting provisions could protect minority jurisdiction
interests in all three options.

36 - See Duluth Transit Authority, http://www.duluthtransit.com/misc/board (last visited July 1, 2013).
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The Refined Scenarios described in the previous
chapter were presented to the Steering Committee at a
workshop in July 2013. The workshop featured a high-

for an expanded transit authority. Governance
approaches at the peer agencies described in Chapter 2
of this document were presented for comparison.

level review of the study progress to-date, including a

summary of the findings of the previous stakeholder
meeting. These findings were used as the basis for

the Refined Scenarios, which were then presented in
detail. Following presentation of the Refined Scenarios,
potential governance strategies were presented,
including three hypothetical governing board structures

Following the presentation of the Refined Scenarios
and the potential governance strategies, the Steering
Committee engaged in an open discussion with the
goal of arriving at a single Vision Scenario for final
evaluation. A number of themes and findings came out
of this discussion, and are summarized as follows:

The “equity” approach to regional funding, in which the distribution of local revenues by county should match
the proportional distribution of capital and operating expenditures, was strongly favored. Refined Scenario C, in
which this approach was utilized, should be the basis for the Vision Scenario.

The concept of a “multi-modal transportation tax” was supported by the group. Under such a proposal, a flat
regional sales tax rate would be applied throughout the three-county area, with the portion dedicated to transit
determined on a county-by-county basis, based on equity calculations. The remainder would be dedicated to
other projects such as roadway improvements.

Compared with Refined Scenario C, a more aggressive program was desired, with at least one north-south BRT
route completed by 2025 in addition to the east-west Farnam Busway project.

A higher level of service to Pottawattamie County than what was included in Scenario C would be necessary to
justify including that county in a regional transit authority. At least one premium service (BRT or LRT) should be
extended to Pottawattamie County.

LRT would still be a highly desirable outcome and should still be included for consideration, despite its higher
cost.

Due to continuing concerns about the feasibility of a three-county tax plan with the range of rates presented
thus far, there was interest in maintaining at least one lower-cost scenario focused primarily on the existing

Omaha property tax.

Based on the desire to include LRT, and with due
concern over its high cost, the decision was made to
develop two Vision Scenarios with a similar overall
structure, differing primarily by the inclusion of LRT.
Both scenarios carry forward the key findings that led

to the Refined Scenarios, such as a three-county service
area and favoring of sales tax over property taxes as a
long-term regional funding approach. Both are built
upon Refined Scenario C in terms of the regional equity
approach to funding transit. These two Vision Scenarios
are known as the Moderate Scenario and the Aggressive
Scenario.

Additionally, due to continued concerns about the
feasibility of a three-county transit authority funded

by a new regional sales tax, the decision was made to
include a third Vision Scenario. Known as the Omaha-
Only Scenario, this scenario relies solely on the existing
Omaha property tax, supplemented by a continuation of
existing contract revenue for existing outlying services.
Under the Omaha-Only Scenario, the property tax is
gradually increased, reaching 0.10 percent in 2018 and
remaining fixed at that rate thereafter. This scenario
most closely resembles Preliminary Scenario #1.

www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



One key difference between Refined Scenario C and

the Moderate and Aggressive Vision Scenarios is that
the Vision Scenarios maintain the local property tax
within the City of Omaha, in addition to county-level
sales taxes. Due to the majority of current and future
service being located in Omaha, supplementing the
regional sales tax with a local property tax allows the
regional sales tax to remain lower than would otherwise
be possible, thereby helping to establish the desired
regional balance in revenues versus expenditures.

In each Vision Scenario, as with previous scenarios, new
services begin to take effect as new revenue sources
become available and, when applicable, Metro’s service
area is expanded.

Additional model refinements and changes in
assumptions that underlie the Refined Scenarios are
described below. Following the discussion of model
refinements, each Vision Scenario is presented. The
project capital costs described under each scenario
are expressed in 2013 dollars and exclude rolling
stock. One-page visual summaries of the 2050 service
characteristics achieved under each scenario are
presented in Appendix C.

Several changes were applied to the model before the
Vision Scenarios were developed. These include the
following:

® Two additional sources of annual funding have
been added, as directed by MAPA. The model
now assumes $750,000 in annual federal Surface
Transportation Program (STP) funds, allocated to
Metro through MAPA. The STP funds are assumed
to rise annually at the rate of inflation. In addition,
$750,000 in annual CMAQ funding is now included
beginning in 2018. Unlike the STP funds, the CMAQ
funding does not increase with inflation.

® The reserve fund requirement, which forces Metro
to maintain a minimum cash balance at all times,
was increased from the previous assumption of
60 days of operations, to 180 days. This reduces
the maximum amount of annual spending, and/
or increases the amount that Metro may have to
periodically borrow to maintain the mandated
balance.

® Refined Scenario C differed from the other Refined
Scenarios as well as the Preliminary Scenarios in
that it assumed a 30 percent farebox recovery
ratio, whereas all other scenarios had assumed 20
percent. All three Vision Scenarios revert to the
previous 20 percent farebox recovery ratio.

® Rural dial-a-ride service is no longer implemented
in Pottawattamie County, due to existing services
already offered there. Under the Omaha-Only
Scenario, Rural dial-a-ride service is eliminated
entirely.

® |n Pottawattamie County, certain service
improvements and new services are not
implemented in order to control costs. Specifically
Freeway BRT routes to lowa are not implemented,
and only the Phase | TMD service improvements are
implemented. This change affects Pottawattamie
County only, and applies to the Moderate and
Aggressive Scenarios.

® The model was modified so that Freeway BRT
projects to 180th/Q Street, and to 144th/Fort
Street, would replace, rather than supplement,
existing Millard Express and Maple Village Express
routes, respectively.

A new Freeway BRT route to Offutt Air Force Base
has been added to the model. When activated, this
route replaces the existing Bellevue Express (Route
95).

A new Freeway BRT route to a park-and-ride facility
at the intersection of 1-80 and State Route 370 in
Sarpy County has been added to the model.

The model now assumes that park-and-ride
facilities, included in the Freeway BRT routes, will
be funded from outside sources. This substantially
reduces the capital cost of constructing these
routes.

Arterial BRT projects were reintroduced for
consideration in the Vision Scenarios. The
Preliminary Scenarios had included both Arterial
and Busway BRT projects, but the Refined Scenarios
focused solely on Busway BRT.

No state assistance for Freeway BRT is assumed
under the Vision Scenarios. This is a change from
previous scenarios in which the state was assumed
to cover 80 percent of the cost of park-and-ride
facilities, bus-on-shoulder improvements, and
related capital items. Assumed state funding was
removed to make the scenarios more financially
conservative. However, it is still recommended that
Metro seek state capital funding assistance for these
and any other capital projects.
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Figure 7.1: Omaha-Only Vision Scenario

7.2 Vision Scenario: Omaha Only

-,

B
E
-

.

The Omaha-Only Scenario is most closely related to ® Phase Il service improvements to Route 4 (Maple)

Preliminary Scenario 1. Local funding is derived from only in 2020. N . i

the existing Omaha property tax, which increases ® Construction of the Farnam/Dodge Arterial BRT o :
incrementally beginning in 2014, and reaching 0.10 project between UNMC and Westroads, to be : - E :
percent in 2018. Contract revenues that currently completed and open by 2030, at a cost of $23.1 pa -} = : ,:
finance services operating outside of Omaha would million. This scenario does not assume BRT service il .__' ' g é z
continue in perpetuity under this scenario. on this corridor. Routes 2, 4, and 15 would operate T T \ g i%l & a = 2

In keeping with the stated goal of providing at least through this corridor. e g R % by E E ® E .
one north-south and one east-west enhanced transit ® Construction of the 24th Street Arterial BRT project EI E: § 2 L_E o B - f s
corridor, this Scenario includes the construction of between North Omaha Transit Center and Metro ?3. = £ o= B =

one such BRT-type facility in each direction emanating Community College South Omaha Campus, to be @; E 2 o B o E “

from Downtown Omaha. However, due to the limited completed and opened to traffic in 2030, at a cost o - i g E & E i ?@
availability of funds in this Scenario, true BRT service is of $35.4 million. This scenario does not assume BRT W S S .¢.

not implemented. Rather, key high-frequency local bus service on this corridor. Route 24 would operate 7

corridors are created with a combination of existing through this corridor. (

services and reconfigured service as recommended ® Phase Il service improvements to Route 24 (24th / l

in the Phase | and Phase Il Service Improvements Street) only in 2030.
recommended by TMD.

s uoe 1'

Figure 7.1 presents the 2050 transit network under the
The C.)maha—OnIy. Scenario includes the following Omaha-Only Vision Scenario. A detailed summary of
funding assumptions: the scenario is contained in Appendix C.
® The existing property tax in Omaha will grow from
its current rate of 0.503 percent, reaching 0.10
percent in 2018 and remaining fixed thereafter.

® Revenue from service contracts in Pottawattamie
County continue in perpetuity.

The following project phasing is envisioned under the
Omaha-Only Scenario:

enter Stg

® All Phase | Service Improvements in 2016.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and UNMC, to be completed and open
by 2020 at a cost of $23.2 million. This scenario
does not assume BRT service on this corridor.
Routes 2, 4, and 15 would operate on the busway.

® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2020:

e 144th Street/Fort Street to Downtown.
e 180th Street/Q Street to Downtown.
e Offutt AFB to Downtown.

e State Route 370/1-80 park-and-ride to
Downtown

\
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7.3 Vision Scenario: Moderate

The Moderate Scenario is based upon Refined Scenario
C, employing a regionally balanced approach to funding
and building premium transit services in the Omaha
region. To accomplish this, the local property tax in
Omaha is supplemented with sales tax rates that vary
among each of the three counties in the expanded
transit service area. The rates and equity calculations
were computed based on expected total tax receipts
and transit expenditures between 2018 (the year in
which the sales tax is implemented) and 2050.

The Moderate Scenario includes the following funding
assumptions:

® The existing property tax in Omaha will remain fixed
at the current rate of 0.503 percent in perpetuity.

® Beginningin 2018, a new three-county sales tax
will be enacted, with the following rates for each
county:

* Douglas County: 0.62 percent
e Sarpy County: 0.28 percent

e Pottawattamie County: 0.60 percent

These rates were developed based on the project list
below, with the dual goals of (1) providing the necessary
funding to finance the project list, and (2) doing so in a
geographically equitable manner.

® Revenue from service contracts in Sarpy and
Pottawattamie counties will end after 2017, to be
replaced by sales tax revenue from the new three-
county transit authority.

® No state assistance for Freeway BRT is assumed
under this scenario. This is a change from previous
scenarios in which the state was assumed to cover
80 percent of the cost of park-and-ride facilities,
bus-on-shoulder improvements, and related capital
items.

The following project phasing is envisioned under the
Moderate Scenario:
® All Phase | Service Improvements in 2016.

® General public rural transit service to Douglas and
Sarpy counties in 2018.

® A new CNG refueling facility opens in 2019.
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® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Westroads, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor in
2020, at a cost of $63.3 million.

® Phase Il service improvements in Douglas and Sarpy
counties in 2025.

Construction of the 24th Street Busway between
North Omaha Transit Center and Metro Community
College South Omaha Campus, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor in
2025, at a cost of $62.8 million.

® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2023:

e 144th Street/Fort Street to Downtown.
e 180th Street/Q Sreett to Downtown.

® Construction of the 72nd Street (1-680 to Highway
370) Arterial BRT project, with completion and
commencement of service in 2025, at a cost of
$68.2 million.

® Construction of the Dodge/Broadway (Downtown to
Council Bluffs) Arterial BRT project, with completion
and commencement of service in 2030, at a cost of
$37.2 million.

® Phase lll service improvements in Douglas and Sarpy
counties in 2035.

® Construction of the following Arterial BRT projects,
with completion and commencement of service in
2035:

*  Maple-Westroads, at a cost of $37.7 million.
* Center (Midtown to Oakview), at a cost of $44.5

million.

Figure 7.2 presents the 2050 transit network under the
Moderate Vision Scenario. A detailed summary of the
scenario is contained in Appendix C.

Figure 7.2: Moderate Vision Scenario
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7.4 Vision Scenario: Aggressive

The Aggressive Scenario offers the same extent of
service over the same corridors as the Moderate
Scenario, with a somewhat more aggressive
implementation schedule and more ambitious capital
improvements envisioned. Specifically, the Aggressive
Scenario upgrades several of the Arterial BRT corridors
in the Moderate Scenario to Busway BRT, and includes
the long-term goal of implementing LRT before the
2050 horizon year. This is accomplished through
higher taxation levels in all three counties: a 63 percent
increase in Douglas County, 19 percent increase in
Sarpy County, and 9 percent increase in Pottawattamie
County.

The Aggressive Scenario includes the following funding
assumptions:

® The existing property tax in Omaha will remain fixed
at the current rate of 0.503 percent in perpetuity.

® Beginningin 2018, a new three-county sales tax
will be enacted, with the following rates for each
county:

* Douglas County: 0.99 percent
e Sarpy County: 0.32 percent

e Pottawattamie County: 0.63 percent

These rates were developed based on the project list
below, with the dual goals of (1) providing the necessary
funding to finance the project list, and (2) doing so in a
geographically equitable manner.

® Revenue from service contracts in Pottawattamie
County will end after 2017, to be replaced by sales
tax revenue from the new three-county transit
authority.

The following project phasing is envisioned under the
Aggressive Scenario:
® All Phase | Service Improvements in 2016.

® General public rural transit service to Douglas and
Sarpy counties in 2018.

A new CNG refueling facility opens in 2019.

® Construction of the Farnam Busway between
Downtown and Westroads, with completion and
commencement of BRT service on the corridor in
2020, at a cost of $63.3 million.
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® The following Freeway BRT services commence in
2023:

e 144th Street/Fort Street to Downtown.
e 180th Street/Q Street to Downtown.

® Phase Il service improvements in Douglas and Sarpy
counties in 2025.

® Construction of the following busways, with
commencement of BRT service in 2025:

e 24th Street (North Omaha Transit Center
to Metro Community College South Omaha
Campus), at a cost of $62.8 million.

e 72nd Street (I-680 to Highway 370), at a cost of
$120.5 million.

® Construction of the Dodge/Broadway (Downtown to
Council Bluffs) Arterial BRT project, with completion
and commencement of service in 2030, at a cost of
$37.2 million.

® Phase lll service improvements in Douglas and Sarpy
counties in 2035.

® Construction of the following busways, with
completion and commencement of BRT service in
2035:

* Maple-Westroads, at a cost of $67.0 million.

* Center (Midtown to Oakview), at a cost of $78.5
million.

® Construction of the Dodge/Farnam LRT, with
completion and commencement of service in 2045,
at a cost of $543.7 million.

Figure 7.3 presents the 2050 transit network under the
Aggressive Vision Scenario. A detailed summary of the
scenario is contained in Appendix C

Figure 7.3: Aggressive Vision Scenario
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Table 7.2 - Vision Scenarios Summary
7.5 Vision Scenario Summary

Table 7.1 summarizes the project implementation the Moderate and Aggressive Scenarios. In both of = = o€ :
schedule for the two Vision Scenario alternatives, while these alternatives, the majority of local revenues and Number of Routes, 2050
Table 7.2 summarizes the operating statistics, capital, expenditures occur in Douglas County. The Aggressive Light Rail 0 0 1
and operating costs for the Refined Scenarios. Figure Vision Scenario increases the share of expenditures and BRT 0 5 5
7.4 shows the revenues and expenditures, by county, revenues in Douglas County, due in large part to the Express Bus 8 7 7
under the three scenarios. As shown, local revenues inclusion of LRT in that scenario. Local Bus 25 18 18
and expenditures are balanced by county under Revenue Vehicle Hours, 2050
Light Rail 0 0 33,000
Table 7.1: Vision Scenario Summary Matrix BRT 0 232,000 232,000
Bus (Local + Express) 312,000 292,000 292,000
o o 2050 O&M Cost (2012 $) $53,100,000 $115,400,000 $132,600,000
é‘F @ & & 2050 Annual Local Tax Revenues (2012 S) $35,700,000 $81,400,000 $111,600,000
& § & &‘? 2050 Per Capita O&M Spending (2012 $) $42 $91 $108
-23& = _@.g qs? Capital Costs and Revenues, 2015-2050
< = Aggregate Capital Cost $488,900,000 $1,067,300,300 $2,201,000,000
e Federal 5307 Funding $192,900,000 $192,900,000 $192,900,000
Phase | Service Improvements _ Federal 5309 Funding $32,700,000 $125,800,000 $485,500,000
Phase I Service Improvements - Sarpy and Douglas Only 2025 2025 Federal STP Funding $27,000,000 $27,000,000 $27,000,000
Phase Il Service Improvements- Sarpy and Douglas Only 203 2035 Federal CMAQ Funding $15,700,000 $15.700,000 $15,700,000
State Capital Funding S0 $2,600,000 $12,400,000
CMG Facility
Freeway BRT
Rural Dial-a-Ride Transit —Sarpy and Douglas Only
Busway BRT
Dodge/Farnam (Downtown-Westroads)
Maple-Westroads
Center (Midtown-Dakview)
24th St 2025 2025
72nd 5t (I-680 to Highway 370) 2025
Arterial BRT
Dodge/Broadway [Downtown-Council Bluffs)
Maple-Westroads
Center (Midtown-Dakview)
Dodge/Farnam LRT {Downtown-Westroads) _
I | 7] 7] ) e R EE————
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Figure 7.4: County-Level Revenues versus Expenditures
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7.6 Recommended Governance Structure

The Moderate and Vision Scenarios would require the
creation of a new three-county authority to manage the
revenues, expenditures, capital program, and operations
of an expanded transit program. The Omaha-Only
Vision Scenario would not require any change to the
existing Metro governance structure. This section
describes the recommended governance structure
should a three-county transit program be adopted.

Section 6.6 presented a number of proposed
governance options that would meet the representation
and financing needs of a three-county regional transit
authority such as would be required in the Moderate
and Aggressive Scenarios, while offering a realistic

path to implementation. The three proposed board
structures were as follows:
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® Option One—Five Elected Directors: Three
representatives would come from Douglas County,
and one each from Sarpy and Pottawattamie
counties. This structure would closely resemble
the current Metro Board, while transitioning to an
elected membership to provide direct voter input
on the operations of an agency that would now
have direct taxing authority. The small size of this
Board would limit representation in the outlying
counties and less directly correspond to the relative
populations of the three counties. There may also
be considerable cost associated with holding direct
elections.

® Option Two—Eight Appointed Directors: Five
representatives would come from Douglas County

(four from within Omaha, one from outside

the city), two from Sarpy County, and one from
Pottawattamie County. Having only a single
representative from Pottawattamie County would
be a disadvantage, as would the lack of Nebraska
precedent for an appointed board with taxing
authority. An appointed board, however, would be
better protected against the short-term demands
of electoral politics and would enable the agency
to seek Board members with expertise in transit
operations and policy.

® Option Three—Fifteen Appointed Directors:
Ten representatives would come from Douglas
County (eight from Omaha, two from outside
the city), three from Sarpy County, and two from
Pottawattamie County. With this enlarged board,
it may also be possible to encourage direct public
participation by accepting applications for board
membership from the general public. This Board
structure may result in higher administrative costs
than a smaller board, and it may be challenging to
reach supermajority consensus with a 15-member
board. However, the relatively small number of
member jurisdictions should limit the number
of competing interests and facilitate smoother
consensus-building. The larger Board structure
offers better, more balanced representation,
especially for the two smaller counties, and
no jurisdiction would have fewer than two
representatives on the Board.

7.6.1 Recommended Legislative
Framework

Based upon feedback from stakeholder meetings and
the discussion in the preceding paragraphs, a general
consensus emerged on a number of key characteristics
of a regional transit authority, including the following:

® The unit of membership/participation on a regional

transit authority board should be at the county
level.

® Provisions must be enacted to protect minority

jurisdictions so as to ensure commensurate benefits

from and contributions to the transit system.

® The regional authority should eventually be
funded primarily by sales tax revenue designated
specifically for transit (even if such revenue is part
of a larger multi-model sales tax that would also

fund transportation infrastructure such construction
of roads, bridges and trails).

Other aspects of a regional authority remain to be
determined. Legislation to implement this regional
transit vision would include:

® Amendments to existing statutes which now
effectively preclude the transit system from
accessing the full level of taxing authority ($0.10 per
$100 of taxable value) designated for public transit.
This would entail amendments to Neb. Rev. Stat. §
77-3442 and/or Neb. Rev. Stat. § 77-3443.

® Amendments to the existing Transit Authority
Law and/or new legislation to authorize
creation of a new regional transit authority with
membership open to counties containing a city of
the metropolitan class and contiguous counties,
whether within or without the State of Nebraska,
having a population of 75,000 or more residents.
The current law requires complete ownership of the
transit system by the City of Omaha

® Creation of a regional transit authority board with
members appointed by participating jurisdictions in
proportion to population, and with supermajority
voting requirements designed to protect minority
jurisdictions and ensure a fair balance between
funding contributions and services. Board size must
be large enough to provide adequate representation
to minority jurisdictions. The current Transit
Authority Law provides for one of the five board
members to be from outside of Omaha, and all
members are appointed by the Mayor of Omaha.

® Authorization for participating jurisdictions to
implement a sales tax to supplement funding of
public transit. The current Transit Authority Law
relies primarily on property taxes and does not
authorize use of sales taxes. Options may include
authority to implement a multi-modal sales tax to
fund transportation infrastructure projects, with
a designated minimum portion of the tax going to
fund transit under the direction of the new regional
transit board. The regional transit board would not
have direct taxing authority.

Separate authorizing legislation would be needed in
lowa, or provisions put in place for an expanded service
agreement tied to funding and board representation.
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8 |IMPLEMENTATION 00000000000000000000

The purpose of the Regional Transit Vision study
presented in this report is to identify a future vision for
public transit in the Omaha-Council Bluffs metropolitan
area, through the development of transit investment
scenarios. The technical process and stakeholder
feedback utilized throughout this study has yielded a
set of three alternative Vision Scenarios that illustrate
the potential for future transit development and the
resources necessary to achieve that potential. This
study was conducted as part of the broader Heartland
2050 process which will address land use considerations
and future multi-modal corridor development
opportunities. To capitalize on the findings of this
study and maximize its utility to future efforts, an
implementation plan is essential. The implementation
of a Regional Transit Vision will occur over many years
and will involve multiple jurisdictions and agencies
across the region. This chapter presents the steps to
implement the recommendations and actions outlined
within this document and assigns responsibilities for
implementation. Early implementation steps include
adopting the recommended short-term service
improvements and coordinating with the ongoing
Heartland 2050 process.

The Plan recommendations and actions are based
upon the findings presented in the preceding chapters
of this report and are the result of a technical analysis
and stakeholder engagement process. In order to be
successful, the Regional Transit Vision must reflect
the broader community’s values. Therefore, this
document’s goals, analysis, focus, direction and final
recommendations and actions reflect the values
identified by stakeholders at the onset of the process.
This process is summarized in Section 1.3.

The Implementation Matrix on the following pages is
intended to provide a general reference guide for key
recommendations and actions. The matrix outlines:

® A summary of key recommendations or actions.

® Organization and partners responsible for initiation,
oversight and monitoring.

Anticipated time frames:

e Short-Term (1-5 Years)
*  Mid-Term (5-10 Years)
e Long-Term (10+ Years)

* Ongoing

Table 8.1 Implementation Matrix - System Recommendations

Recommendation and Key Actions

1 Implement Metro Phase | service changes by 2016.

Responsible Entities

Local [\[n]e]:¥}
Juris- lowa
MAPA | Metro | dictions DOT

Short-Term v

Action | Increase frequency in the Farnam corridor to buses every 7-8 minutes or better.

Action | Identify a location for a downtown transit center that maximizes the efficiency of the Farnam transitway and anticipates
connections with potential future streetcar and intercity rail services.

Action | Begin planning activities for BRT in Dodge corridor between University of Nebraska Medical Center and Westroads.

Action | Reinvest in other identified high demand market areas as defined in the Plan in order to refine and reinforce service along current
productive corridors, while promoting better overall network connectivity.

2 Achieve consensus on the Farnam transitway Locally Preferred Alternative. Short-Term v v v

Action

Coordinate BRT and streetcar operating plans between Downtown and University of Nebraska Medical Center to minimize service
duplication, achieve economic development objectives, and maximize funding opportunities.

Action | Identify a Locally Preferred Alternative, complete environmental documentation, and define a FTA funding strategy (if any).

Action | Amend the Omaha Transportation Element to include the Farnam transitway.

Action | Amend the MAPA Long Range Transportation Plan to include the Farnam transitway.

3 Consider a “brokerage” approach for future MOBY service.

Short-Term v v v

and by eliminating service duplication and overlap.

Action | Evaluate the feasibility of a consolidated “one-call” center to increase transportation supply and reduce costs by sharing resources

continued
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Table 8.1 Implementation Matrix - System Recommendations continued Table 8.2 Implementation Matrix - Land Use Policy Recommendations

Responsible Entities Responsible Entities

Local [\[»]o]:¥} Local | NDOR/
Juris- lowa Time Juris- lowa
Recommendation and Key Actions MAPA | Metro | dictions DOT Recommendation and Key Actions Frame MAPA | Metro | dictions DOT
Implement Metro organizational efficiency strategies outlined in the Local jurisdictions should consider appropriate regulatory and administrative
4 Regional Transit Vision and monitor progress through identified performance | Ongoing v policies identified in the Regional Transit Vision to encourage transit-
indicators. 1 supportive development in transit-served corridors. These policies are Short-Term v v

critical to the success of the system, especially within identified high-

Action | Maximize Operator Availability. vt " .
capacity transit corridors.

Action | Optimize Operator and Mechanic Overtime.

- - - Along identified high-capacity transit corridors, jurisdictions should consider adding a Transit or “T” designation as an additional
Action | Expand Maintenance Key Performance Indicators. Action zoning overlay with selected transit-supportive design principles. These principles can be used in conjunction with the City of
Action | Expand Key Financial/Resource Utilization Key Performance Indicators. Omaha’s Urban Design Handbook to ensure quality development that supports future premium or high-capacity transit service

alternatives.

Action | Educate the Work Force on Key Performance Indicators.

Consider specific overlay zoning with higher vertical densities along high-capacity transit corridors beginning with the Farnam

Action | Address Workers Compensation Costs. Action .
transitway.

Action | Focus on Local Market Levels and Conditions Relative to Positions and Programs.

Development review within these areas should include Metro to ensure that transit service needs are being accommodated. This
Action | Improve System Service Performance. Action | already occurs in Omaha within identified transit corridors and mixed-use nodes. However, this review should extend to new
corridors identified in the Regional Transit Vision, within Omaha as well as other jurisdictions in the region.

Build on the recent Metro re-branding efforts by continuing to build G v

awareness and advocacy of the transit system. 2 Build on the Heartland Connections and Heartland 2050 processes. Short-Term v v v v
Action | Continue to educate, advocate and build awareness of the transit system through participation in community events.

Incorporate the transit scenarios and analysis completed during the Heartland Connections process to help inform the development

Action | Leverage opportunities for free traditional media. Action | . enarios for Heartland 2050.
Action | Maximize outreach opportunities through social and online media. Building on the Heartland Connections and Heartland 2050 processes, each jurisdiction should develop corridor and/or area
Action | Establish and nurture an advocacy network including but not limited to employers, social service agencies, schools and medical Action | plans with appropriate transit-supportive land use recommendations, design guidelines and transportation and infrastructure
facilities. requirements for identified high capacity transit corridors.
Work proactively with NDOR to evaluate options for enhanced transit Broaden the constituency of support for transit and maximize its positive
c service for identified Freeway BRT corridors. Options may include improved | ¢ . |/ v v v 3 impact by linking transit to non-motorized mobility improvements by Short-Term v v
access to park and ride stations as well as mainline improvements such as connecting future trail and bicycle facilities to transit corridors.
Bus on Shoulder. Action | Consider proximity to transit corridors, stations and stops when planning future trail and bicycle facilities.
Action | Incorporate enhanced transit strategies into the MAPA Travel Improvement Study. Action Evaluate development regulations and if necessary, revise requirements to ensure that adequate pedestrian facilities are
Action | Adopt transit enhancement strategies along identified Freeway Corridors into future MAPA Long Range Transportation Plan constructed with new development in identified high-capacity transit corridors.
updates.
Begin planning activities in 24th / Belt Line and 72nd Street corridors., .
7 N R ath/ . 0 Mid-Term | v/ v v
including alternatives analysis and FTA project development activities.
Action | Identify a locally preferred alternative, prepare environmental documentation, adopt in relavent plans, identify FTA funding
stratetgey.
8 Prepare for Metro Phase Il service changes by 2025. Long-Term v
Action | Increase service frequency on the Farnam transitway to 5 minutes.
Action | Increase service enhancements including increasing increased frequency on other high capacity corridors identified in the Plan.
Partici in the ongoing planning pr for incr nd enhan
9 : a tlc.pate. t go going pla g process 9 creased and enhanced (PR, g v v v v
intercity rail service between Omaha and Chicago.
Action | Proactively work with regional stakeholders and state and local agencies to identify opportunities to adjust transit corridors and
future transit centers to maximize the potential for connections with intercity rail.
I | ] ] 3 I ] ] O

www.heartland2050.org/connections www.heartland2050.0rg/connections



Table 8.3 Implementation Matrix - Funding Recommendations

Responsible Entities
Local NDOR/

Time Juridic- lowa
Recommendation and Key Actions Frame MAPA Metro tions DOT

Raise Metro property tax revenues collected in Omaha at least 2.5% per year

by board decision. Ongoing v

Action | Raise public awareness of the need for transit enhancements to keep the Omaha region competitive with other markets.

Proactively work with community advocates, stakeholders and elected officials to understand the benefits of transit-service

Action
enhancements.
Build on industry efforts in developing successful creative pricing strategies .

2 v e P € Ongoing v
to promote and expand transit service.

Action | Consider programs that encourage increased usage during lower demand periods.

Action | Consider adopting new flexible fare media strategies across all income groups.

Action | Consider incentivized community or organization-wide pass programs and frequent user programs or vendor linkages.

Explore private funding and value capture opportunities to fund elements
3 of the Farnam transitway project, potentially accelerating implementation Short-Term v v
before 2020.

Identify and educate community advocates along the Farnam transitway to understand the benefits and potential economic impact

ion . . . .
Actio of high-capacity transit service.

Action | Work with local leaders to help formalize a district identity along the Farnam transitway project.

Identify innovative methods for local funding to match potential federal
4 funds, including seeking philanthropic support for capital needs where Short-Term v v v

sl Appendix A - Preliminary Scenario Summaries ee e e e e oo

Action | Proactively work with local philanthropic to identify opportunities for community investments in high-capacity transit corridors.

Action | Leverage private investment opportunities along high-capacity transit corridors to link to or help support future transit investments.

Action | Identify private or philanthropic sponsors to cover at least some capital costs of project.

Determine feasibility of a benefit assessment district to cover some capital and/or ongoing operating costs of streetscaping or other

Action .
project elements.

5 AChIEYe buy-in from stakeholders in Douglas, Sarpy, ?nd Pottawattamie Short-Term v v v v
Counties on structure and uses of three-county multi-modal sales tax.

Action | Proactively educate stakeholders on the benefits of transit investments in terms of economic development and quality of life.

Develop educational materials tailored to each County and Jurisdiction outlining how the future transit system will benefit their

Action . .
residents as well as the region as a whole.
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. L] L] . L] L]
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Phase Il Service Improvements m “ n m Phase Il Service Improvements a a E E
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All Remaining Routes 18
Phase Il Service Improvements &
Maple and Center
&I Center St Mixed BRT wRevenue Vehicle Hours

Midtown to Oakview R
. ; 293,000
e{eZ:Xe) Maple St Mixed BRT
Midtown to Westroads
Bus

Douglas
-

_18 |
18
wRevenue Vehicle Hours
3,0 305,000
Bus

wVehicles Needed for Peak Service

Rail Bus Rail Bus
Sar Pot
1,000,000 1,000,000
900,000 900,000
2050 O&M Cost 2050 O&M Cost
., 800000 ($2012, milions) » 800000 (52012, millions)
hdd ———————————————————— —_ —_—
= =
& 700000 Total: $32 g 700000 Total: $41
[ - = © -
2 600000 Rail 50 L 600000 Rail 50
= ] = ]
g 500000 ESST Ség g 500000 SSST gg
2 400,000 ® Paratransit $3 = 5200 < 400,000 ® Paratransit S3 = 5200
< ® Dial-a-Ride $0 s = Dial-a-Ride $4
> 300,000 TMD > 300,000 — ™MD
& Rapid and $175 & Rapid and $175
200,000 Frequent 200,000 — —_ Frequent
"~ T — "~
0
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
r Capita Spending ($2012) $100 er Capita Spending (s2012) $100
Total: $43 $78:eraqe $75 Total: $56‘ W $78 Average $75
Rail Noj Rail $0
® BRT $5 m BRT $14
Bus $34 A 556 Median $50 Bus 533 ae A 556 Median $50
® Paratransit $4 ® Paratransit $4 v
m Dial-a-Ride 0 m Dial-a-Ride 5
= DiakaRide SO $25 = Diaka-Ride S5 $25
$0 $0
CII8328223TefdaldsdsLnz3EzEE2aecz2332203383536¢F83z237283822358¢£¢ SII8328223TcEfdadsdsLaez=EFsE%2aa2338226383883606rsz87283822552¢:5%8
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2050 Service Characteristics 2050 Service Characteristics

Heartland ©
connections

ol
N

Heartland ©
connections

Property Tax Rate

Property Tax Rate
0.10%

0.05%

Sales Tax Rate

==
s 0.50%

Program Elem Rail Reoid Bus Bus Program Elem Rail Reoid Bus Bus
. L] L] . L] L]
Opening Year Opening Year
Express Local Express Local
Phase | Service Improvements
Al

@ed® Dodge/Farnam Busway BRT

Downtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

@0zl Center St Busway BRT

Midtown to Oakview

e{0d) Maple St Busway BRT
Midtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

w Number of Routes by Type

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [—Weekdav

weekend
18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hours

—_

Phase | Service Improvements
Al

Dodge/Farnam Busway BRT

Downtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

¢ek}) Center St Busway BRT

Midtown to Oakview

w Number of Routes by Type

& i

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [M]

18
18

weekend

e{ekl) Maple St Busway BRT

Midtown to Westroads

E{OZI9) 24th St Mixed BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

@eZl® 72nd St Mixed BRT
1680 to Bergan Mercy Medical Center

%9 30th St Mixed BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

Elekld) 24th St Mixed BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

@eER) 72nd St Mixed BRT
1680 to Bergan Mercy Medical Center

292,000
Bus

Rail

Rail Bus Rail Bus
1,000,000 1,000,000
900,000 900,000
2050 O&M Cost 2050 O&M Cost
., 800000 ($2012, milions) » 800000 (52012, millions)
[4 e MRS 4 —_—_—
= =
700,000 . 700,000 .
2 Total: $64 2 Total: §52
[ . [ .
3 600,000 Rail $0 S 600,000 Rail $0
= n = n
© 500,000 BRT 519 © 500,000 BRT s21
> Bus $32 > Bus $24
Y 400,000 ® Paratransit $3 = $200 Y 400,000 u Paratransit $3 = 5200
c D m Dial-a-Ride $10 S m Dial-a-Ride $4
> >
> 300000 Rapid and s175 2 300,000 T s175
o Frequent o Rapid and
200,000 200,000 Eegtient
100,000 $150 100,000 $150
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
. .
r Capita Spending ($2012) $100 er Capita Spending ($2012) $100
Total: $89‘ W $78 Average $75 Total: $71 ® W $78 Average $75
Rail $0 Rail $0
= BRT $26 = BRT $29
Bus $45 A 556 Median $50 Bus $33 A 556 Median $50
. . $36
m Paratransit $4 = Paratransit $4 v
m Dial-a-Ride $14 ® Dial-a-Ride  $5
_— $25 _— $25
$0 $0
I SE3E282E24 a2 FE asS oSz =E R Eeas35F2083F880F£2872838223852:2¢% 8IS53¢5224:2F3a3S5S¢e33FFE820a33523533FK88552287588233525%
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2050 Service Charac

o

2050 Service Characteristics

Heartland & Heartland &

Dou

connections

=3 <
i

Property Tax Rate

Sales Tax Rate

NE 1A

0.05%

0.50%

connections

Property Tax Rate

D Tax Rate

0.075%

0.06%

Program Elem Rail Reoid Bus Bus Program Elem Rail Reoid Bus Bus
. L] L] . L] L]
Opening Year Opening Year
Express Local Express Local
Phase | Service Improvements
Al

@ed® Dodge/Farnam Busway BRT

Downtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

@opkd) Center St Busway BRT

Midtown to Oakview

&0zt Maple St Busway BRT

Midtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

w Number of Routes by Type

weekend

18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hours

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [—Weekdav

i

—_

Phase | Service Improvements
Al

@ Dodge/Farnam Busway

Downtown to Westroads (Capital Only)

Phase Il Service Improvements
Dodge

Phase Il Service Improvements
Maple and Center

Phase Il Service Improvements
Maple and Center

w Number of Routes by Type

& 2

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [m]

weekend
18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hour

ek 24th St Busway BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

e{ekl) 72nd St Busway BRT
1-680 to Bergan Mercy Medical Center

“ 0 305,000
Bus

@eEp) 30th St Mixed BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

Rail

Rl Bus System Vehicle Revenue Hours Rl Bus
1,000,000 1,000,000
900,000 900,000
2050 O&M Cost 2050 O&M Cost
,, 800000 ($2012, milions) » 800000 ($2012, millions)
- ————— — -_—
= =
700,000 . 700,000 .
8 Total: $65 2 Total: $28
[ . [ .
2 600000 Rail sso 2 600000 Rail 20
= = BRT 23 = m BRT 0
@ 500,000 © 500,000
> Bus $29 > Bus $25
S 400,000 ® Paratransit $3 = $200 Y 400,000 u Paratransit $3 = 5200
c m Dial-a-Ride $10 S m Dial-a-Ride S0
> 300,000 ™D > 300,000 — —
é Rapid and $175 & RT"\SDd $175
200,000 Frequent 200,000 — — i
100,000 $150 100,000 — — $150
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
er Capita Spending ($2012) $100 Per Capita Spending (2012 $100
Total: $9o‘ W $78 Average $75 Total: $37 : W $78 Average $75
Rail $0 Rail $0
= BRT $32 = BRT $0
Bus 340 A 556 Median $50 Bus 334 A $56 Median $50
. . $35
m Paratransit $4 = Paratransit $3 v
m Dial-a-Ride $14 ® Dial-a-Ride 0
= DiabaRide 514 $25 = DiabarRide 50 $25
$0 $0
SII8328223TcEdadsdsCaezsFEsE%2aa23822683r836r2z8728382z23552¢:5%8 CII8328223TefFdeldsfsLuz3EzE52aec23332203383536¢FK3z2372838322385¢2¢£¢
G2 dgdSLLEUWFTITETETTOHFTLELEcITccHESdgouriBcsgeccedtlocdQddo 59 5ol < G2 45 d SLLELUFTITETETTOFTELEcITccH>SddgouriBcdgeccedtlocdQddo =059 59l
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Y 2050 Service Characteristics
Heartland &

Omaha Property Three-County

connections =T oBER, S

Rail Rapid| Bus Bus
L] -
Opening Year
Express Local
Phase | Service Improvements
Al
Phase Il Service Improvements w Number of Routes by Type

Al
Dodge/Farnam LRT n E E m

Downtown to Midtown

. . weekday
Phase Il Service Improvements w Typical Hours of Service per Day [ weekend ]
Al 18

Dodge/Farnam LRT ©

Midtown to Crossroads

@D 72nd St Busway BRT wRevenue Vehicle Hours
1-680 to Bergan Mercy Medical Center 65

eerdd) Maple St Busway BRT

Midtown to Westroads

ezl Center St Busway BRT Rail

Midtown to Oakview

Dodge/Farnam LRT . .
Crossroads to Westroads wRevenue Vehicle Miles

2030 72nd St Busway BRT o
Bergan Mercy Medical Center to Highway 370 844,000

Dodge/Farnam LRT 5
Downtown to Council Bluffs Rail

Dodge/Farnam LRT

Westroads to First National

B B K

Rail Bus
1,000,000
900,000 \
2050 O&M Cost
. 800,000 ($2012, millions)
v —_—
=
8 700,000 Total: $91
2 600,000 Rail $32
= u BRT 1
© 500,000 38
> Bus $31
2 400,000 ® Paratransit $3 = $200
< m Dial-a-Ride S7
> — —
3 300,000 $175
200,000 — TMD Rapid
100,000 F— $150
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
| I I I I e
) — =
Total: $1 24‘ W $78 Average @ $75
Rail $44
® BRT $24 .
Bus 543 . A\ 556 Median 550
® Paratransit $4 v
® Dial-a-Ride 9
® DiakaRide $9 $25
$0
8T 353287227 F5e55038c23F3837aa2385F20683r8846F228788822358¢5¢
i 2 W g =42 LB dU € T oA O YU ST L >O0d 56 B>t B o cccc ot o0 Vg =6 d =g LS
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Heartland &

connections

2050 Service Characteristics

Omaha Property Three-County
Sales Tax Rate

Tax Rate
0.10%

0.50%

Heartland &
connections

2050 Service Characteristics

Three-County
Sales Tax Rate

venue Hours

Opening Year

Phase | Service Improvements
Al

@Y Dodge/Farnam BRT

Downtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
All

#erds) Maple St Busway BRT
Midtown to Westroads

Center St Busway BRT

Midtown to Oakview

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

ek} 72nd St Busway BRT
1-680 to Highway 370

EoRl) 24th St Busway BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

Rail Rapid|

Bus

Express

w Number of Routes by Type

weekday

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [ weekend

18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hours

—_—

Rail Bus
1,000,000
900,000
2050 O&M Cost
. 800,000 (52012, millions)
0 _
=
2 700,000 Total: $62
(7] .
2 600000 Rail $0
% 500,000 " BRT 325
> ' Bus $27
2 400,000 ® Paratransit $3 = $200
< = Dial-a-Ride S7
> 300,000 F—
& $175
200,000 TMD Rapid
and Frequent
100,000 $150
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
a
Capita g ($2012) $100
Total: $84‘ W $78 Average $75
Rail $0
® BRT $34 .
Bus $37 A $56 Median $50
® Paratransit $4
® Dial-a-Ride  $9
L $25
$0
SES5395224<2FS23S3SYUsSESEE 335225583 F8807$287588223595%
i 2 g 0 Skl LR T C T T T T YT >O0d 586> LT s eccdtedhOdds =0 d S g L
b EEeeZigE=Cs 805 E25028088Es3e 5558 £5¢8¢g e8¢ 828s¢
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1,000,000

900,000

800,000

700,000

600,000

500,000

400,000

300,000

Revenue Vehicle Hours

200,000

100,000

56 Median
Bus 37 As
S $36
® Paratransit $4 v
® Dial-a-Ride  $9
O F < X <V X DZ Jdadzag g gy
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b2 48 dcFLLEfwTITESIETTO D
8368552835225 28588¢EQS
.:gq,:xogu,mzm»uiucgwco_n
5 tFeogosep S8 om P E 0
a 2o x £ 23 £ G YS9 TS s 5§ & 3
o = S S S S EELERCOLERLOO0 g
Ucﬂ?) 2 £ T 2550 @ ER8E og
s3d2 & Z22L-B & e 3 =
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© jid o

5

& 5

°

ending ($2012)

Opening Year

Phase | Service Improvements
Al

@Y Dodge/Farnam BRT

Downtown to Westroads

Phase Il Service Improvements
All

#erds) Maple St Busway BRT

Midtown to Westroads

Center St Busway BRT

Midtown to Oakview

Phase Il Service Improvements
Al

ek} 72nd St Busway BRT
1-680 to Highway 370

EoRld) 24th St Busway BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

0.77%

Rail Bus

Express

w Number of Routes by Type

weekday

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [ weekend

18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hours

—_—

W $78 Average

Bridgeport, CT--NY

MI

Grand Rapids,
Nashville-Davidson, TN

Toledo, OH--MI

San Juan, PR

Memphis, TN--MS--AR

Rail Bus
2050 O&M Cost \
($2012, millions)
Total: $62
Rail S0
u BRT $25
Bus $27
® Paratransit S3 - $200
m Dial-a-Ride S7
$175
TMD Rapid
and Frequent
$150
$125
$100
§75
$50
$25
$0
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Douglas Sarpy Pottawattamie

connections S5 o e

Y 2050 Service Characteristics
Heartland %‘0‘0 Sales Tax Rates by County:

Rail Rapid| Bus Bus
L] -
Opening Year
Express Local
Phase | Service Improvements
Al
@Y Dodge/Farnam BRT 'w Number of Routes by Type
Downtown to Westroads
Phase Il Service Improvements
All
. . weekday
@D Maple St Busway BRT w Typical Hours of Service per Day [eqer]

Midtown to Westroads 18
#{epd) Center St Busway BRT % % %
Midtown to Oakview

Phase Il Service Improvements 'wRevenue Vehicle Hours
Al _

ek} 72nd St Busway BRT
1-680 to Bergan Mercy Medical Center

EoRl) 24th St Busway BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC

#{eL1o) 72nd St Busway BRT
Bergan Mercy Medical Center to Highway 370

0] 46l 124] APPENDIX C - VISION SCENARIO ONE PAGE SUMMARIES ¢ o o

System Vehicle Revenue Hours

Rail Bus
1,000,000
900,000
2050 O&M Cost \
. 800,000 (52012, millions)
0 _
=
3 Tooo00 Tota: 862
% 600,000 Rail S0
= u BRT 2
© 500,000 — 325
> Bus $27
2 400,000 - ® Paratransit $3 = $200
< = Dial-a-Ride S7
> — —
3 300,000 $175
200,000 F— TMD Rapid
and Frequent
100,000 — $150
0
2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 $125
Per Capita Spending ($2012) $100
Total: $84‘ W $78 Average $75
Rail $0
® BRT $34
Bus $37 A $56 Median $50
® Paratransit $4
® Dial-a-Ride  $9 $25
$0
82_:‘63%%2%?f—‘iEsiS‘>‘S‘>‘?¢$5,5?gg%id,g55555555%§5ﬁ§5$z§_855565§§3‘
42 45 dc SLLEWTBITESITETTOPELEEITCcH=Z8Y gdu>tiTcgeEccce i o 9 55 x990 F a4 <
B3EiCEegagE=555285825220685082cgs8¢823Yr58E55¢30cak2=228¢E25288¢8¢8¢%
St 2F g oS 8ol 523580 E 28 2L225852ETgtggIxsTegeesldtzsssos e E g3
55 T P 5582828255823 F=633%3-5032838E [ 2 £S5 3zxT ;@55 e
o = S S 2o EEaxErEZz2EEgY0T820ch 42 S g S=aT Is} %:wOQJEL_w e
T &3 = 5§55 <200 e £8% 2o o0 8 F 2 3 s 3 © T ® z 3 2% 5 5 s © ¢ e EeQa
s 32 s =22 @ 5 B 2526 = s 39 - e v w3 50 z & = 8
8 5 o< s = 59 & z £ S a 2 ! v
S 2 < & a g £ e z
© e = ol = [} @
3 E = 3
o <<
°

I | [3(0)(5 e | (0]

www.heartland2050.org/connections www.heartland2050.org/connections



www.heartland2050.org/connections

Heartland &

connections

2050 Service Characteristics

Property Tax Rate
0.10%

Program Elements

Har
Was
Dou
Sar
= Mil
Cas
NE 1A

Douglas

ystem Vehicle Revenue Hours

Opening Year

Phase | Service Improvements
Douglas, Sarpy, Pottawattamie

&0 Dodge/Farnam Busway

Downtown to UNMC - Infrastructure Only

144th St Express
144th St/Fort St to Downtown

180th St Express
180th St/Q St to Downtown

1-80 Express
SR 370 to Downtown

Bellevue Express
Offutt AFB to Downtown via Bellevue P&R

Phase Il Service Improvements
Route 4 -- Maple Only

€leE]®) 24th St Arterial BRT
North Omaha Transit Center to Metro CC -
Infrastructure Only

Phase Il Service Improvements
Route 24 -- 24th Street Only

¢@ek® Dodge/Farnam Arterial BRT
UNMC to Westroads - Infrastructure Only

2050 O&M Cost

Rail Rapid} Bus Bus

Express Local

w Number of Routes by Type

R B BB

weekday

w Typical Hours of Service per Day [ weekend

18
18

wRevenue Vehicle Hours

—_

4,352,000

I ma
c
7]

wVehicles Needed for Peak Service

R B @

Rail Rapid} Bus

1000000 (2012, millions)
900000 Total: $53
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Candidate Transit Projects

Demand Cost Network O-D Transit Final

Route Mode Potential * Effectiveness Connectivity Density Destination Rank

Farnam St / Dodge St Busway BRT 102,533 S66 High 14 High 1
Farnam St / Dodge St Streetcar 58,561 $157 Medium 22 High 2
Farnam St / Dodge St Mixed BRT 102,533 S50 Medium 14 High 3
Maple St - Westroads Busway BRT 60,751 $124 High 8 High 4
30th St Mixed BRT 57,818 $102 High 7 High 5
24th St Busway BRT 46,523 $144 High 6 High 6
Ames St Mixed BRT 27,148 $162 High 4 High 7
Center St Busway BRT 64,743 $123 Medium 7 High 8
24th St Mixed BRT 46,523 $110 Medium 6 High 9
Farnam St / Dodge St Mixed BRT 61,837 S84 Medium 8 High 10
Center St Mixed BRT 64,743 $92 Medium 7 High 11
30th St Busway BRT 57,818 $135 Medium 7 High 12
72nd St Busway BRT 48,523 $139 High 7 Medium 13
Maple St - Westroads Mixed BRT 60,751 S52 Medium 8 High 14
72nd St Mixed BRT 48,523 $106 Medium 7 Medium 15
84th St Busway BRT 57,466 $119 Medium 9 Low 16
Maple St - 180th Busway BRT 36,962 $157 Medium 6 Medium 17
72nd St LRT 34,599 S572 Medium 8 High 18
Ames St Busway BRT 27,148 $215 Medium 4 High 19
Maple St - 180th Mixed BRT 36,962 $S66 Medium 6 Medium 20
Farnam St / Dodge St Streetcar 17,255 $490 Medium 7 High 21
Fort Crook Mixed BRT 40,066 $129 Medium 5 Medium 22
L St Mixed BRT 105,167 $70 Medium 10 Low 23
Farnam St / Dodge St Mixed BRT 51,082 $115 Medium 6 Low 24
Fort Crook Busway BRT 40,066 $171 Medium 5 Medium 25
84th St Mixed BRT 57,466 $89 Medium 9 Low 26
L St Busway BRT 105,167 $93 Medium 10 Low 27
Airport Mixed BRT 22,607 $127 Low 6 Medium 28
Farnam St / Dodge St Busway BRT 51,082 $153 Medium Low 29
QSst Busway BRT 123,464 $86 Low 11 Low 30
Airport Busway BRT 22,607 $164 Low 6 Medium 31
QSst Mixed BRT 123,464 $65 Low 11 Low 32
SR -370 Mixed BRT 56,484 $144 Medium Low 33
120th St Mixed BRT 45,210 $96 Medium 8 Very Low 34
Maple St - 180th Mixed BRT 35,341 $126 Medium 5 Very Low 35
Farnam St / Dodge St LRT 163,480 $423 Low 10 Medium 36
SR -370 Busway BRT 56,484 $192 Low 5 Low 37
144th St Mixed BRT 78,276 $113 Medium 6 Very Low 38
Cornhusker Rd Mixed BRT 87,913 $126 Low 5 Low 39
Cornhusker Rd Busway BRT 87,913 S167 Low 5 Low 40

1 - Calculated as: Trips with origns and destinations within 1/2 mile of corridor centerline per MAPA Travel Demand Model 2010 trip tables, all trip

purposes.




Demand Cost Network 0-D Transit Final

Route Mode Potential * Effectiveness Connectivity Density Destination Rank

Maple St - 180th Busway BRT 35,341 $167 Low 5 Very Low 41
120th St Busway BRT 45,210 $126 Low 8 Very Low 42
144th St Busway BRT 78,276 $149 Low 6 Very Low 43
180th St Mixed BRT 60,067 $184 Low 4 Very Low 44
Ames St Mixed BRT 1,667 $6,628 Low 0 Medium 45
Ames St Busway BRT 1,667 $8,803 Low 0 Medium 46
30th St Mixed BRT 11,765 $1,254 Low 1 Low 47
30th St Busway BRT 11,765 $1,668 Low 1 Low 48
180th St Busway BRT 60,067 $245 Low 4 Very Low 49

1 - Calculated as: Trips with origns and destinations within 1/2 mile of corridor centerline per MAPA Travel Demand Model 2010 trip tables, all trip

purposes.
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2014 TIGER Application



Office of the Mayor
1819 Farnam Street, Suite 300
Omaha, Nebraska 68183-0300
(402) 444-5000

FAX: (402) 444-6059

City of Omaha
Jean Stothert, Mayor

April 16, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

This is to advise you of our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for a Bus Rapid Transit
{BRT} project from downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Improving transit in our community has been a goal that has been cited in at least nine previous or ongoing
studies. This significant transit improvement in our community will greatly assist in helping reach the goals and
ohjectives stated in these various studies. Furthermore, considering that BRT in this corridor is the highest ranked
project in the Regional Transit Vision Study and the locally preferred alternative chosen in the recently completed
Alternative Analysis Study, {a collaborative project by Metro and the City), the community support and timing of
this application is perfect.

Omaha’s Urban Form and Transportation section of our Environmental Element of the City of Omaha Master Plan
established five specific goals aver the next 20 years that this project can directly impact. They are:
1. Increase our population density from 3,650 pecple per square mile to 4,500.
Increase annual active mode transportation trips from the current 2% to 10%.
Reduce annual single occupancy work commute trips from 82% to 65% by year 2030.
Reduce transportation related greenhouse gas emissions by 30% by year 2030.
Reduce per capita vehicle miles traveled by motorists by 10% by year 2030.

LAl

We look forward to working with Metro as a true partner and have offered any support we can provide to help
assure its success.

Sincerely,

Jean Stothert
Mayor, City of Omaha



STATE OF NEBRASKA

DEPARTMENT OF ROADS

Randall D. Peters, P.E., Director — State Engineer

1500 Highway 2 « PO Box 94759 « Lincoln NE 68509-4759

Phone (402)471-4567 » FAX (402)479-4325 » transportation.nebraska.gov

g7,/ Dave Heineman
Governor

April 9, 2014

The Honorable Anthony Foxx
Office of the Secretary

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave., S.E.
Washington DC 20590

Re:  Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit TIGER Grant Application

Dear Secretary Foxx:

| am contacting you to express my strong support for City of Omaha Transit Authority’s
Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Project. The Nebraska Department of Roads’ (NDOR)
interest in this project stems from the mutual benefits it will provide to the Omaha area and
Nebraskans in general. These benefits have been well documented in the Metropolitan Area
Planning Agency’s (MAPA) Regional Transit Vision Study and other key planning documents
within the MPO region. Some of these benefits include the following:

e Improved Connections: The BRT system will improve travel times over traditional transit
options by limiting stops, providing dedicated roadway lanes, reducing bus headways,
providing signal prioritization, etc. Aside from these things, the system will connect
various destinations of significance within the Omaha area:

o Commercial: Westroads and Crossroads Mall

o Academic: University of Nebraska - Omaha and the University of Nebraska
Medical Center

Residential: Midtown Crossings and all other residential areas along the corridor

o Offices and Attractions: Downtown, Century Link Center, and TD Ameritrade Park
which is the home of the College World Series

e Quality of Life: The addition of BRT to central Omaha will add a convenient and reliable
transportation option that never existed before. Since this service connects a multitude of
destinations, increased ridership would be expected.

o Extended Pavement Life: By providing an improved transit service and increasing
ridership, the BRT project should take a number of passenger cars off the roadway
network. This affect should extend the service life of area roadways by reduced wear-
and-tear on the pavement.

e Economic Impact: The study developed by MAPA indicates that 1,200 new jobs will be
created by the project and bring 1,350 new residents to the area. These things will result
in the addition of $262 million in new development.

e Environmental Sustainability: By increasing ridership, the same amount of people can
be moved with fewer trips. This should improve energy efficiency and reduce greenhouse
gas emissions. The project is also compatible with the built environment and supports
goals identified in other plans.

An Equal Opportunity Employer



The Honorable Anthony Foxx
April 9, 2014
Page 2

Overall, this project will be the first of its kind in Nebraska. For this reason, it has the
potential to inspire other projects that provide similar benefits to the State. Projects like these will
contribute to an improved quality of life for Nebraskans and will improve the efficiency of the

transportation system (among other benefits). | appreciate your consideration for a project with
such far reaching benefits.

Sincerely,

Randall D. Peters, P.E.
Director — State Engineer

RDP:RH:z

cce: Brad Zumwalt, NDOR
Tim Weander, NDOR



Douglas County, NE
Bennington
Boys Town

Omaha
Omaha City Council
Ralston
Valley
Waterloo
.

Sarpy County, NE
Bellevue
Gretna
La Vista
Papillicn
Springfield
Washington County, NE
Arlington
Blair
Fort Calhoun
Herman
Kennard
Washington
.

Mills County, IA
Emerson
Glenwood
Hastings
Henderson
Malvern
Pacific Junction
Sitver City
L
Pottawattamie County, IA
Avoca
Carson
Carter Lake
Coundil Bluffs
Crescent
Hancock
Macedonia
McClelland
Minden
Neola
Oakland
Treynor
Underwood
Walnut

Bellevue Public Schools
Coundil Bluffs Airport
Authority
Coundil Biuffs Planning
Commission
Fremont Public Schools

Golden Hills Resource
Conservation & Development
District

lowa Western Community
College
Metro Transit
Metropolitan Community
College

Metropolitan Utilities District
Millard Public Schools
Millard Suburban Fire District
Omaha Airport Authority
Omaha Housing Authority
Omaha Planning Board
Omaha Public Power District

Papillion / La Vista Public
Schools

- Papio - Missour River
Natural Resources District
Pony Creek Drainage
District
Ralston Public Schools

Valley Fire Protection
District #5

METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNING AGENCY

2222 Cuming Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68102-4328 -
Phone: 402.444.6866  Fax: 402.342.0949

Email: mapa@mapacog.org  Web: mapacog.org A Council of Governments

March 27, 2014

The Honorable Anthony Foxx
Secretary

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue SE
Washington, DC 20590

Re: Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) TIGER Grant Application

Dear Secretary Fox:

On behalf of the Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency (MAPA), I
am writing in support of Metro Transit’s Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit TIGER grant
Application. MAPA serves as the Council of Governments and Metropolitan Planning
Organization (MPO) for the Greater Omaha region.

Creating viable transportation options that connect major employment centers is a
primary regional goal. The MAPA 2035 Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP)
recommends adding targeted nodes of density to increase multi-modal transportation
options and enhancing transit service in the region. MAPA, in coordination with Metro
Transit, recently completed a Regional Transit Vision that identifies the Central Omaha
corridor as the top project for enhanced transit service in the region.

MAPA is a project partner with Metro for the Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)
project and recognizes it as one of the most important transportation improvements in the
region. Consequently, MAPA has devoted significant staff time to participating in the
project and contributing our agency’s data and modeling expertise toward the effort.
MAPA intends to continue to work with Metro and other stakeholders as the project
continues.

This project connects several of the region’s leading employment centers including:

e Downtown Omaha the employment hub for the region, with headquarters for
Union Pacific Railroad, First National Bank, and ConAgra Foods among
others, employing more than 30,000 employees.

e Midtown Crossing, the home of Mutual of Omaha headquarters and the site
of a major mixed-use development, which opened recently.

o University of Nebraska Medical Center, a medical school and hospital
complex with more than 10,000 employees.

e University of Nebraska Omaha, a major state university with undergraduate
and graduate programs and a total student enrollment of more than 15,000.



o Crossroads — Westroads, one of the region’s largest concentrations of employment
including retail, corporate headquarters, hospitals, and two shopping malls.

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) represents an economically viable manner of improving transit service
significantly in the Greater Omaha region, which will yield tremendous economic, environmental
and social benefits. The metro area is ready to move forward with enhanced transit service to
increase access to jobs, create opportunities for economically distressed residents and improve the
region’s quality of life.

We appreciate your consideration of this important project as part of the 2014 TIGER program.

Sincerely,
et 3 i/ /

Ron\(ohn |

Chairman, MAPA Board of Directoré



Planning Department

Omaha/Douglas Civic Center
1819 Farnam Street, Suite 1100
Omaha, Nebraska 68183

(402) 444-5150

Telefax (402) 444-6140

City of Omaha James R. Thele
‘ Direct
Jean Stothert, Mayor ctor

March 28, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

This is to advise you of our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for
a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Improving transit in our community has been a goal that has been cited in at least nine (9)
previous or ongoing studies. This significant transit improvement in our community will greatly
assist in helping reach the goals and objectives stated in these various studies. Furthermore,
considering that BRT in this corridor is the highest ranked project in the Regional Transit Vision
Study and the locally preferred alternative chosen in the recently completed Alternative Analysis
Study, (a collaborative project by Metro and the City), the community support and timing of this
application is perfect.

Also, Omaha’s Urban Form and Transportation section of our Environmental Element of the
City of Omaha Master Plan established 5 specific goals over the next 20 years that this project
can directly impact. They are;

1. Increase our population density from 3,650 people per square mile to 4,500.

2. Increase annual active mode transportation trips from the current 2% to 10%.

3. Reduce annual single occupancy work commute trips from 82% to 65% by year 2030.
4. Reduce transportation related greenhouse gas emissions by 30 % by year 2030.

5. Reduce per capita vehicle miles traveled by motorists by 10% by year 2030.

We look forward to working with Metro as a true partner and have offered any support the City
of Omaha Planning Department can provide to help assure its success. To that end, we have

offered up to $75,000 of in-kind professional planning services toward the effort.

Sincerely,

m/?. //Zvée

Planning Director



April 8, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

Please accept this letter of support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for a
Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

The Greater Omaha Chamber’s mission is to increase business, investment and employment in
the Greater Omaha area. Through serving over 3,100 members and creating and executing an
aggressive economic development strategy for our region we work with our partners to make
Omaha a vibrant place to do business, live and work.

Transit is a vital component of helping our community thrive. Our efforts with facilitating and
implementing neighborhood revitalization efforts, workforce and talent solutions, and business
retention and expansion strategies all include transportation elements. Creating a BRT project in
the core of our region will go a long way in helping address many of the opportunities and
challenges that arise through this work.

We appreciate the work Metro has done in the past and will continue to do in the future to
advance initiatives like this that aim to better connect and serve our region. If you have any
guestions please feel free to contact me at 402-515-1909 or jberglundd@omahachamber.org.

Sincerely,

Vi / 4
o /f'ﬂ,',?‘ii.u’ ( :"IQ'%‘/‘-Q.%"‘, C
} J
Jamie Berglund
Senior Director of Community Development

OmahaChamber.org

@OmahaChamber ¢ facebook.com/GreaterOmahaChamber
1301 Harney Street ® Omaha, NE 68102

Phone: 402-346-5000 ¢ Fax: 402-346-7050



April 10", 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx \
US Department of Transportation

1200 New Jersey Ave, SE

Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

This is to advise you of Live Well Omaha’s support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for
a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Live Well Omaha’s mission is to work collaboratively within our community to make Omaha the healthiest
place to live, work and raise a family. Our members and partners consist of some of the most respected and
successful businesses, nonprofit entities, and government entities in Omaha. We understand the critical link
between transportation and health; specifically, transit users get more physical activity (an average of 30%
more steps per day) than those that drive cars. Reducing the number of cars on our roads will improve air
guality, which in turn, reduces the incidence of asthma, and trips to health car providers for asthma-related
illness. Bus Rapid Transit will address these and other health issues, and we support the project whole-

heartedly.

Furthermore, as this community continues to connect transit networks in a way that all citizens have access
to public options for transportation, the inclusion of the local bikesharing program in this project
demonstrates Metro’s commitment to that intent. Omaha B-cycle, a Live Well Omaha project, will easily
connect more users to the BRT system compounding its overall health and community impact. If awarded,
we will contribute $34,000 for the 25 B-cycles that would populate these stations. Additionally, these five B-
cycle kiosks enhance a $2.1 million bike sharing infrastructure project we will be completing in the

community over the next several years.

We’ve partnered with Metro Transit on many projects and enjoy a solid working relationship with the
organization. We look forward to continuing our work with Metro and have offered any support Live Well

Omaha can provide to help assure its success.

Sincerely,

Anne Meysenburg
Executive Director
Live Well Omaha



i3 omahabydesign

April 23, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Re: Metro (Omaha, NE) TIGER grant funding proposal
Dear. Mr. Foxx:

Please consider this letter as suppott for Metro’s TIGER grant application to support a bus rapid
transit (BR'T) project from Westroads Mall to downtown Omaha.

Omaha by Design is an urban design and environmental profit dedicated to enhancing the city’s
economic development potential by improving the quality of Omaha’s physical environment. Our
projects focus on access and mobility, community appearance, the environment and open space, and
neighborhood revitalization.

We believe that 2 community’s built and natural environments substantially impact its economy,
health and culture as well as issues of race and class. A successful transit system is key to creating a
high quality of life in Omaha that is accessible to all.

The Urban Form and Transportation section of the Environmental Element in the city’s master plan
calls for developing a public transportation system that offers a degree of coverage, convenience and
amenity that provides transportation equity for dependent customers and makes transit an attractive
option for discretionary passengers.

The BRT project Metro proposes - the highest ranked project in Metro’s Regional Transit Vision
Study and the locally preferred transit alternative in Phase 1 of the Central Omaha Transit
Alternatives Analysis — is exactly what Omaha needs to better serve its dependent customers and
convince discretionary passengers to use Metro.

We stand ready to assist Metro in the execution of the proposed BRT project. Thank you for your
time and consideration.

Sincerely,

O sl
Connie Spellman, director
Omaha by Design




THE (E)MPOWERMENT  (E)]MPOWER
NETWORK NORTH OMAHA

Empower Omahal

March 28, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

This is to advise you of our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for a Bus
Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Improving transit in the North Omaha community has been a goal that has been cited in at least nine (9)
previous or ongoing studies. This significant transit improvement in our community will greatly assist in
helping reach the goals and objectives stated in these various studies and in particular, the North
Omaha Revitalization Plan which calls for improving transportation accessibility directly to East Village,
thus also improving and diversifying access into Downtown Omaha. We are extremely excited about the
direct service from North to South Omaha with faster connections to East/West service and the direct
access to employment centers and job opportunities located along the BRT route.

Furthermore, considering that BRT in this corridor is the highest ranked project in the Regional Transit
Vision Study and the locally preferred alternative chosen in the recently completed Alternative Analysis
Study, (a collaborative project by Metro and the City), the community support and timing of this
application is perfect.

Also, Omaha’s Urban Form and Transportation section of our Environmental Element of the City of
Omaha Master Plan established 5 specific goals over the next 20 years that this project can directly
impact. They are;

1. Increase our population density from 3,650 people per square mile to 4,500.

2. Increase annual active mode transportation trips from the current 2% to 10%.

3. Reduce annual single occupancy work commute trips from 82% to 65% by year 2030.
4. Reduce transportation related greenhouse gas emissions by 30 % by year 2030.

5. Reduce per capita vehicle miles traveled by motorists by 10% by year 2030.

We look forward to working with Metro as a true partner and have offered any support we can provide
to help assure its success as it continues to streamline and serve the needs of those without a vehicle.

SincerelZ/

Willie D. Barney
President/Facilitator
Empowerment Network

Empowerment Network ¢ 105 N. 31* Ave. Suite 101, Omaha, NE 68131 * (402) 502-5153 (office) * www.empoweromaha.com




Nebraska

Omaha

VICE CHANCELLOR FOR BUSINESS AND FINANCE

April 16, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

This is to advise you of our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application
for a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping

Center.

The University of Nebraska at Omaha (UNO) long-range campus planning has identified
transit and parking as key initiatives to meet our targeted future growth from 15,000 to
20,000 students. Through current partnerships with Metro Transit, the UNO student
government-sponsored MavRide program, subsidizes 800 students to use the Metro system
each year to commute to and from campus. In the future the UNO will limit the growth of
on-campus parking, pushing the necessity for alternative forms of transportation for
students, faculty and staff beyond the current auto-centric model.

Alternatives to the current transit plan, such as the proposed Central Bus Rapid Transit
(BRT) Project, will be a necessity for UNO to meet its growth and land management goals as
well as building a plan that is environmentally responsible. The Dodge Street frontage of
UNO to the proposed BRT route is an ideal opportunity for another partnership with Metro
to assist UNO in meeting its future goals.

University of Nebraska at Omaha

o

William E. Conley
Vice Chancellor for Business & Finance
University of Nebraska at Omaha

6001 Dodge Street/ Omaha, NE 68182-0047
402-554-2621 | FAX: 402-554-2244



AARP Nebraska T 1-866-389-5651
MRP 301 S. 13th Street F o 402-323-6908
- Suite 201 Www.aarp.org/ne

Lincoln, NE 68508

April 14, 2014

Curt Simon

Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
2222 Cuming Street

Omaha, NE 68102

Dear Mr. Simon:

AARP Nebraska supports your application for a Transportation Investment Generating
Economic Recovery (TIGER) grant for the Omaha and Council Bluffs metro area.

The development of Bus Rapid Transit in the Omaha region will enhance result in more
frequent service, which will encourage more Omahans to use public transit. The
emphasis on transportation corridors will provide consumers with more frequent service,
thereby increasing the value of the service to your customers.

We look forward to BRT service which will improve travel time through queue jumps,
signal prioritization, transit priority lanes, and station developments including level
boarding and pre-payment of fares.

AARP members and the general public will benefit from your proposed BRT service.

Thank you for continuing this application process. If we can be of any assistance, please
let us know.

Si{?cerely,
/

Mark Intermill

Robert G. Romasco, President
HEALTH / FINANCES / CONNECTING / GIVING / ENJOYING Addison Barry Rand, Chief Executiv_e Officer



Planning Department

Omaha/Douglas Civic Center
1819 Farnam Street, Suite 1100
Omaha, Nebraska 68183

(402) 444-5150

Telefax (402) 444-6140

City of Omaha Jﬂmes Rl)rll;!):;:i

Jean Stothert, Mayor

April 9, 2014

Secretary Anthony Foxx

United States Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue South East
Washington, D.C. 20590

RE: TIGER Grant Application for Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project
Dear Secretary Foxx,

[ am writing to communicate my strong support for the Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project
which will serve to improve connections within our city and will have a profound and long
lasting effect to the larger regional non-motorized network. The proposed BRT corridor has the
unique distinction of being the connection between two regional mixed use trails that currently
travel North/South. The BRT line will provide a vital East/West connection between the trails
allowing pedestrians and bicyclists alike to have enhanced access to jobs, shopping and
recreation opportunities along the corridor and beyond. Each transit station will serve to enhance
the urban fabric of our community and provide an opportunity to expand the growing bicycle
share network in Omaha making this a truly multi-modal corridor. Additionally, the project will
integrate safe routes for non-drivers which will focus on creating safe connections between
stations and the expanding bicycle and pedestrian network; this will enhance, encourage and
foster a tremendous opportunity to make active forms of transportation a viable choice within the
Omaha Metro area.

This project will provide an opportunity to engage our community to become more physically
active, promote civic pride, and represents the community and government investments to
Omaha’s environment, health, vitality, economy and livability. Omaha has made significant
strides over the past several years to increase the number of people that take transit, walk or bike.
Our combined efforts through our work with the Center for Disease Control have allowed our
community to be recognized community that is making progress towards creating a balanced
transportation network. The Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project will serve to fulfill this
goal and align our community vision to a reality that will increase mobility and accessibility for
all.



As the Bicycle and Pedestrian Coordinator for the City of Omaha, I fully support and believe in
the need for the Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project which will help improve connections
between people and places. The project will make our community more accessible and serve as a
tremendous opportunity to improve conditions for active forms of transportation. I look forward
to working with Metro to make the Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project into a successful
reality.

Sincerely, .

Carlos Morales
Bicycle and Pedestrian Coordinator



1125 SOUTH 103RD STREET - SUITE 500 - OMAHA, NE 68124
F O U N D AT 1 O N 402.344.7890 - PETERKIEWITFOUNDATION.ORG

April 7, 2014

Curt Stmon, Executive Director
Omaha Metro Transit

2222 Cuming Street

Omaha, Nebraska 68102

Dear Mr. Simon:

The Peter Kiewit Foundation has been highly engaged in the development of Omaha since our
otigin in 1980. The Foundation has established a long record of financial support for projects that
we believe will help re-invigorate our core downtown city center, and, in turn, lead to other new
development initiatives, improve the quality of life for all Omaha residents, foster public
engagement, and build greater economic success for the entire region.

Please accept this letter as a statement of suppott for the proposed Central Omaha Bus Rapid
Transit Project and as encouragement to other would-be sources of financial support for the project.
The Foundation endorses collaborative efforts to secute the financing of projects in our city core.
We join all Omahans in support for civic projects that promote efficient and environmentally
responsible transportation; improve access to/from employment and education centers; support the
vibrancy of downtown and neighborhood centers; and stimulate economic vitality in all areas of our
community. We are certain the proposed bus rapid transit service would contribute to these
community goals.

We understand that Omaha Metro Transit intends to submit to us a grant application for funding in
support of the Center Omaha Bus Rapid Transit Project at our April 15, 2014, deadline (for
notification by the end of June 2014). Our application process is competitive and funding is not
guaranteed, but we look forward to teviewing and considering that application.

Very truly yours,
PETER KIEWIT FOUNDATION

. 7

Jetf Kutash
JBK:3l Executive Director

TRUSTEES: MOGENS BAY, MICHAEL GALLAGHER, JOHN HANCOCK, JANE MILLER, RICHARD RUSSELL, U.S. BANK, N.A.



Sherwood

FOUNDATION®

March 28, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

It is my pleasure to offer our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for a Bus
Rapid Transit (BRT) project in Omaha.

Improving transit in our community is an essential part of The Sherwood Foundation’s work to alleviate
poverty by increasing opportunities for education, employment and engagement. This significant transit
improvement in our community will greatly assist in helping reach the goals and objectives of many of
our community partners.

We look forward to partnering with Metro and other community leaders to promote the successful
implementation of this project.

Sincerely

foo W0l
Kristin Williams, MSW, MPA

Director of Community Initiatives
The Sherwood Foundation

A: 3555 Farnam Street Omaha, NE 68131 P:402.341.1717 F: 402.341.0972 W: sherwoodfoundation.org




1516 Cuming Street
Omaha, NE 68102

T: 402-681-9458
craig@verdisgroup.com
daniel@verdisgroup.com
verdisgroup.com

April 11, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

City, State, ZIP

Dear Mr. Foxx,

The purpose of this letter is to advise you of our support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in
their TIGER application for a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to
the Westroads Shopping Center.

Our company is dedicated to improving the Omaha metro area’s level of sustainability. A
major component of that effort is improving the current transportation system to be more
sustainable. Metro Omaha’s plans to develop a BRT absolutely align with not only our
vision and goals, but those of the City of Omaha as well.

As further evidence that this project is a high priority for Omahans, I'll note the following:

Improving transit has been a goal that has been cited in at least nine previous or
ongoing studies.

BRT in this corridor is the highest ranked project in the Regional Transit Vision
Study and the locally preferred alternative chosen in the recently completed Al-
ternative Analysis Study

Omaha’s Urban Form and Transportation section of the Environmental Element
of the City of Omaha Master Plan established five specific goals over the next 20
years that this project can directly impact.

Young generations of Omaha more and more often desire more progressive
methods of transportation; the BRT will help ensure that Omaha can attract and
retain the best and brightest minds - an important component of our organiza-
tion’s growth

We would greatly appreciate your serious consideration of Metro Omaha’s proposal. It's
an important project that will impact our City’s ability to be successful and sustainable.

Sincerely,

2

Craig Moody, Managing Principal



METROPOLITAN

OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT COMMUNITY COLLEGE

April 10,2014

Mr, Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

It is with great enthusiasm that Metropolitan Community College supports Metro Transit,
Omaha, NE (Metro), in its application for a TIGER grant for a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project
extending from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Improving transit in the Omaha area is a priority for numerous local governmental entities and
community groups, and improving transit to and between the College’s campuses and centers has
been included as a major priority in the College’s Master Facilities Plan for the future. The
addition of the proposed BRT would significantly improve the quality of transportation options
available to both the College’s students and employees, and area residents as a whole. The
College has cooperated with Metro since 2008 on a “Pass to Class” program whereby the
College pays a negotiated fee for all enrolled students to be eligible to receive a free pass to ride
Metro buses to and from all College related classes, activities and events. The “Pass to Class™
program has provided students with consistent, reliable and affordable transportation, and has
greatly increased the overall ridership on Metro buses in the Omaha area. Itis a program that
has truly benefited both Metro and the College.

The proposed BRT will also provide express service halfway out to the College’s Elkhorn Valley
Campus at 204™ and Dodge Street in west Omaha. This campus is not currently served by Metro
buses, but the College is working with Metro to jointly offer “Park and Ride” service there in the
near future. The BRT would certainly prove to be a valuable tie in of any “Park and Ride”
program that would more easily connect west and downtown Omaha, and increase the local
ytilization and overall convenience of local public transportation.

We look forward to our continuing partnership with Metro to promote the continued growth of
both Metro and the College. The construction of the proposed BRT would be a tremendous asset
to the entire community and has the full support of the College. :

Smcerely

Randy Schmallzl
College President
Applied Technology Center Elkhorn Valley Campus Fort Omaha Campus
Fremont Area Center Sarpy Centexr South Omaha Campus Washington County Technology Center
PO, Box 3777 _Omaha, NE 68103-0777 www.mcceneb.edun

(402) 457-2415  (800) 228-9553




April 16, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

Please accept this letter as support for Metro Transit, Omaha NE in their TIGER application for a Bus
Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Our organization’s mission is to promote a greener Omaha through collaboration, education and
advocacy. Improving transit and becoming a more sustainable community is a goal that our organization
supports and is also in line with transportation goals stated in at least nine (9) previous or ongoing
studies. This significant transit improvement in our community will greatly assist in helping reach the
goals and objectives stated in these various studies. Furthermore, considering that BRT in this corridor
is the highest ranked project in the Regional Transit Vision Study and the locally preferred alternative
chosen in the recently completed Alternative Analysis Study, (a collaborative project by Metro and the
City), the community support and timing of this application is perfect.

This project has the ability to impact direct goals set by the City of Omaha’s Urban Form and
Transportation section of the Environmental Element of the City of Omaha Master Plan and also the
ability to impact our City’s sustainable growth.

We appreciate your consideration of this important proposal for our community.

Sincefely

[l Gt

da Grint
President
Green Omaha Coalition

P.O. Box 3127 Omaho NE 68]03 0127

itio

-nOMAHACcoalition

education. advocacy. outreach.

n.c

3T g

conicct@greenomohococlmon org



April 2, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

US Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE
Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx,

Mode Shift Omaha is a group of citizens who advocate for transportation options that enhance quality
of life and opportunities to live, work, and play in the Omaha area. We wish to see a more resilient and
responsive transportation system that provides mobility choices for all and enhances the livability of our
community. Helping to meet this aim, we strongly support Omaha Metro Transit’s TIGER application for
a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from Downtown Omaha to the Westroads Shopping Center.

Improving transit in our community has been a goal cited in several previous or ongoing studies and
plans, including the Transportation and Environmental Elements of the City of Omaha’s Master Plan.
This significant transit improvement in our community will greatly assist in helping reach the goals and
objectives stated in these studies and plans. The BRT in this corridor is the highest ranked project in the
recently-completed Regional Transit Vision Study and the locally-preferred alternative chosen in the
recently completed Central Omaha Alternative Analysis, a collaborative project by Metro and the City.
Our members were very involved in this process. The community support and timing of this application
is perfect. We see this BRT project as key to a more resilient and responsive transportation system that
provides mobility choices for all and enhances the livability of our community.

We will continue to work with Metro as a partner in improving the transportation system in Omaha. To
that end, our members will continue to provide volunteer time to engage the public in support of this
effort.

Sincerely,

A,

Angela Eikenberry
Coordinator, Mode Shift Omaha
www.modeshiftomaha.org



http://www.modeshiftomaha.org/

Nebrask State Legislature

SENATOR JEREMY J. NORDQUIST

District7 COMMITTEES
615 Dorcas Street
Omaha, Nebraska 68108 Appropriaticns

Chair - Nebraska Retirement Systems
Legislative Address: State-Tribal Relations
State Capitol
PO Box 94604
Lincoln, Nebraska 68509-4604
(402) 471-2721

jnordquist@leg.ne.gov

April 23, 2014

Mr. Anthony Foxx

United States Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Ave, SE

Washington, DC 20590

Dear Mr. Foxx:

[ am enthusiastically writing this letter of support for the TIGER grant
application by Omaha Metro Transit for a Bus Rapid Transit project from Downtown
Omaha to West Omaha.

Omabha is at an important crossroads in the development of better transit in
our city. Numerous studies have been completed in recent years including the most
recent by Metro Transit that has identified bus rapid transit and modern streetcars
as the best ways of transporting people efficiently in Omaha.

This project will improve public transit and promote further economic
development. It will also have the added benefit of reducing greenhouse gas
emissions and pollutants which is beneficial since Omaha has seen a decrease in air
quality in recent years. The project will also increase mobility and accessibility for
people in my legislative district who do not own private transportation. My
legislative district is located in downtown Omaha and the development of a Bus
Rapid Transit system would greatly assist my constituents in connecting with the
rest of Omaha.

[ appreciate your consideration of this application and please do not hesitate
to contact me if you have any additional questions.

Sincerely,

A

Senator Jeremy Nordquist
State Senator — District 7



SENATOR SARA HOWARD

District 9
132 North 40th Street
Omaha, Nebraska 68131
(402) 699-5514

Nebraska State Legislture

COMMITTEES

Banking, Commerce and Insurance
Health and Human Services

Legislative Address:
State Capitol
PO Box 94604
Lincoln, Nebraska 68509-4604
(402) 471-2723
showard@leg.ne.gov

Mr. Anthony Foxx

United States Department of
Transportation

1200 New Jersey Ave, SE

Washington, DC 20590

April 22,2014

Dear Mr. Foxx:

I am pleased to write this letter of support for the TIGER grant application by
Omaha Metro Transit for a Bus Rapid Transit project from Downtown Omaha to West
Omabha.

Omaha is at an important crossroads in the development of better transit in our
city. Numerous studies have been completed in recent years including the most recent by
Metro Transit that has identified bus rapid transit and modern streetcars as the best ways
of transporting people efficiently in Omaha.

In recent years, Omaha has seen a decrease in air quality. This project will
improve public transit, promote further economic development and has the added benefit
of reducing greenhouse gas emissions and pollutants. The project will also increase
mobility and accessibility for people in my legislative district who do not have private
transportation. My legislative district, which is located in Midtown Omaha, is currently
underserved by public transportation. The development of a Bus Rapid Transit system
along with streetcars would make it easier for my constituents to connect with the rest of
Omabha.

I appreciate your consideration of this application and please do not hesitate to
contact me if your have any additional questions about how this project will impact my
legislative district.

Sincerely,
7

Sara Howard
State Senator



APPENDIX |I: Documentation of
Project Readiness / Feasibility

Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit:

Connecting the Dots
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HAYES

¢ ASSOCIATES, LLC.

Certified Public Accountants | Consultants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
Omaha, Nebraska

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Transit Authority of the City of
Omaha (the Transit Authority) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which comprise the Transit Authority’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. An audit involves performing
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.

Westroads Pointe | 1015N.98thSt. | Suite200 | Omaha, NE68114 | T402.390.2480 | F 402.390.0885 www.hayes-cpa.com




The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective financial position of the Transit Authority, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and
the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis and schedule of pension funding progress on pages 5 —11
and 32 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not
a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.



Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Transit Authority’s basic financial statements. The schedule of
expenditures of federal awards, as required by the Office of Management and Budget Circular A-
133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations is presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a
whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March
27,2014, on our consideration of the Transit Authority’s internal control over financial reporting
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering The Transit Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.,

7(/4745 y %wf/«& Le

Hayes & Associates, L.L.C.
Omaha, Nebraska
March 27, 2014



The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Introduction

This management’s discussion and analysis of the financial performance of The Transit
Authority of the City of Omaha (the “The Transit Authority”) provides an overview of the
Transit Authority’s financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 as compared to
December 31, 2012. It should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial
statements of the Transit Authority.

Financial Highlights

e The Transit Authority’s net position increased in 2013 by $8,712,138 or 19.73%, such a large
increase in the net position amount and a positive net position amount reflects a much
healthier financial outlook for the Transit Authority. The increase in the 2013 net position
amount is due to The Transit Authority’s 2013 FTA funds being used for the purchase of
revenue vehicles, fare collection equipment, and infrastructure refurbishment. Financial
additions of $8,970,019 in 2013 are considerably higher than the financial additions of
$1,565,613 in 2012,

e Current liabilities and deferred inflows of resources for 2013 increased by $4,288,921 or
23.28%, the purchase of eight new revenue vehicles in the amount of $3,866,923 at the end
of the year and payment in the following year is the cause for the high current liability and
increase over 2012.

e The Transit Authority reported operating losses in 2013 of $25,995,003 as compared to the
2012 amount of $25,977,590, this is a .07% increase, these amounts have stayed consistent
over the last three years. The Transit Authority receives nonoperating revenues in the form
of property taxes and governmental grants to support operations. Reporting an operating loss
is consistent with the Transit Authority’s operating history. since the Transit Authority was
formed and is operated primarily to provide public transportation to the residents of Omaha
and the surrounding area and is subsidized to that end. The Transit Authority levies property
taxes to provide sufficient resources to enable it to serve residents in the metropolitan area.

e Total nonoperating revenues increased by $2,116,601 or 9.68% in 2013 over the 2012 figure.
A large portion of this increased amount is due to the additional state funds from NDOR.

Using This Annual Report

The Transit Authority’s financial statements consist of three statements - a balance sheet; a
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position; and a statement of cash flow.
These statements provide information about the activities of the Transit Authority, including
resources held by the Transit Authority but restricted for specific purposes by creditors,
contributors, grantors or enabling legislation. The Transit Authority is accounted for as a
business-type activity and presents its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting
using the economic resources measurement focus.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

The Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

One of the most important questions asked about any The Transit Authority’s finances is “Is the
Transit Authority as a whole better or worse off as a result of the year’s activities?” The Balance
Sheet and the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position report information
about the Transit Authority’s resources and its activities in a way that helps answer this question.
These statements include all restricted and unrestricted assets and all liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting. Using the accrual basis of accounting
means that all of the current year’s revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of
when cash is received or paid.

These two statements report the Transit Authority’s net position and changes in the amount. The
Transit Authority’s total net position, the difference between assets, liabilities, and deferred
inflows of resources, is one measure of the Transit Authority’s financial health or financial
position. Over time, increases or decreases in the Transit Authority’s net position is an indicator
of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. Other nonfinancial factors, such as
changes in legislation and regulations, measures of the quantity and quality of services provided
to its passengers, and local economic factors should also be considered to assess the overall
financial health of the Transit Authority.

The Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Cash Flows reports cash receipts, cash payments and net changes in cash and
cash equivalents resulting from four defined types of activities. It provides answers to such
questions as where did cash come from, what was cash used for and what was the change in cash
and cash equivalents during the reporting period.



The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

The Transit Authority’s Net Position

The Transit Authority’s net position is the difference between its assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows
of resources reported in the Balance Sheet. The Transit Authority’s net position increased in 2013 by
$8,712,138 or 19.73% over 2012, this is due to a major FTA funded purchase of eight new revenue
vehicles and fare collection equipment for the entire fleet. See Table 1.

Table 1: Assets, Liabilities and Net Position

2013 2012 2011
Assets
Cash and investments $ 10,016435 $ 12451916 § 12947519
Other Current assets 23,234,980 17.437,845 16,383,052
Capital assets, net 42,529.357 32,862,676 34842231
Other noncurrent assets 129,042 135,318 141,594
Total assets § 75909814 § 62,887,755 $ 64314396
Liabilities
Current liabilities $ B8.185,159 § 4387400 $ 4400165
Other employee benefits 332,000 311,000 314,000
Total Liabilities 8:517.159 4,698,400 4,714,165
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Tax levy for future period 14,523,462 14,032,300 13,557,806
Net Position
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 38,749,248 32,759,857 34,360,629
Unrestricted 14,119,945 11,397,198 11,681,796
Total net position 52,869,193 44,157,055 46,042,425
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and net position § 75,909,814 § 62887755 $ 64,314,396

The Transit Authority continues to capture allowable operating costs and capitalizes these expenditures
in the annual appropriation of the 5307 FTA funds. These funds are being invested while giving the
Transit Authority a greater means of working capital. The 2013 operating revenues decreased by -
$193,255 or -3.74% as compared to the 2012 operating revenues. The majority of the decrease was in
Passenger Fares, a result of decreased ridership in 2013. The 2013 operating expenses stayed consistent
with what was reported in 2012, the amount decreased by -$175,842 or -.56% over 2012, this seem to be
the trend for the last three years. The Transit Authority is continuing to be more effective in the
managing of grant funds and controlling operating expenses in order to keep them at a minimum.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Table 2: Operating Results and Changes in Net Position

2013 2012 2011
Operating Revenues
Passenger fares $ 4,056,292 § 4202427 § 3,499,788
Service contracts 643,059 695,915 713,434
Other 280,500 274,764 200,358
Total operating revenues 4,979,851 5,173,106 4,413,580
Operating Expenses
Administration of transportation operations 551,265 452,900 375,961
Revenue vehicle movement control 557,320 560,341 529,252
Scheduling of transportation operations 42,020 79,637 64,974
Revenue vehicle operations 17,082,723 16,705,475 16,136,599
Maintenance administration 482,733 487,668 461,631
Servicing revenue vehicles 666,399 598,835 579,048
Maintenance of revenue vehicles 3,371,995 3,498,648 3,479,563
Maintenance of other equipment 972,334 846,856 848,163
Ticketing and fare collection 77,230 81,550 87,577
Customer services and promotion 485,788 470,407 453,656
Personnel, Legal and insurance 640,518 717,730 593,663
Finance, accounting and data processing 465,466 449,982 478,925
Purchasing and stores 191,926 183,091 181,271
General management 401,544 445 349 423,278
Interlocal expense - - -
M.A.P.A. activities 196,971 118,775 162,281
General and administrative 487,596 709,924 788,763
Depreciation 4,301,026 4,743,528 4,918,907
Total operating expenses 30,974,854 31,150,696 30,563,512
Operating Loss (25,995,003) (25.977,590) (26,149,932)
Nonoperating Revenues
Property taxes 14,080,695 13,298,245 13,022,242
Federal operating grants 7,686,711 7,916,299 6,833,708
Federal operating grants - interlocal revenue = = =
State operating grants 2,179,540 610,209 779.037
Investment income 23,896 44,808 71,723
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 15,320 - (53,602)
Total nonoperating revenues 23,986,162 21,869,561 20,653,108
Loss before Capital Contributions (2,008,841) (4,108,029) (5,496,824)
Capital Contributions 10,720,979 2,222,659 6,085,072
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position 8,712,138 (1,885,370) 588,248
Net Position, Beginning of Year 44,157,055 46,042,425 45,454,177
Net Position, End of Year $ 52,869,193 § 44157055 $§ 46,042,425




The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Operating Losses

The first component of the overall change in the Transit Authority’s net position is its operating income
or loss - generally, the difference between net passenger service and other operating revenues and the
expenses incurred to perform those services. In each of the past three years, the Transit Authority has
reported an operating loss. As previously stated, this is consistent with the Transit Authority’s operating
history as the Transit Authority was formed and is operated primarily to provide public transportation to
the residents of Omaha and the surrounding area and is subsidized to that end. The Transit Authority
levies property taxes to provide sufficient resources to enable it to serve residents in the metropolitan
area.

The operating loss for 2013 increased compared to 2012 by $17,413 or .07%. As you can see from the
tables, there is an overall decrease in operating revenues and a moderate decrease in operating expenses
which is also a cause of the decreased operating loss. The additional amounts awarded The Transit
Authority in 2013 by NDOR, is the major significant increase in Nonoperating Revenues over the 2012
amount.

The Transit Authority is a labor intensified industry with employee costs in salaries, wages, and fringe
benefits amounting to the majority of the total operating expenses in 2013. The increase in labor
expenses in 2013 over 2012 is in range with prior years.

Nonoperating Revenues

Nonoperating revenues consist primarily of property taxes levied by the Transit Authority, federal and
state operating grants, and investment income. Nonoperating revenues increased in 2013 by $1,916,601
or 8.76% over 2012. The net is the combination of the annual increase in property taxes of $782,450 or
5.88% and the increase in State operating grants of $1,369,331. The Transit Authority was awarded a
contract by NDOR for the 2013 and 2014 fiscal year and increased the amount by almost triple of what
was received in 2012.

The The Transit Authority’s Cash Flows

Increased changes in the Transit Authority’s cash flows are due mainly to the utilization of the grant
activities and the more efficient collection of receivables. Net cash used in operating activities increased
$666,978 in 2013 or 3.07% as compared to the 2012 amounts. As discussed earlier, better utilization of
federal grants continues to provide an increase in cash and investments giving the Transit Authority
better working capital. Emphasis has been placed on how the Transit Authority has managed its cash to
increase working capital. Working capital is the value of a company’s current assets minus its current
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. It is considered a good measure of both a company’s
efficiency and its financial health. Working capital has remained fairly consistent for 2011, 2012 and
2013, with an increase realized in 2013 of approximately 18%.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Table 3: Statements of Cash Flows

Operating Activities
Received from customers and users
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Net cash used in operating activities
Noncapital Financial Activities
State grants
Federal grant revenue
Property taxes received
Net cash provided by noncapital financing
activities

Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets
Proceeds on sales of capital assets
Principal payments on note payable
Federal capital grants received
Net cash used in capital and related financing
activities

Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale and maturities of investment

Purchase of investment securities

Investment income received

Net cash provided by investing activities

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used
in Operating Activities:
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net
cash used in operating activities
Depreciation
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities

2013 2012 2011
$ 4992477 $ 5055250 § 4424377
(10,818,719)  (10,384,075)  (10,390,964)
(15,881,565) _ (15,712,004)  (15,187,024)
(21,707,807)  (21,040,829)  (21,153,611)
186,590 630,595 1,375,047
4,535,263 7.491,674 7,166,960
14,080,695 13,298,246 13,022,241
18,802,548 21,420,515 21,564,248
(10,290,417) (3,142,756) (7,263.,551)
15,320 : 17,864
10,720,979 2,222,659 6,381,342
445,882 (920,097) (864,345)
23,896 44808 71,723
23,896 448308 71,723
(2.435,481) (495,603) (381,985)
11,451,916 11,947,519 12,329,504

$ 9016435

$§ 11,451916

$ 11,947519

(25,995,003)  (25.977,590) $(26,203,534)
4,301,026 4,743,528 4,918,907
(11.485) (124,771) 91,886
(92,767) (10,754) (29.143)
(51,047) (34,259) 29,518
141 469 363,017 (14,847)

$(21,707.807)

$ (21,040,829)

$(21,207,213)
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Capital Assets

At the end of 2013 and 2012, the Transit Authority had $42,529,357 and $32,862,676 respectively,
invested in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as detailed in Note C to the financial
statements. In 2013, the Transit Authority’s capital asset additions, including work in progress were
$10,224,487.

Other Economic Factors

A large segment of ridership is comprised of individuals subsidized by state and local agencies.
Government and Social Service agencies’ purchases of bus tickets continue to increase each year.

Contacting the The Transit Authority's Financial Management

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Transit Authority's finances and to
show the Transit Authority's accountability for the money it receives. Questions about this report and
requests for additional financial information should be directed to the Transit Authority's Finance
department by telephoning (402) 341-7560 or emailing dfinken(@ometro.com or csimon@ometro.com.
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ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Certificates of deposit
Accounts and grants receivable
Property taxes receivable
Materials and supplies inventory
Prepaid expenses and other

Total current assets

Capital assets, net

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2013 and 2012

Accrued wages and vacation payable
Other accrued salaries and related

Accrued expenses

Claim liabilities

Total current liabilities

Other employee benefits payable

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES
Tax levy for future period

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position
Total liabilities, deferred inflow of resources and net position

2013 2012
§ 9,016,435 $ 11,451,916
1,000,000 1,000,000
7,925,386 2,769,503
14,323,304 13,832,142
764,706 671,939
221,584 164,261
33,251,415 29,889,761
42,529,357 32,862,676
129,042 135,318
$ 75,909,814 $ 62,887,755
$ 4,618,314 $ 891,622
949,113 977,259
1,600,259 1,504,108
437,517 413,406
579,956 571,005
8,185,159 4,357,400
332,000 341,000
8,517,159 4,698,400
14,523,462 14,032,300
38,749,248 32,759,857
14,119,945 11,397,198
52,869,193 44,157,055

$ 75909814

$ 62,887,755

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

OPERATING REVENUES
Passenger fares
Service contracts
Other

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administration of transportation operations
Revenue vehicle movement control
Scheduling of transportation operations
Revenue vehicle operations
Maintenance administration
Servicing revenue vehicles
Maintenance of revenue vehicles
Maintenance of other equipment
Ticketing and fare collection
Customer services and promotion
Personnel, legal, and insurance
Finance, accounting and data processing
Purchasing and stores
General management
M.A.P.A activities
General and administrative
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

2013 2012
$ 4,056,292 S 4202427
643,059 695,915
280,500 274,764
4,979,851 5,173,106
551,265 452,900
557,320 560,341
42,020 79,637
17,082,723 16,705,475
482,733 487 668
666,399 598,835
3,371,995 3,498,648
972,334 846,856
77,230 81,550
485,788 470407
640,518 717,730
465,466 449,982
191,926 183,091
401,544 445,349
196,971 118,775
487,596 709,924
4,301,026 4,743,528
30,974,854 31,150,696

OPERATING LOSS

NONOPERATING REVENUE AND GAINS
Property taxes
Federal operating grants
State operating grants
Investment income
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets

(25,995,003)

(25,977,590)

Total nonoperating revenues

LOSS BEFORE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

INCREASE IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

14,080,695 13,298,245
7,686,711 7,916,299
2,179,540 610,209

23,896 44,808
15,320 .

23,986,162 21,869,561

(2,008,841) (4,108,029)

10,720,979 2,222,659
8,712,138 (1,885,370)

44,157,055 46,042,425

$ 52,869,193  $ 44,157,055

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

2013 2012
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers $ 4992477 $ 5,055,250
Cash paid to suppliers (10,818,719) (10,384,075)
Cash paid to employees (15,881,565) (15.712,004)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (21,707,807) (21,040,829)
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
State grants 186,590 630,595
Federal grants 4,535,263 7,491,674
Property taxes received 14,080,695 13,298,246
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 18,802,548 21,420,515
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of capital assets (10,290,417) (3,142,756)
Proceeds on sale of capital assets 15,320 “
Federal capital grants received 10,720,979 2,222,659
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 445,882 (920,097)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income received 23,896 44 808
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 23,896 44,808
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2.435,481) (495,603)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 11,451,916 11,947,519
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 9016435 $ 11451916

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET USED IN

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating loss $ (25,995,003)
Adjustment to reconcile operating loss to net cash used

in operating activities

$ (25,977,590)

4,743,528
(124,771)
(10,754)
(34,259)

363,017

Depreciation 4,301,026
Change in accounts receivable (11,485
Change in inventories (92,767)
Change in prepaid and other assets (51,047)
Change in accounts payable and prepaid expenses 141,469

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (21,707.807)

$ (21,040,829)

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
Accounts payable incurred for purchase of
property and equipment $ 3,780,109

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
5
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NOTE A.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha (the Transit Authority) operates a timed-
transfer system offering fixed, express/commuter and circulator route services. The
Transit Authority serves 100 square miles or approximately 85% of the City of Omaha.
In addition, the Transit Authority offers MOBY, American with Disabilities Act
complementary Para the Transit service. MOBY is an origin-to destination, curb-to-curb
service operation within Omaha's city limits.

I

Reporting Entity

The Transit Authority, a public benefit corporation, was created by the City of
Omaha, Nebraska, by Ordinance No. 26335 on May 10, 1972, under statutes of
Nebraska known as the Transit Authority Law. The Transit Authority is an
independent political subdivision of the State of Nebraska. As a political
subdivision, it is distinct from, and is not an agency of, the State of Nebraska or
any other local governmental unit. The Transit Authority has the right to eminent
domain and the power to enter into contracts and to purchase equipment. The
Transit Authority consists of a five-member board appointed by the mayor and
confirmed by Omaha's City Council and the County Board of Douglas County,
Nebraska. The Transit Authority is solely responsible for financing deficits or the
disposition of surplus funds. The Transit Authority collects revenues, controls
disbursements and has title to all assets. The Transit Authority has and retains full
and exclusive jurisdiction and control over all public passenger transportation
systems in the City of Omaha, excluding taxicabs and railroad systems.

The transit service outside of the Omaha city limits is provided by contractual

agreement between the Transit Authority and the respective political jurisdictions
and agencies.
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NOTE A.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES -~ CONTINUED

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the Transit Authority have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

The Transit Authority's financial statements consist of a single-purpose business
type activity which is reported on the accrual basis of accounting using the
economic resources measurement focus. Revenues are recognized in the period
they are earned and expenses are recognized in the period they are incurred. The
Transit Authority is not subject to federal or state income taxes.

On January 1, 2012, the Transit Authority implemented the provisions of GASB
Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting guidance
Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.
GASB No. 62 incorporates into the GASB’s authoritative literature certain
accounting and financial reporting guidance that is included in the following
pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, which does not conflict
with or contradict GASB pronouncements: Financial Accounting Standards
Boards (FASB) Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles Board
Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Committee of Accounting Procedure.

-16 -



NOTE A.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses and other changes in
net position during the reporting period. Significant estimates include the
assumptions used in computing the Transit Authority's pension benefit obligation.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents

The Transit Authority considers all liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, cash
equivalents consisted primarily of a money market account with a bank.

Certificates of Deposit and Investment Income

Investments in nonnegotiable certificates of deposit are carried at cost. Investment
income consists of interest income.

Accounts, Grants and Property Taxes Receivable

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due from customers for the Transit
services, accrued interest and various other items. Grants receivable consist of
amounts due from the federal and state government under grant contracts as
reimbursement for funds expended in accordance with those grant agreements.
Tax collections receivable consist of uncollected property taxes. The Transit
Authority has evaluated outstanding receivables and determined that no allowance
is necessary at December 31, 2013 and 2012.
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NOTE A.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

Materials and Supplies Inventory

Materials and supplies are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or
market. Inventory generally consists of maintenance parts and supplies for rolling
stock and other miscellaneous items.

Capital Assets

Assets which cost $5,000 or more and with a useful life of more than one year are
capitalized. Capital assets are recorded at cost, or if contributed property, at their
fair value at the time of contribution. Costs of maintenance and repairs are
charged to operations as incurred; costs of improvements are capitalized and
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related assets.

The Transit Authority computes depreciation using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Building and improvements 15 - 40 years
Motor coaches 6 - 12 years
Service cars and other equipment 2 - 20 years

Accrued Vacation Pay

The Transit Authority policies permit most employees to accumulate vacation
benefits that may be realized as paid time off. Under the terms of the Operating
Policy, employees of the Transit Authority are granted vacation varying from one
to five weeks based upon length of service. Expense and related liability for
accrued vacation pay is earned in the current year to be used in the following year.
There is no carryover of unused vacation. Accrued vacation pay is computed
using the regular pay rates in effect at the statement of net position date plus an
additional amount for compensation-related payments such as pension and social
security and Medicare taxes computed using rates in effect at that date.
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NOTE A.

10.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

Net Position Classification

Net position is required to be classified into three components — net investment in
capital assets, net of related debt; restricted and unrestricted. These classifications
are defined as follows:

Net Investment in Capital Assets

This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and costs to be recovered from future revenues, reduced by the
outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. If
there are significant unspent related debt proceeds at year-end, the portion of the
debt attributable to the unspent proceeds is not included in the calculation of
invested in capital assets, net of related debt.

Restricted

This component of net position consists of constraints placed on net position use
through external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt
covenants), contributors, or law or regulations of other governments or constraints
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The
Transit Authority had no restricted net position at December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Unrestricted

This component of net position consists of net position that do not meet the
definition of "restricted" or "invested in capital assets, net of related debt." When
both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Transit
Authority's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as
they are needed.
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NOTE A.

11.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

Revenue Recognition

Operating revenues occur from passenger fares, service contracts, rental of
property, and sale of advertising space. Operating expenses include the cost of
sales and service, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All
revenue and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses. Resources received or recognized as receivable before
time requirements are met, are reported as deferred revenues.

Passenger fares are recorded as revenue at the time the service is provided.

Property taxes receivable are recorded when the Transit Authority has an
enforceable legal claim to the resources and the related revenues are recorded as
non-operating in the period when use of the resources is required or first
permitted by time requirements. The Transit Authority recognizes receivable and
deferred revenue on the levy date for the following year's property taxes.

The Transit Authority recognizes federal and state grant income when eligibility
requirements are met. The Federal Transit Administration ("FTA") and the State
of Nebraska provide financial assistance and distribute grants directly to the
Transit Authority for operations and acquisition of property and equipment.
Operating grants made on the basis of entitlement periods are recorded as grant
receivables and revenues over the entitlement periods, based on qualifying
expenditures. Capital grants for the acquisition of property and equipment
(reimbursement type grants) are recorded as grant receivables when the related
grant expenditures are incurred.
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NOTE A.

12.

NOTE B.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the vears ended December 31, 2013

NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES — CONTINUED

Property Taxes

The tax levies for all political subdivisions in Douglas County are certified by the
county board on or before October 15. Real estate taxes are due and become an
enforceable lien on property on December 31. The first half of the real estate
taxes becomes delinquent on April 1 and the second half become delinquent on
August 1 following the levy date. Personal property taxes are due on December
31 and become delinquent on April 1 and August | following the levy date.
Delinquent taxes bear 14% interest.

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT INCOME

Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, a government's
deposits may not be returned to it. The Transit Authority's deposit policy for
custodial credit risk requires compliance with the provisions of state law. As of
December 31, 2013 the Transit Authority’s banks of deposit and money market
balances were $6,913,099. As of December 31, 2013 this amount was fully
insured or collateralized with collateral in the Transit Authority’s name.

State law requires collateralization of all deposits with federal depository
insurance; bonds and other obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. agencies or
instrumentalities of the state of Nebraska; bonds of any city, county, school
district or special road district of the state of Nebraska; bonds or obligations of
another state, or political subdivision of another state, which are rated within the
two highest classifications of prime by at least one of the standard rating services;
or a surety bond having an aggregate value at least equal to the amount of
deposits.

During 2010, as a strategy to maintain acceptable levels of exposure to the risk of
changes in future cash flows due to interest rate fluctuations, the Transit Authority
invested $1,000,000 in a certificate of deposit linked to performance of a basket
of twelve large cap companies.
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NOTE B.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENT INCOME- CONTINUED

Deposits — Continued

This certificate of deposit provides exposure to potential price appreciation in a
basket of twelve publicly traded securities, and if held to maturity, one hundred
percent principal protection. The Transit Authority will receive interest annually
based upon the securities' average performance, always versus their initial levels,
subject to the cap (nine percent) and floor level (zero percent) on each individual
stock within the basket. There is no minimum return on this certificate of deposit.
If the securities fail to appreciate in value, the Transit Authority will not receive
any interest payments. The certificate of deposit has a term of five years and
matures in 2015.

Summary of Carrying Value

The carrying values of cash and deposits are included in the balance sheets as
follows:

2013 2012
Carrying value:
Deposits $ 9.589,081 $12.,159,896
Cash at County Treasurer 427,354 292,020

$10.016.435 $12.451.916

Included in the following balance sheet captions:
Cash and equivalents $ 9016435 $11.451916
Certificates of deposit 1,000,000 1,000.000

$10,016,435 $12.451.916

Investment Income

Investment income for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of
interest income of 23,896 and 44,808, respectively.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NOTE C. CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital assets activity for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 were:
2013
Beginning Adjustments
Balance Additions and Retirements Transfers Ending Balance
Land $ 2,701,335  § - $ - $ - $ 2,761,335
Construction in progress 1,944,537 14,525,511 (532,362) (8,970,019) 6,967,667
Total nondepreciable
capital assets 4,705,872 14,525,511 (532,362) (8,970,019) 9,729,002
Buildings and improvements 27,686,192 - (5.71) 3,054,034 30,735,116
Motor coaches 36,469,900 - (2,349,389) 3,095,313 37,215,824
Service cars and other
equipment 6,993,013 . (2,075,437 2,820,072 7,737,648
Office furniture and equipment 1,944,802 - (22,389) = 1,922,413
Total depreciable capital assets 73,093,907 - (4,452,925) 8,970,019 77,611,001
Less: accumulated depreciation
(44,937,103) (4,301,024) 4427479 - (44.810.645)
Total depreciable
capital assets, net 28,156,804 (4,301,024) (25,446) 8,970,019 32,800,356
Net capital assets $ 32862676 $§ 10224487 § (557,808) & - $ 42529357
2012
Beginning Adjustments
Balance Additions and Retirements Transfers Ending Balance
Land $ 2,761,335 § - $ = b - $ 2,761,335
Construction in progress 718,437 3,465,795 (674,081) (1,565,614) 1,944,537
Total nondepreciable
capital assets 3,479,772 3,465,795 (674,081) (1,565,614) 4,705,872
Buildings and improvements 27,589,887 - - 96,305 27,686,192
Motor coaches 35,944,966 - (194,639) 719,573 36,469,900
Service cars and other
equipment 0,751,867 - (165,795) 406,941 6,993,013
Office furniture and equipment 1,724,327 < (122,320) 342,795 1,944,802
Total depreciable capital assets 72,011,047 - (482,754) 1,565,614 73,093,907
Less: accumulated depreciation
(40,648,588) (4,743,528) 455,013 - (44,937,103)
Total depreciable
capital assets, net 31,362,459 (4,743,528) (27,741) 1,565,614 28,156,804
Net capital assets $ 34842231 §  (1,277,733) § (701,822) % . $ 32,862,676

.



The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NOTE D. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Transit Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage
to and destruction of assets; business interruption, errors and omissions; employee
injuries and illnesses; natural disasters and employee health and accident benefits. The
Transit Authority is self-insured for workers' compensation risks up to $550,000 per
individual, $1,000,000 per occurrence; property risks up to $100,000 per occurrence;
public transportation liability risks up to $500,000 per occurrence; and employee health
claims up to $125,000 per person with an aggregate maximum of $3,285,304. The self-
insurance programs, except for health insurance, are administered through the Human
Relations Department. Commercial insurance is purchased for coverage above self-
insurance limits.

Public official risks continue to be insured through a commercial policy. Workers'
compensation is covered by a policy which provides $5,000,000 limits above the Transit
Authority's retention of $550,000 per individual and $1,000,000 per occurrence. Public
transportation is covered by a policy which provides $4,500,000 limits above the Transit
Authority's retention of $500,000 per occurrence. The Nebraska Political Tort Claims Act
limits the Transit Authority's liability for tort claims to $1,000,000 per individual and
$5,000,000 for all individuals per occurrence. Settled claims have not exceeded coverage
in any of the past three fiscal years.

The Transit Authority funds its self-insurance program on an "incurred loss" basis.
Provisions for these liabilities have been made based upon historical experience. The
Transit Authority has internally designated approximately $2,000,000 of its cash
equivalents as a reserve for the Transit liability and casualty losses.

The following is a summary of the changes in the estimated claims liability for each of
the years ended December 31:

2013 2012
Balance, January | $ 571,005 % 483,530
Current year claims and change in estimates 3,830,856 3,724,582
Claim payments (3,821,905) (3,637,107)
Balance, December 31 $ - 579,956 iy 571,005
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NOTE E.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013
PENSION PLANS

Defined Benefit Plans

Plan Description

The Transit Authority contributes, as a single employer, to a separate pension plan
for both its hourly and salaried employees ("the Plans") administered by a third
party administrator. Participation is mandatory for all employees. Both plans are
defined benefit plans, which provide retirement, death, termination, and disability
benefits. The Transit Authority does not issue a separate report that includes
financial statements and supplementary information for the Plans.

Hourly employees who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement between
the Transit Authority and the Transportation Workers of America become eligible
under the Hourly Employees' Pension Plan ("Hourly Plan") and salaried
employees become eligible under the Salaried Employees' Pension Plan ("Salaried
Plan") the first day of the month following completion of 120 days of service.
Vesting for employer contributions under both Plans is achieved upon completion
of ten years of service. Employee contributions are fully vested. The Plans were
established by the Board of Directors and the employer reserves the right to
amend, suspend or terminate the plans at any time by action of the Board of
Directors.

Funding Policy

Salaried Emplovees' Plan

The Plan requires all salaried participants to contribute 6.00% of their annual
salary to the Plan. The Transit Authority is required to contribute the balance of
funds needed as determined from an actuarial valuation for the Salaried
Employees' Plan.

Hourly Emplovees' Plan

The Plan requires all hourly participants to contribute 6.00% of their annual salary
to the Plan. The Transit Authority is required to contribute 6.50% of the hourly
participant’s annual salary to the Plan.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NOTE E. PENSION PLANS - CONTINUED

3. Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation

The Transit Authority's annual pension costs and net pension obligations to (asset
of) the Plans were as follows:

Hourly Plan Salaried Plan
Year ended December 31, 2013:
Annual required contribution $ 847,072 $ 224,671
Interest on net pension obligation 83,676 (5,679)
Adjustment to annual required contribution (97,361) 6,608
Annual pension cost 833,387 225,600
Contribution made 726,238 251,577
Increase in net pension oligation 107,149 (25,977)
Net pension oligation (asset), begmning of year 1,195,372 (81,128)
Net pension oligation (asset), end of year $ 1,302,521 $ (107,105)
Hourly Plan Salaried Plan
Year ended December 31, 2012:
Annual required contribution $ 895,706 % 240,394
Interset on net pension obligation 72,074 (5,272)
Adjustment to annual required contribution (82,974) 6,070
Annual pension cost 884,806 241,192
Contribution made 719,065 246,999
Increase in net pension oligation 165,741 (5,807)
Net pension oligation (asset), beginning of year 1,029,631 (75,321)
Net pension oligation (asset), end of year $ 1,195372 % (81,128)
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NOTE E.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

PENSION PLANS — CONTINUED

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation — Continued

The net pension obligation is included in accrued expenses at December 31, 2013
and 2012,

The annual required contribution for the current year was determined as part of
the January 1, 2013 actuarial valuation using the entry age cost method. The
actuarial assumptions included a rate of return on the investment of present and
future assets of 7.00% for the Hourly Plan and Salaried Plan per year and
projected salary increases of 4.50% for each plan. The actuarial value of assets
was determined using techniques that smooth the effects of short-term volatility in
the market value of investments by setting such value equal to the expected value,
based on the assumed rate of return, plus 25% of the difference between market
and expected values for the Salaried Plan and Hourly Plan. Increases in the
unfunded actuarial liability are amortized over 30 years with a closed period for
the Salaried and Hourly Plan.

Funded Status and Funding Progress

Salaried Emplovyees' Plan

At January 1, 2013, the most recent valuation date, the Plan was 67.40% f{unded.
The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $7,812,438 and the actuarial value
of assets was $5,265,852 resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) of $2,546,586. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees
covered by the Plan) was $1,905,917 and the ratio of the UAAL to covered
payroll was 133.61%.

Hourly Employees' Plan

At January 1, 2013, the most recent valuation date, the Plan was 60.0% funded.
The actuarial accrued liability was $30,038,929 and the actuarial value of assets
was $18,335,855 resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability of
$12,241,523. The covered payroll was $11,350,348 and the ratio of the UAAL to
covered payroll was 107.85%.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

NOTEE. PENSION PLANS — CONTINUED

5. Additional Information

The Schedule of Pension Funding Progress, presented as RSI following the Notes
to the Financial Statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether
the actuarial value of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. The projection of benefits for the
Hourly Employees' Plan for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly
incorporate the potential effects of the limitation of funding percentage on the
employer's portion.

Three Year Trend Information
Salaried Employees' Pension Plan
Percentage of

Year ended Annual Pension APC Net Pension

December 31, Cost (APC) Contributed Liability
2013 §$ 225,600 111.50% % (107,105)
2012 241,192 102.40% 81,128
2011 276,970 93.00% 75,321

Three Year Trend Information
Hourly Employees' Pension Plan
Percentage of

Year ended Annual Pension APC Net Pension

December 31, Cost (APC) Contributed Liability
2013 % 833,387 87.14% § 1,302,521
2012 884,806 81.30% 1,195,372
2011 853,291 82.40% 1,029,631
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NOTEE.

NOTE F.

NOTE G.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

PENSION PLANS - CONTINUED

Deferred Compensation Plan

The Transit Authority offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created
in accordance with Internal Revenue Service Code Section 457, The plan permits
employees to defer a portion of their salary until termination, retirement, death or
unforeseeable emergency. Participation in the plan is optional.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Transit Authority provides a death benefit to all employees ranging from
$3,000 to $5,000 based on the year of retirement. After July 1, 2005 (for
bargaining unit employees) and May 2009 for administrative employees, a retiree
may opt to take $4,000 cash at retirement in lieu of the $5,000 death benefit. The
liability is the amount owed to employees who are eligible at their retirement date
to receive the benefit. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Transit Authority
recorded a liability of $332,000 and $341,000, respectively. The current portion
of this liability was $0 and $30,000 at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Government Grants

The Transit Authority is currently participating in numerous grants from various
federally assisted grant programs that are subject to review and audit by the
grantor agencies. Entitlement to these resources is generally conditional upon
compliance with the terms and conditions of grant agreements and applicable
federal regulations, including the expenditure of resources for allowable purposes.
At December 31, 2013 and 2012, in the opinion of management of the Transit
Authority, any disallowance resulting from a federal audit would not be material.
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NOTE G.

NOTE H.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES — CONTINUED

Claims and Litigation

The Transit Authority is currently involved in various claims and pending legal
actions related to matters arising from the ordinary conduct of business.
Management believes all outstanding claims are substantially covered by
insurance policies and the ultimate disposition of the actions will not have a
material effect on the financial statements of the Transit Authority.

Current Economic Conditions

The current economic environment presents governmental agencies with
unprecedented circumstances and challenges, which in some cases have resulted
in large declines in the fair value of investments and other assets, declines in
governmental support, grant revenue, tax revenue, constraints on liquidity and
difficulty obtaining financing. The financial statements have been prepared using
values and information currently available to the Transit Authority.

A significant decline in governmental support, grant revenue, tax revenue, etc.
could have an adverse impact on the Transit Authority's future operating results.

In addition, given the volatility of current economic conditions, the values of
assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements could change rapidly,
resulting in material future adjustments in allowances for accounts receivable and
pension obligations that could negatively impact the Transit Authority's ability to
maintain sufficient liquidity.

ADJUSTMENTS DUE TO CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE

On January 1, 2013 the Transit Authority adopted GASB 65, Items Previously Reported
as Assets and Liabilities. As a result of the implementation, the presentation of deferred
revenue — property taxes as of December 31, 2012 has been reclassified as deferred
inflows of resources and retitled to “Tax levy for future period”.
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
SCHEDULE OF PENSION FUNDING PROGRESS
For the year ended December 31, 2013

Three Year Trend Information
Salaried Employees' Pension Plan

Actuarial UAAL asa
Accrued Unfunded Percentage of
Actuarial Value Liability AAL Covered
Actuarial Valuation of Assets (AAL) {(UAAL) Funded Ratio Covered Payroll Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
January 1, 2013 5,265,852 7,812,438 2,546,586 67.40% 1,905,917 133.61%
January 1, 2012 4,943,779 7,653,627 2,709,848 64.59% 1,891,652 143.25%
January 1, 2011 4,660,767 7,432,385 2,771,618 62.71% 1,962,025 141.26%
Three Year Trend Information
Hourly Employee' Pension Plan
Actuarial UAAL asa
Accrued Unfunded Percentage of
Actuarial Value Liability AAL Covered
Actuarial Valuation of Assets (AAL) (UAAL) Funded Ratio Covered Payroll Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
January 1, 2013 18,335,855 30,577,378 12,241,523 59.97% 11,350,348 107.85%
January 1, 2012 17,290,974 29,235,461 11,944,487 59.14% 11,120,512 107.41%
January 1, 2011 16,558,358 26,854,504 10,296,146 61.66% 11,120,590 92.59%

See accompanying independent auditor's report
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the year ended December 31. 2013

Federal Agency/ CFDA Grant/Indentifying Amount
Cluster Program Pass Through Entity Number Number Expended
Federal Transit Cluster
Federal Transit - Formula Grants Department of Transportation 20.507 NE-90-X099 $ 2.638.762
Federal Transit - Formula Grants Department of Transportation 20.507 NE-90-X096 7.197.229
Federal Transit - Formula Grants Department of Transportation 20.507 NE-90-X094 1.021.611
Federal Transit - Formula Grants Department of Transportation 20.507 NE-95-0001 1.516.155
12.373.756
Federal Transit - Capital Investment Grants Department of Transportation 20.500 NE-04-X043 6.113
Federal Transit - Capital Investment Grants Department of Transportation 20.500 NE-04-X044 2.642
Federal Transit - Capital Investiment Grants Department of Transportation 20.500 NE-04-X045 3.045.277
Federal Transit - Capital Investment Grants Department of Transportation 20,500 NE-04-X046 294.254
Federal Transit - Capital Investment Grants Department of Transportation 20,500 NE-04-X047 1.999.998
5.348.314
Total Federal Transit Cluster 17.722.070
Job Access - Reverse Commute (JARC) Department of Transportation 20516 NE-37-X002 117.761
Metropolitan Transportation Planning - Department of Transportation/ 20,505  MAPA-METRO 546-600 123.579
Metropolitan Planning Program Metropolitan Area Planning Agency
Alternative Analysis Department of Transportation 20.522 NE-39-0001 317.678

See accompanying independent auditor's report
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the year ended December 31, 2013

NOTE A. NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

1. This schedule includes the federal awards activity of the Transit Authority of the
City of Omaha and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting. The
information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of
OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations. Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ
from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial
statements.

2 Of the federal expenditures presented in this schedule, The Transit Authority of
the City of Omaha provided federal awards to sub-recipients as follows:

CFDA Amount

Program Number Subrecipeint Provided
Federal Transit- Formula Grants 20.507 City of Bellevue § 238262
Federal Transit- Formula Grants 20.507 City of Council Bluffs 291.786
Federal Transit- Formula Grants 20.507 Tri Communities (Cities of 182,647

Ralston, Papillion, and La Vista)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED
ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Board of Directors
The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
Omaha, Nebraska i

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial
statements of the Transit Authority of the City of Omaha (the Transit Authority) as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Transit Authority of the City of Omaha basic financial statements, and
have issued our report thereon dated March 27, 2014.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Transit
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Transit Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Transit Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented,
or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Transit Authority’s financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other
purpose.

7(/,27&5 p %ﬂw;@ Lic.

Hayes & Associates, L.L.C.
Omaha, Nebraska
March 27, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133

Board of Directors
The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the Transit Authority of the City of Omaha’s (the Transit Authority) compliance
with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance
Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Transit Authority’s major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2013. The Transit Authority’s major federal
programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs.

Management’s Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Transit Authority’s major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-
133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB
Circular A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have
a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence about the Transit Authority’s compliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
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We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Transit
Authority’s compliance.

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the Transit Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the Transit Authority is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the Transit Authority’s internal
control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect
on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal
program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular
A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Transit
Authority’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
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Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Hayes & Associates, L.L.C.

Omaha, Nebraska
March 27, 2014
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The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COST — CONTINUED
For the years ended December 31, 2013

L. SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS
Financial Statements
Type of auditors” report issues: Unmodified

Internal controls over financial reporting:

e Material weaknesses identified: None
e Significant deficiencies identified: None reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted: None reported

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
e Material weaknesses identified: None
e Significant deficiencies identified: None reported

Type of auditors’ report issued on
compliance for major programs: Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to
Be reported in accordance with Section 510(a) of
OMB Circular A-133: None

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers  Name of Federal Program or Cluster
20.500 & 20.507  Federal The Transit Cluster

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs: $548,433

Audit qualified as low-risk auditee: Yes
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I1.

1.

The Transit The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COST — CONTINUED
For the year ended December 31, 2013

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
None reported.
FEDERAL AWARDS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

None reported.
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II.

II.

The Transit Authority of the City of Omaha
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2013

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
None reported.
FEDERAL AWARDS FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

None reported.
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METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNING AGENCY

2222 Cuming Street

Omaha, Nebraska 68102-4328 - M A PA
Phone: (402) 444-6866

Fax: (402) 342-0949 A Council of Governments

WWWw.mapacog.org
mapa@mapacog.org

April 25, 2014

The Honorable Anthony Foxx
Secretary

U.S. Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue SE
Washington, DC 20590

Re: Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) TIGER Grant Application

Dear Secretary Fox:

The Omaha-Council Bluffs Metropolitan Area Planning Agency’s (MAPA) Board of Directors
wrote to you in support of Metro Transit’s Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit TIGER grant
Application in a letter dated March 27, 2014. MAPA serves as the Council of Governments and
Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the Greater Omaha region.

In addition, 1 would like to note that MAPA is in the process of incorporating this project into the
regional Long Range Transportation Plan and fully intends to incorporate the project into the
Transportation Improvement Project (TIP).

On April 24, 2014, the MAPA Board of Directors approved a draft amendment to MAPA’s 2035
Long Range Transportation Plan. This amendment incorporates the specific recommendations
and Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) identified in Phase 1 of the Central Omaha Alternatives
Analysis, which includes Metro Transit’s Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project through central
Omaha. The final amendment to the Long Range Transportation Planwill be approved in June of
2014 by the MAPA Board of Directors.

Metro Transit’s Bus Rapid Transit project will be programmed into MAPA’s Transportation
Improvement Program (TIP) upon award of TIGER funds from the Department of
Transportation. It should be noted that MAPA flexed FHWA STP funding to FTA for the
Alternative Analysis (AA). In the coming months, MAPA intends to again flex STP funds to
FTA for Phase 2 of the project, which will conduct the environmental (NEPA) process.

The Omaha metro area is ready to move forward with enhanced transit service to increase access
to jobs, create opportunities for economically distressed residents and improve the region’s
quality of life. We appreciate your consideration of this important project as part of the 2014
TIGER program.

Sincerely,

Fl

Gregory Youell
Executive Director



-2 STATE OF NEBRASKA
7 ,4' E:,' Dave Heineman

sy Jave ™ DEPARTMENT OF ROADS
\_{: < \ &F Y Randall D. Peters, P.E., Director — State Engineer
ke & e 1500 Highway 2 » PO Box 94759 « Lincoln NE 68509-4759
i — Phone (402)471-4567 « FAX (402)479-4325 transportation.nebraska.gov

April 22, 2014

Mr. Curt A. Simon
Executive Director
Metro Transit

2222 Cuming Street
Omaha NE 68102-4392

Dear Mr. Simon:

The Nebraska Department of Roads (NDOR) is writing in response to your letter of
April 11, 2014 requesting $1,000,000 in Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality (CMAQ) funding to
supplement the competitive Grant application for a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) project from
Westroads Shopping area to Downtown Omaha. The NDOR approves the $1,000,000 CMAQ
funding request for obligation in either federal fiscal year 2015 or 2016, as documented in your
letter. If the obligation date moves beyond federal fiscal year 2016, the approval will need to be
revisited to verify available funds.

Your request for funding was reviewed subject to the guidance documented on our
website, CMAQ requests, dated November 21, 2013. The funding request, with the attached
materials, contained the required information including a quantitative analysis of the reduction of
pollution causing emissions.

Beyond our goal that the CMAQ funding contribute to the attainment or maintenance of
national ambient air quality standards, we also recognize that the project will provide the following
benefits: mobility, economic development, reduced congestion, improved quality of life and
reduced travel time between Westroads and Downtown Omaha. The NDOR wishes you success
in this worthy undertaking.

Sincerely,

Ao A5 P
Randall D. Peters, P.E.
Director — State Engineer

RDP:MO:z

Ccc: Greg Youell, MAPA

An Egual Opportunity Employer
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8.3 Streetcar and Bus Rapid Transit (BRT)
8.3.1 OMAHA STREETCAR

Streetcar services in the MAPA region began in the late 1860s. In 1955 they were discontinued
due to increased access and use of the personal car. They have since been out of service. View

the map of the old streetcar lines in Figure 8.10

FIGURE 8.10
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Beginning in the 1990s, interest in reinstating streetcar service in the area has grown.
Former Omaha Mayors P.J. Morgan, Hal Daub and Mike Fahey, and Jim Suttle have all
supported a streetcar program in one form or another. Advocate groups such as Omaha
Streetcar have also pushed for the implementation of streetcar services. Proponents of a
streetcar view it as a means to improve economic development in the urban core, increase
densities, and also provide a new means of transportation.

[PARAGRAPH STRUCK]



8.3.2 BUus RAPID TRANSIT (BRT)

Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) is bus service that operates at a higher speed with greater frequencies
than standard bus service. In other metro areas, BRT often operates in exclusive lanes or
receives signal priority that preempts traffic signals. It represents an effort to provide many of
the benefits often associated with higher speed light-rail or heavy-rail transit using rubber-tired
vehicles at a lower cost than rail or streetcars systems.

In 2005, Kansas City Area Transit Authority (KCATA) launched a new BRT service to operate
between downtown and the Country Club Plaza known as The Max. This service featured unique
station identifiers with real-time information on bus status, frequent headways, and exclusive
lanes during the peak hours. Overall, this service has been well-received and met with acclaim.
KCATA is currently constructing or planning multiple other BRT routes in the Kansas City
metro area.

The success of these and other BRT projects has led some in the MAPA region to discuss the
potential for future BRT service locally. While not as expensive or glamorous as a streetcar or
light rail system, BRT represents a significant improvement in transit service that would catch
the attention of citizens. Critics of BRT note that while it has been successful in many locations
in providing transit service, it does not typically create the impacts to development akin to what
is seen along successful streetcar and light rail corridors.

Dodge Street would appear to be a natural first choice for a BRT corridor. It could possibly
connect to Council Bluffs along the Broadway corridor. Other east-west options for
consideration would include Center Street or Saddle Creek / Northwest Radial Highway / Maple
Street. Possible north-south corridors include 24t and 30t Streets in South Omaha and North
Omaha as well as 72nd Street.

8.3.3 Central Omaha Transit Alternatives Analysis (AA)

In early winter 2011, the City of Omaha and Metro undertook the Central Omaha Transit
Alternative Needs Analysis (“AA™). The specific purpose of the grant was to study the Downtown
Omaha, Midtown Omaha, UNMC and the University of Nebraska at Omaha (UNO) corridor
(shown in Figure XX) and make recommendations as to the preferred transit alternative.
Additionally, a potential extension west to 72nd to serve the Crossroads and Aksarben Village
areas was included in the study. The project was funded by an FTA discretionary grant with local
matching funds provided by a coalition of local contributors.



Figure XX: AA Study Area

Purpose and Need J

Over the course of the two-and-one-half year planning process,
twenty-two stakeholder meetings, four public meetings, and
three mobile workshops were held. A multitude of online
methods were utilized including an online idea forum to gather
public input regarding possible alternatives and service
improvements.

1. Purpose and Need
Definition of Alternatives
Evaluation Criteria Final Screening

Initial Screening
Locally Preferred Alternative J

Final Screening

Locally Preferred Alternative
The multiple levels of screening took into account many criteria important in determining the
success of a rapid transit system. Each iteration of screening expanded the criteria considered to
evaluate and prioritize project corridors and transit technologies. A summary of the criteria
utilized for screening is listed below:

Definition of Alternatives

Initial Screening

)
Evauaton Crteria
)
)

o0k wnN

e Ridership e Origin & Destination Analysis
e Operation & Maintenance Costs e Service Characteristics

e Cost-Benefit Analysis e Physical Constraints

e Mobility e Environmental Issues



Through the planning process a Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA) was identified that included
the potential for BRT and Streetcar technologies along the Dodge/Farnam corridor. Table XX
summarizes the characteristics of each transit technology within the combined alternative, and
Figure XX shows the project corridor(s). Phase 2 of the Alternatives Analysis will further
evaluate the potential environmental impacts and develop conceptual and preliminary
engineering documentation for these projects.

Table XX: Characteristics of the Locally Preferred Alternative (LPA)
Locally Preferred Alternative (Combined LPA)

Alternative 2 (Modified) Alternative 3 (Modified)

Feature Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) Modern Streetcar
Downtown to North Downtown to

Termini Westroads Transit Center UNMC
Frequency (peak/off-peak/evening) 10/15/20 10/15/20
Distance 7.98 3.22
Vehicle Travel Time 26:59 15:24
Capital Cost $33,093,000 $134,457,000
Capital Cost per Mile $6,048,000 $41,757,000
Annual O&M cost (52013) $3,008,844 $6,347,246
Job Projection 2,100 8,500
Population Increase Projection 1,350 3,150
Economic Development Projection $262,000,000 $1,000,000,000




AGENDA
REGULAR BOARD MEETING
TRANSIT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF OMAHA
2222 Cuming Street
Omaha, Nebraska, 68102
April 24, 2014
8:30 a.m.

1. Call To Order: Notice of the Regular Meeting was published in the Omaha World Herald
on April 20, 2014.

2. Approval of Minutes of Previous Meetings:

a. Regular Meeting: March 27, 2014
3. Administrative Reports:

a. Administration/Human Resources (E. Simpson)
b.  Programs /Operations (K. Shadden)

4. Resolution — Request Approval of Concurrence of Application for Transportation
Investment Generating Economic Recovery (TIGER) Grant.
C. Simon

5. Resolution — Request Approval of Hourly and Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan
Actuary Reports as of January 1, 2014.
D. Finken

6. Resolution — Request Approval of Metro Area Transit Hourly and Salaried Employees’

Pension Plan Documents.
D. Finken

7. Resolution — Request Approval — Revisions to Purchasing Procedures.
L. Cenic

8. Administrative Report (C. Simon)

9. Date, Time and Place of Next Regular Board Meeting
Thursday, May 22, 2014, 8:30 a.m.
Authority’s Administrative Building

10. Executive Session = No Tentative ltem for Discussion

11. Adjournment.



4. RESOLUTION:

EXPLANATION:

5. RESOLUTION:

EXPLANATION:

6. RESOLUTION:

EXPLANATION:

AGENDA REPORT

CONCURRENCE OF APPLICATION FOR TRANSPORTATION
INVESTMENT GENERATING ECONOMIC RECOVERY
(TIGER) GRANT.

Staff is requesting that the Board concur, by formal resolution,
with staff decision to apply for a BRT TIGER Grant. Staff is
working on submitting a project for Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) on
the Dodge Street corridor, from the Westroads to

Downtown. This service upgrade was an output of the Regional
Transit Vision study and a preferred alternative identified in an
Alternative Analysis corridor study. Project submittals are due
April 28, 2014.

Recommend Full Board Approval

REQUEST APPROVAL OF THE HOURLY AND SALARIED
EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN ACTUARY REPORTS AS OF
JANUARY 1, 2014.

Staff is requesting approval of the Hourly and Salaried Employees
Pension Plan Actuarial Valuation reports, which were produced by
Gregg Rueschhoff of Milliman Retirement Services. Both the
Hourly and Salaried Pension Committees have met and the
reports were presented and discussed at the pension meeting.
The pension committees approved a resolution to accept the
finalized studies. The finalized reports are included in the Board
Packet information.

Request approval.

RESOLUTION — REQUEST APPROVAL OF METRO AREA
TRANSIT HOURLY AND SALARIED EMPLOYEES’ PENSION
PLAN DOCUMENTS.

Staff is requesting approval of the Hourly and Salaried Employee’s
Pension Plan Documents. At previous board meetings,
amendments to the plan documents were presented and

approved by Metro’s Pension Committees and Board of Directors.



APPENDIX J: Federal Wage
Certification

Central Omaha Bus Rapid Transit:

Connecting the Dots

Westroads Mall C ds UNMC Downtown

rossroa
Village Campus

Hospital UNO Campus Crossing

2014 TIGER Application



@metro

2222 Cuming Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68102-4392
(402) -341-0800 m Fax (402)-342-0949 m TDD: 4(402)-341-0807

Operated by Transit Authority of the City of Omaha

Federal Wage Rate Certification

I, Curt A. Simon on behalf of Transit Authority of the City of
Omaha, dba Metro as an applicant for U.S. DOT TIGER, 2014
Discretionary Grant Program funding, certify that we will
comply with the requirements of subchapter IV of chapter 31 of
title 40, United States Code (Federal wage rate requirements) if
awarded TIGER, 2014 funding for the Central Omaha Bus
Rapid Transit Project.

Dated: April 23, 2014

Signature: < i —

Curt A. Simon
Executive Director




